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Based in Hong Kong, PYI Corporation Limited focuses on infrastructure
investment in, and the operation of, bulk cargo ports and logistics facilities
in the Yangtze River region of China. It also engages in land and property
development and investment. In addition, PYI provides comprehensive
engineering and property-related services through Paul Y. Engineering
Group Limited.
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1 Nantong, Jiangsu 2 Nantong, Jiangsu Jiangyin, Jiangsu
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-:“. 2010

Turnover (HK$m) EXm(EEERT) 5,357.2 4,260.4
Gross profit (HK$m) EF(EEET) 440.9 383.1
Earnings before interest and taxation (HK$m) R FERBAGEHN (BEET) 552.3 468.8
Profit attributable to shareholders (HK$m) REREEER (BEET) 200.1 149.3
Shares outstanding (m) BT (BEER) 4,529.1 4,529.1
Net asset value per share (HK$) GREEFEET) 0.99 0.91
Earnings per share* (HK$) BRA GET) 0.044 0.035
Final dividend per share** (HK$) TR R B (F7T) 0.01 -
Total assets (HK$m) BEE(BEEBT) 14,895.0 14,041.0
Quick assets (HK$m) REYEE(BESET) 9,295.5 3,991.5
Net current assets (HK$m) RBEEFE(BEEAT) 3,299.1 1,003.6
Net debt (HK$m) FaREMEEST) 1,821.4 1,453.4
Shareholders’ funds (HK$m) KRE® (BEAT) 4,500.6 4.129.7
Current ratio tEh b & 1.46 1.21
Quick ratio RB) LR 1.30 0.82
Net debt/equity ratio FAEEARL R 0.40 0.35
Gearing ratio ERBELE 0.73 0.74
Return on equity s 4.4% 3.6%
Total shareholder return* AR R 42 -19% 85%

4

* Adjusted for rights issue in July 2009

** In addition to the final dividend of HK1 cent per
share, a special dividend of HK2 cents per share is
proposed. Details of the dividends are set out in the
section “PYI and Shareholders” at page 68 of this
annual report.
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PYI completed the contribution of RMB134.8 million to the capital base of
Jiangyin Sunan Container Terminal for an increase of equity interest from 25%
10 40%.
REEETHKIBEARBE1MBETAEZEINIRHEERMAHHACER -
IR AN HE 2 I R 25% 1 E 40% ©

AUG J\ A

Jiaxing International Feeder Port, the first container feeder port in the Yangtze
Delta, declared soft open.
SENTEBRISES AL EM - KAR=AGEMNTEEEED
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PYI entered into a conditional agreement for the disposal of 50.1% interest
in Yangkou Port at a consideration of RMB1,507 million.
REESBF L —EB G RELEF0E50.1% #xm - (EEARK15.07ETT °

MAR = H

Shareholders of PYI approved the disposal of 50.1% interest in Yangkou Port
to Rudong County Ritai Infrastructure Development and Investment Co., Ltd.
RESERRIELEFOHES0.1% e TR G A REMRIERBIREBR AT °

MAY f A

PYI completed the disposal of Yangkou Port, following which PYI’s equity
interest in Yangkou Port decreased from 60% to 9.9% and Yangkou Port
ceased to be a subsidiary of PYI.

REEBETRESFAE  RFOE 2 EEMEEIH60% ME9.9% @ MFHBIRTH
REBZHBAT -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRBEE

{ )

The Board has proposed a final
dividend of HK1 cent per share,
representing a pay-out of 22.7%
and in addition, a special dividend
of HK2 cents per share.
EERRBERARARESR 1B
TREZRE22.7% @ K& 5 IMKE 45 B IR
BEER2EBA -

Joseph Chow ERA# oBE, JpP
Chairman /&
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Net Profit
AR

200

HK$ million
BEBIT

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to report our annual results for the year ended 31
March 2011. Our net profit after taxation amounted to HK$200
million (2010: HK$149 million), an increase of 34% year-on-year.
The Board has proposed a final dividend of HK1 cent per share
(2010: Nil), representing a pay-out ratio of 22.7% and in addition,
a special dividend of HK2 cents per share. Total dividend for
shareholders amounted to HK3 cents per share.

Against the backdrop of continuing market volatility and economic
uncertainty, the global economy gradually recovered with emerging
economies growing much faster than developed economies. The
economic environment of the United States remained subdued
after the launch of second round of quantitative easing and the
global market still feared the sovereign debt crises in European
countries which stifled their performance. Supported by the

robust domestic demand, the GDP growth in China continued

at a stronger pace. In the second quarter of 2010, China even
overtook Japan as the second largest economy in the world.

The recovery of global economy and domestic demand expansion
boosted China’s foreign trade in 2010 which benefited the trade of
commodities and capital goods and drove the further development
of coastal ports and the ports along the Yangtze River. The
encouraging performance in the trade of commodities bolstered
our network of bulk cargo ports to contribute efficient and cost-
effective transportation and logistics services.

ZENRE :
RARAE ET2HREEEE2011F3 A31 BIEFHE
EREE - SERBEAFN2EE T (20104F : 1,495

J0) v BE EFF34% c ERRRET IR A IR ST 1 B
(20104 : ) » IRBEE22.7% K BINKESRIK BT
27l o BEHERLIRE 3L o

EHEBETSHENSREBETHANEBE T EHE
B OERAMBEKERNIERFEREELBRAE - X
BETE_WELLRERBREL  CERESERS It
o RIS IDAZEBMNB RO TR EF R S AR
%’é):' FRAERYAT G T - LBRIRERTT - 2010F
—F FEREERKAARSERF - REERR -

RIREEERE R AR EAMEE T E 2010FNINE - BHIE
mREREAREYHNRZS  RimE—SNREEE0REIE
FAEONER RINARRXSHRETHEERNRUNES
AR IR = B BB AN 008 8 R AR ©
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PYI disposed 50.1% interest in
Yangkou Port in May 2011 to
further crystallize the value of our
investment in Yangkou Port.

EBR2011FE5 8B HEX¥ O HE50.1%
FE SERBHNIOBZ2REE

e

(ER

During the year, we persisted in implementing our established
Yangtze Strategy by increasing equity stake in Jiangyin Sunan
Container Terminal from 25% to 40% in July 2010 and disposing
50.1% interest in Yangkou Port in May 2011 with an aim to focus
our resources in the operation and development of other ports
and port-related business along the Yangtze River and further
crystallize the value of our investment in Yangkou Port. A detail
review of our operation and development this year is set out in the
Managing Director’s Report.

Going hand in hand with driving value of shareholders on the
business side, we ensured commitment of high standards

of corporate governance and devoted considerable effort

to developing and implementing best practices. In this year,

we continued to pursue consistent internal control and audit
programs, and provided relevant trainings across our offices in the
Mainland.

As a responsible corporate citizen, we fulfilled our corporate social
responsibilities in local community as well as across the border.
Apart from contributing to the much needed in the Mainland and
Japan, we were awarded the title “Caring Company” for the third
consecutive year by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service

in recognition of our enduring efforts in demonstrating good
corporate citizenship.

Details of our corporate governance practices and corporate
social responsibilities are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report.

Going forward, the economic recovery is expected to continue
but with new challenges ahead. China will continue to drive

the economic growth of the region and the world. Despite the
increasing pressure of inflation, China will maintain a steady and
rapid economic growth with solid fundamentals.

10 MC) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report
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China will maintain
a steady and

rapid economic
growth with solid
fundamentals.

FEERTSHRERT
AR IR MEZ AVER

As the Twelfth Five-year Plan kicked off in 2011, the Ministry of
Transport will focus on advancing the infrastructure development
of coastal ports and inland waterways to build up an integrated
transportation system in the country by 2015. Coupled with the
Regional Plan for the Yangtze River Delta approved in May 2010
by the State Council to enhance the strategic position of the
Yangtze River Delta region and the Opinions of the State Council
on Accelerating the Development of Water Transport on the
Yangtze River and Other Inland Waters issued in January 2011 to
provide the detailed implementation measures on optimizing the
inland water transportation with Yangtze River as the focal point,
the development of the port logistic along the Yangtze River will
definitely be accelerated in a faster pace. Hence, we will continue
to follow the national targets and strive to expand the network of
cargo ports and feeder ports under our Yangtze Strategy with a
view to maximize sustainable returns to our shareholders.

As our Yangtze Strategy continues to bear fruit, the Board will
consider additional capital return to and shares repurchased from
our shareholders in the second half of financial year 2012.

| sincerely take this opportunity to express my appreciation to

my fellow Board members, our executives and staff across the
nation for their dedication and hard work. | am most grateful to our
shareholders, clients and partners for their continuous support and
confidence in our strategic vision over the years.

Yours faithfully,

Joseph Chow o5z, Jp
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2011

85 -

B [+ =R RER 2011 FHBHETT - ZBEH I HR
015 FRBIRNTRERIGEERER  ZEHTE0EE8
ARAETENEREER - 55 - BBRA 201095 A4t
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fiz o B HBT IR E 2011 F 1 AR R IR &RITE A K
BERNER)  f#YNRIAEH 2 E(CRAKERALE
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O
ﬁhis year, turnover

amounted to HK$5,357
million, while gross profit
reached HK$441 million,

an increase of 15% from

that of the preceding year.
Net profit after taxation
amounted to HK$200

million, an increase of 34%
year-on-year.
SEFALEERESISTEABTT
EFMFREA4MERBT BREFL
F15% o BRBLEBF| 288 T -
BEEFH34%

Tom Lau 25 R
Managing Director 4%
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Shareholders’ Funds

RREZ

4,501

HK$ million
BEBATT

Dear Shareholders,

It is my pleasure to report that PYI achieved satisfactory financial
results for the year ended 31 March 2011. In this year, turnover
amounted to HK$5,357 million, while gross profit reached HK$441
million, an increase of 15% from that of the preceding year. Net
profit was HK$200 million, with earnings per share reaching HK4.4
cents. Shareholders’ funds increased by 9% or HK$371 million to
HK$4,501 million, representing a NAV per share of HK$0.99.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Yangkou Port (60% owned)

Yangkou Port contributed about HK$329 million (2010: HK$405
million) to the Group’s operating profit for the year. The profit was
mainly attributable to the gain on revaluation of about HK$283
million (2010: HK$325 million) from about 6.3 sg km (2010: 5.2

sq km) land bank situated at the harbour-front industrial zone of
Yangkou Port, and the income from usage and management of
infrastructure facilities in Yangkou Port. Deferred tax of about HK$124
million (2010: HK$155 million) relevant to the revaluation gain was
charged to the income statement.

As at 31 March 2011, out of the about 30 sg km land bank at the
harbour-front industrial zone, land leveling work on about 5.4 sq km
(2010: Nil) had commenced while about 7.9 sg km (2010: 7.9 sq km)
had already reached the formed and serviced stage. Also, about 1.1
sqg km (2010: 1.1 sg km) land bank at the Sun Island of Yangkou Port
had reached the formed and serviced stage. As at 31 March 2011,
about 6.4 sg km (2010: 5.3 sq km) of the parcel of Formed Land

or Land Being Formed (as defined in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements at page 159 of this annual report) have been
classified as investment properties of the ports development
business and measured at fair value of about HK$2,394 million
(2010: HK$1,926 million). The remaining 8.0 sq km (2010: 3.7 sq km)
of the Formed Land or Land Being Formed has been classified as
stock of properties under the property business.

BRR

RAMRARR BETE2® RECKENREZ2011F3H31H
IEFEHBSAMBHER - FNEXEBES357EBT
EMFELMERET  BREAF LT 15% - REL&AT 2
BIT - FRREF 44750l BREESEMO% K 3.71BE T
24501188 - BEREEFEO0.998 T °

E 3 dE) ]

FEOB (BH60%ERE)

RER - FOBRAREETREEHEFLI20EE T
(2010 : 4.051887T) « A FERGFABBEEILERER
1FH496.3F A AR (2010 : 5.2 FARR) 2 LivErE
HUEE472.83 BB 7T (2010 : 3.25 B L) - LLEFOE
EEREERAREE WA - BEEINEERE 2 IETEHRE
S HI1.24 BB T (2010 - 1.55 (88 7T) DR RS -

HE201MFE3A318 - REDBES TERANGMAI0
FHRAEZ TiEERAELNS4FHAE (2010 &) BF
BT FRIRE  SEH79FHFRE (2010: 79F AR
B)REZEFERBRMERE - N RHFERERSS E
IEHHIAFHTRE (2010 11 FHRE) 2 L fFEEDR
EZEFERBHRMEE - R2011F3A31H » GH4
6.4F T RE (2010 : 5.3FHRE) 2B FE Lk FRAH
T (EFEBAFHRE 150 B 276 VHEREME19) BEW
BREABORREKPIIRAYME  WIRATEEFER
#)23.94188 7T (2010 : 19.261887T) - B F8.0FHAE
(2010 : 37 FFRAE) 2B FE Lk FER LA HE
BRAMEEBTIMERE -
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
REHRES

PYl is poised to capture

new growth and to enhance
shareholders’ value through
effective implementation measures
on our Yangtze Strategy.

RED

EEp4E  ERRIRKBET

BRIER - BEMERE  BARR
ZfBE -

Embankment works for the reclamation of about 4.6 sq km out of
the final 16.7 sg km harbour-front industrial land bank has been
completed during the year. Highways, railway, canal and other
connecting infrastructure and utility associated with Yangkou Port
were being developed by other parties.

In order to keep in line with the PRC government plans and policies
and to meet market demand, Yangkou Port is entering a stage of
accelerated development. As such, extensive funding is required
for the financing of the ongoing capital expenditure program. It
was envisaged by the PYI directors that earnings and cash flow

in Jiangsu YangKou Port Development and Investment Co., Ltd.
(“Yangkou Port Co”) is unlikely to be channeled to PYI and the

PYI shareholders in the short or medium term. Therefore, on 31
January 2011, the Group entered into a conditional agreement

to dispose of 50.1% of its equity interest in Yangkou Port Co at a
consideration of RMB1,507 million. The disposal was completed
on 26 May 2011 and the Group received net cash amount of
RMB647 million (being 50% of the consideration of RMB753.5
million after deduction of PRC tax and levy in the sum of RMB106.5
million). The remaining 50% of the consideration of RMB753.5
million will be satisfied by instalments, namely, RMB150.7 million,
RMB301.4 million and RMB301.4 million to be paid on or before
31 December 2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively. The deferred
consideration bears interest equivalent to the Standard Lending
Rate announced by the People’s Bank of China and is secured

by a charge on the 50.1% sale interest. The directors consider

the disposal is a good opportunity for PYI to further crystallise its
investment value in Yangkou Port Co, to realise the accumulated
unrealised profit arising from gain on revaluation of land in cash and
to focus its resources in the operation and development of other
ports and port-related business along the Yangtze River in the
future. PY!I will continue to enjoy the future growth of Yangkou Port
through the remaining 9.9% equity interest, which is intended to be
held for long term investment purpose.

14 PIIC) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report
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PYI achieved satisfactory progress in implementing its Yangtze
Strategy during the year. The Group’s network of cargo ports was
strengthened and generating synergy value.

Nantong Port Group (45% owned)

Nantong Port Group contributed about HK$50 million (2010:
HK$59 million) to the Group’s operating profit for the year. Its net
profit amounted to about HK$111 million (2010: HK$131 million)
for the year ended 31 December 2010, which was affected by the
increasing operating and financing costs.

Nantong Port is a major river port in the Yangtze Delta, one of
China’s category-one national ports opened to foreign trade and
an important hub port of the country. The main cargoes handled
by Nantong Port Group are iron ore, minerals, cement, steel, coal,
fertilizers, grains and edible oil. Nantong Port provides easy access
to the Yangtze region by road and waterway and is an ideal hub
port for cargo trans-shipment.

Annual cargo throughput of Nantong Port Group reached about
55 million tonnes in both 2009 and 2010, while the container
throughput in 2010 increased by 14% to 392,000 TEUs (2009:
345,000 TEUS).

Yichang Port Group (51% owned)

Yichang Port Group contributed about HK$21 million (2010:
operating profit of HK$12 million and gain on bargain purchase of
HK$13 million) to the Group’s operating profit for the year.

Yichang Port Group is principally engaged in transport logistics and
properties investments, providing transportation, cargo loading and
discharging, storage, shipping agent, cargo agent, port logistics and
port equipment rental services in Yichang Port, which is situated on
the Yangtze River near the Three Gorges Dam in Yichang, Hubei.

FA REEBNRIRBEERER - AEE2EEEOD
WA - YELWEEE -

MBEBOEE (FH45%ER)

FA - EBSOEEARER LR RL 50008
7T (2010 : 5,900 &8 TT) ° AL R FER AL IIFT 5
2. MEZE2010F12 A BILFE - BERBEODEEERSE
aFFFEL 111 EE T (2010 : 1.31B#TT) ©

FARSRR-ZAN—EEZAE  DHREEF—EER
—HORRREHINES RAERN—EEZHHEE
O mRs0EERENTEENAERER - 186 - KR
ZoRE - BB - Bk EIE - BRI - mBBIRHERE
EARTIH R A RERS KRS - W —EIREMEYEES
BB o

HBBEOEEN2009F N2010F 22 FHEFLEY
E55008 M MAR2010FEXBEFLER EFA14% =
392,000 248 (2009 : 345,000 1Z#4) °

HEBKEE (FE51%E%)
BEEBBEENRNFARNAAEE & ERFERA2,1008
7570 (2010 & £& &  F)1,2008 7 T Mk B B 2 Ik
1,300 88 7T) °
EEBKEEFTEAEESNEERYRABERE
RHEE BOEH AHERE - BOMMRE . &8
RE - BOYREERBSORERERS - BEBANREILR
5 BRI B EE T IR AL o
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Annual cargo throughput of Yichang Port Group for the year
ended 31 March 2011 increased by 8% to about 7.9 million
tonnes (2010: 7.3 million tonnes). Its annual container throughput
slightly dropped by 2% to 52,000 TEUs (2010: 53,000 TEUs).

Jiangyin Sunan Container Terminal (40% owned)

Jiangyin Sunan contributed about HK$94 million (2010: HK$1
million) to the Group’s operating profit for the year, about HK$90
million (2010: Nil) of which was resulted from the Group’s bargain
purchase of additional 15% interest in Jiangyin Sunan during the
year.

In July 2010, the Group further contributed about RMB134.8
million (equivalent to about HK$154.7 million) to the enlarged
registered capital of Jiangyin Sunan to increase its equity interest
held from 25% to 40%.

Jiangyin Sunan is principally engaged in containers loading
and unloading, storage, maintenance, washing and leasing of
containers. The container terminal operated by Jiangyin Sunan
is the only container terminal in Jiangyin. Its annual container
throughput in 2010 increased by 11% to 554,000 TEUs (2009:
500,000 TEUS).

LPG and Logistics (100% owned)

The LPG business of Minsheng Gas recorded an operating loss of
about HK$10 million (2010: HK$18 million) for the year. Since the
second half of last financial year, Minsheng Gas had maintained a
competitive price strategy to capture a larger share of automotive
LPG market in Wuhan, which led to margin erosion during the first
quarter of the financial year. Following the announcement of price
uplift for CNG by National Development and Reform Commission
in June 2010, selling margin of LPG returned to a healthy level
from July 2010 and the performance of the LPG business is
expected to be further improved.

16 H(l:) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report
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The rapid development of cities
in Western and Central China
continues boosting throughput
along the Yangtze.
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Engineering Business - Paul Y. Engineering
(62% owned)

Paul Y. Engineering Group achieved turnover of HK$4,334 million
(2010: HK$3,645 million) during the year, representing an increase
of about 19% as compared with the last year. It contributed about
HK$52 million (2010: HK$61 million) to the Group’s operating profit
during the year and proposed a final dividend of HK1 cent (2010:
HK1.6 cents) per share, or a pay-out ratio of 20% (2010: 22%).
Margin was eroded by surging labour and material cost.

During the year, the management contracting division of Paul Y.
Engineering Group secured new contracts totaling HK$4,669
million (2010: HK$4,481 million) in aggregate value. Subsequent
to the end of the reporting period, additional contracts of about
HK$1,656 million was secured. As at 31 March 2011, the total
value of contracts on hand of Paul Y. Engineering Group was
about HK$10,406 million (2010: HK$10,006 million).

Paul Y. Engineering Group has taken a proactive approach in
tapping opportunities in the market while managing risks through
joint ventures with other contractors in major infrastructure projects
and enhancement of operation efficiency. Paul Y. Engineering Group
will put more emphasis on the Mainland and Macau market, and
will strive for growth but remains vigilant for any adverse effects

on the profit margin arising from drastic fluctuation of exchange
rates, labour and material costs. With its solid foundation and
professional experience, the future business growth and prospect
remains optimistic.
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The prospects of the
bulk cargo ports and
logistics along the
Yangtze River remain
optimistic.
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The property business contributed about HK$86 million (2010:
HK$34 million) to the Group’s operating profit for the year. The
profit was mainly attributable to contribution from sale of units

in Nantong International Trade Center and Wanhua Zijin Garden

of about HK$38 million (2010: loss of HK$8 miillion) and HK$18
million (2010: Nil), respectively, as well as the gain on revaluation of
investment properties located at Yichang of about HK$19 million
(2010: HK$41 million from about 2 sq km Formed Land situated at
Xiao Yangkou). Deferred tax of about HK$5 million (2010: HK$19
million) relevant to the revaluation gain was charged to the income
statement.

As at 31 March 2011, about 2 sq km (2010: 2 sq km) of the 12 sq
km land bank situated at Xiao Yangkou have reached the formed
and serviced stage. About 1.9 sg km of the Formed Land at Xiao
Yangkou were classified as investment properties and measured at
fair value of about HK$468 million (2010: HK$462 million), whereas
the remaining 0.1 sq km Formed Land at Xiao Yangkou was
classified as trading stock. As at 31 March 2011, about 2.7 sq km
(2010: 2.7 sq km) Formed Land and about 4.3 sq km (2010: Nil)
Land Being Formed situated at the harbour-front industrial zone of
Yangkou Port, as well as about 1 sq km (2010: 1 sq km) Formed
Land situated at the Sun Island of Yangkou Port were held as
trading stock.

Wanhua Zijin Garden, a residential property development near
Yangkou Port with a gross floor area of 65,000 sg m, was
completed and contributed turnover of about HK$156 million
(2010: HK$108 million) during the year. A cumulative area of about
53,000 sg m with a total contract value of about RMB302 million
has been sold or pre-sold up to 31 March 2011, representing
about 90% of its total saleable area.
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Nantong International Trade Center is a commercial and office
development in the heart of Nantong with a gross floor area of
some 80,000 sg m. The office tower was completed in October
2010 and contributed turnover of about HK$212 million (2010:
Nil) during the year. The commercial podium is scheduled for
completion by end of 2011. A cumulative area of about 36,000 sqg
m with a total contract value of about RMB400 million has been
sold or pre-sold up to 31 March 2011, representing about 57% of
its total saleable area.

In Hangzhou, the Group holds an investment property, the Pioneer
Technology Building, which is an office building with gross floor
area of some 20,000 sg m. The building contributed rental income
of about HK$8 million (2010: HK$6 million) and its occupancy was
about 95% as at 31 March 2011.

In Yichang, certain new commercial properties of about 5,000
sq m were acquired through Yichang Port Group during the year.
Total rental income contributed from the Yichang investment
properties amounted to about HK$3 million (2010: HK$1 million).

The treasury investments contributed about HK$6 million (2010:
HK$38,000) towards the Group’s operating profit for the year.
During the year, the trading securities recorded a fair value loss

of about HK$3 million (2010: gain of HK$14 million) and the
high-vield loans interest income of about HK$9 million (2010:
HK$31 million) contributed to keep the segment profitable. As

at 31 March 2011, total value of the Group’s portfolio of trading
securities amounted to about HK$47 million (2010: HK$44 million),
equivalent to about 0.3% (2010: 0.3%) of the Group’s total assets.
Portfolio of high-yield loans receivable amounted to about HK$113
million (2010: HK$267 million), equivalent to about 1% (2010: 2%)
of the Group’s total assets.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the year, the Group acquired an additional 15% equity
interest in Jiangyin Sunan from 25% to 40% through contribution
of about RMB134.8 million (equivalent to about HK$154.7 million)
to its enlarged registered capital.

Apart from the above, there are no other material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries and associates during the year.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In May 2011, the Group completed the disposal of 50.1% equity
interest in Yangkou Port Co to a shareholder of Yangkou Port
Co at a consideration of RMB1,507 million. Yangkou Port Co
ceased to be a subsidiary of PYIl and its financial result will be
deconsolidated from the Group.

Apart from the above, there are no other major subsequent events
since the end of the reporting period and up to the date of this
report.

OUTLOOK

Confronted by the existence of market uncertainties, the global
economy recovered at a slow pace. Developed economies
experience sluggish recovery while emerging economies face
with inflationary pressure. However, as the world’s second largest
economy, China continued to surge forward and to drive the
global recovery. The tightening measures taken by the Central
Government aim at containing the overheated economy and
maintain the sustainable and stable development.
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China’s Twelfth Five-year Plan focuses
on accelerating the water transport
development of coastal ports and
inland waterways, especially the
Yangtze River aiming to construct an

efficient integrated transport system.
REz [T=8] REE LIRS
B0 RURIIIAE B2 WEEE KR
BHIER ©

2011 is the first year of the Twelfth Five-year Plan of China. CONFRHAR TR REMFARZF - RERIEEE

During the Twelfth Five-year Plan period, the Central Government
accelerates the development of coastal ports and inland
waterways, especially the Yangtze River aiming to construct an
efficient integrated transport system. The rapid development of
Western and Central China continues boosting throughput via
inland waterways. That makes the prospects of the bulk cargo
ports and logistics along the Yangtze River remain optimistic.
With the strengthened financial capacity, PYl is poised to capture
new growth and to enhance shareholders’ value through effective
implementation measures on our Yangtze Strategy.

| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt
gratitude to our Chairman for his great leadership, to our board
members for their valuable guidance and monitoring, and our
executive and staff team across the nation for their dedication
and tireless efforts. We also appreciate our business partners and
shareholders for their trust in our strategic vision.

Yours faithfully,

Tom Lau
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2011
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group recorded a
consolidated turnover of about HK$5,357 million (2010: HK$4,260
million), representing an increase of about 26% when compared
with last year. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase
in turnover of the Group’s engineering arm — Paul Y. Engineering
and its subsidiaries (the “Paul Y. Engineering Group”).

The Group’s gross profit increased by 15% to about HK$441
million (2010: HK$383 million) as compared with the last year.
Such gross profit represented a gross margin of 8% (2010: 9%) of
the consolidated turnover. The Group’s administrative expenses
increased by 6% to about HK$295 million (2010: HK$279 million),
which was mainly attributable to about HK$36 million (2010:
HK$14 million) administrative expenses from Yichang Port Group
acquired in November 2009. Profit before taxation of about
HK$466 million was achieved as compared with about HK$402
million for the last year. The Group’s profit before taxation was
composed of:

() net gain of about HK$52 million in Paul Y. Engineering
Group engaged in management contracting and property
development management businesses (2010: HK$61 million);

(i)  net gain of about HK$329 million in ports development
business (2010: HK$405 million);

(i) net gain of about HK$155 million in ports and logistics
business (2010: HK$67 million);

(iv) net gain of about HK$86 million in property business (2010:
HK$34 million);

(v) net gain of about HK$6 million in treasury business (2010:
HK$38,000);

(vi) net corporate and other expenses (including inter-segment
profit eliminations) of about HK$76 million (2010: HK$99
million) of which about HK$14 million was acquisition-related
costs (2010: HK$22 million); and

(vii) finance costs of about HK$86 million (2010: HK$66 million).

Net profit for the year attributable to the owners of PYl was about
HK$200 million (2010: HK$149 million) and basic earnings per
share was HK4.4 cents (2010: HK3.5 cents). The improved net
profit was mainly attributable to the contribution from Jiangyin
Sunan of about HK$90 million (2010: Nil) resulting from the
Group’s bargain purchase for its additional 15% interest from 25%
to 40% and continuous cost control measures during the year.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION

When compared with the Group’s financial position as at last year
end, total assets increased by 6% to about HK$14,895 million
(2010: HK$14,041 million) and net current assets increased by
229% to about HK$3,299 million (2010: HK$1,004 million). The
changes were mainly attributable to the fair value appreciation of
investment properties and the classification of assets of Jiangsu
YangKou Port Development and Investment Co., Ltd. (“Yangkou
Port Co”) as assets held for sale, respectively. Consequently,
current assets increased from 1.21 times to 1.46 times of current
liabilities. After accounting for the net profit of about HK$200
million and surplus arising from RMB exchange translation of about
HK$168 million, equity attributable to owners of PYI increased

by 9% to about HK$4,501 million (2010: HK$4,130 million),
representing HK$0.99 (2010: HK$0.91) per share as at 31 March
2011.

Net cash inflow from operating activities was about HK$460 million
(2010: HK$44 million) and that from financing activities was about
HK$331 million (2010: HK$444 million). Net cash outflow from
investing activities was about HK$640 million (2010: HK$229
million), resulting in a net increase in available cash and cash
equivalents of about HK$151 million (2010: HK$259 million) for the
year.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group continues to adopt a prudent funding and treasury
policy with regard to its overall business operations. A variety

of credit facilities are maintained to meet its working capital
requirements and committed capital expenditure. The loans of the
Group bear interest at market rates and have terms of repayment
ranging from on demand to ten years. In an effort to minimise the
adverse impact of exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations on
the Group’s earnings, assets and liabilities, the Group continues to
manage the fluctuation exposures on specific transactions.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s total borrowings (including
amounts reclassified as held for sale of about HK$1,283 million)
amounted to about HK$3,298 million (2010: HK$3,049 million)
with about HK$1,667 million (including about HK$410 million
reclassified as held for sale) (2010: HK$1,563 million) repayable

on demand or within one year and about HK$1,631 million
(including about HK$873 million reclassified as held for sale) (2010:
HK$1,486 million) repayable after one year. Out of the Group’s total
borrowings of about HK$3,298 million (2010: HK$3,049 million),
about HK$254 million (2010: HK$322 million) was non-recourse to
the Group (excluding the Paul Y. Engineering Group).
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As at 31 March 2011, borrowings denominated in Hong Kong
dollars with about HK$583 million (2010: HK$461 million) bore
interest at floating rates and about HK$2 million (2010: HK$144
million) bore interest at fixed rates. Borrowing denominated in
Renminbi with about HK$2,543 million (including about HK$1,283
million reclassified as held for sale) (2010: HK$2,161 million) bore
interest at floating rates and about HK$170 million (2010: HK$283
million) bore interest at fixed rates. The Group’s gearing ratio

was 0.73 (2010: 0.74), which was calculated based on the total
borrowings of about HK$3,298 million (2010: HK$3,049 million)
and the Group’s shareholders’ fund of about HK$4,501 million
(2010: HK$4,130 million).

Cash balance as at 31 March 2011 amounted to about HK$1,241
million (including about HK$128 million reclassified as held for sale)
(2010: HK$1,033 million), of which about HK$84 million (2010:
HK$34 million) had been pledged to banks to secure general
credit facilities granted to the Group. As at 31 March 2011, the
Group had a net debt position (being cash balances net of bank
borrowings including amounts reclassified as held for sale) of
about HK$1,821 million (2010: HK$1,453 million).

In July 2007, the Group, through Yangkou Port Co, entered into
a 7-year project loan facility agreement for RMB960 million with
a syndicate of eight domestic banks in Nanjing, the PRC. This
syndicated loan, bearing the current Renminbi long-term loan
benchmark interest rate as announced by the People’s Bank of
China, has been used to fund construction of the 13 km Yellow
Sea Crossing and the 1.4 sgq km man-made island at Yangkou
Port. As at 31 March 2011, the outstanding balance of the
syndicated loan amounted to RMB475 million (2010: RMB600
million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had contingent liabilities in
respect of guarantees given to banks for banking facilities given to
third parties of about HK$65 million (2010: HK$46 million) and for
banking facilities given to associates and jointly controlled entities
of about HK$37 million (2010: Nil).
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2011, certain property interests, property, plant
and equipment, inventories, trade receivables and bank balances
of the Group with an aggregate value of about HK$2,093 million
(2010: HK$1,980 million), as well as the Company’s investment

in certain subsidiaries of about HK$140 million (2010: Nil) and the
Group’s benefits over certain construction contracts were pledged
to banks and financial institutions to secure general credit facilities
granted to the Group. As at 31 March 2011, about HK$110 million
(2010: HK$48 million) of these pledged assets was used to secure
credit facilities which were non-recourse to the Group (excluding
the Paul Y. Engineering Group).

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had expenditure contracted for
but not provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of acquisition of certain property, plant and equipment and
project under development in the amount of about HK$190 million
(2010: HK$97 miillion).
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Yangkou Port is a natural deep-sea harbour on Jiangsu’s eastern coast, near the
mouth of the Yangtze River. It is poised to become a major trans-shipment hub
specializing in bulk cargo and a large-scale petrochemical industrial and logistics
zone.

Yangkou Port was built and developed by PYI. The project comprises mainly
a harbour-front industrial and logistics park of 30 sq km, a 13 km Yellow Sea
Crossing and a 1.4 sq km man-made island connected to 29 berths. The port
declared soft open in October 2008.

Embankment works for the reclamation of about 4.6 sq km out of the final 16.7 sq
km harbour-front industrial land bank has been completed. Highways, railway,
canal and other connecting infrastructure and utility associated with Yangkou Port
are being developed concurrently.

PetroChina’s LNG facilities have commenced commercial operations in May 2011,
which will become one of the major sources of LNG supply for Eastern China.

In May 2011, PYI disposed 50.1% interest in Yangkou Port to further crystallize the
value of our investment in Yangkou Port. Upon completion, PYI’s equity interest in
Yangkou Port decreased from 60% to 9.9%.
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Nantong Port is a major river port in'the Yangtze Delta and one of China’s category-one
national ports which is opened to f reid)n trade. It provides easy access to the Yangtze

region by road and waterway which is an ideal hub port for cargo trans-shipment.

As an important hub port of the country, it houses a shoreline of 4.2 km and a land
mass of 1.5 sq km with 5 major terminals namely Tongzhou Terminal, Jianghai Terminal,
Yaogang Terminal, Langshan Terminal and the Container Terminal. They together
operate 24 berths, including 2 berths for vessels of 150,000 tonnage, 5 berths for
vessels of 70,000 tonnage, 4 berths for vessels of 50,000 tonnage and 3 berths for
vessels of 10,000 tonnage. The main cargoes handled by Nantong Port Group are iron
ore, minerals, cement, steel, coqL sulphur, fertilizers, grains and edible oil.

2010 is the fifth consecutive year that Nantong Port had reached over 100 million
tonnes annual throughput. In 2010, annual cargo throughput of Nantong Port
Group was around 55 million #onnes and container throughput was 392,000 TEUs,
representing 0.4% and 14% )fear—on—year growth respectively.
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Yichang Port is located on the Yangtze River near the Three Gorges Dam

in Hubei Province. Yichang Port Group is principally engaged in transport
logistics and property investments, providing transportation, cargo loading
and discharging, storage, shipping agent, cargo agent, port logistics and port
equipment rental services in Yichang Port.

To capture the growing demand on logistics and transportation services along
the middle and upper reaches of the Yangtze, Yichang Port is continuously
under expansion. The phase two of construction of Yunchi Port Terminal has
commenced in early 2011. The terminal will consist of 17 berths with total annual
throughput capacity of 10 million tonnes and 400,000 TEUs upon completion.
The 200-acres Linjiangping Logistics Park will comprise of six service zones. The
construction of coal blending center at Zhicheng Port has completed in 2010 and
annual gross capacity is expected to reach 20 million tonnes.

In this fiscal year, the annual cargo throughput of Yichang Port grew by 8% to
about 7.9 million tonnes with annual container throughput reaching 52,000 TEUs.
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¢~ Jiangyin Sunan Container Terminal
IEHMERENE

erths for ba

the only container terminal in Jiangyit
containers loading and unloading, storage,
containers etc. The annual container throughput of the terminal reache 4,
TEUs in 2010, representing a 11% year-on-year growth.

PYI1 acquired 25% interest in Jiangyin Sunan from Shanghai International Port
Group in June 2009 at a consideration of RMB27.65 million (HK$31.4 million).

In July 2010, PY!I further contributed RMB134.8 million (HK$154.6 million) to the
enlarged registered capital of Jiangyin Sunan for an increase of equity interest from
25% to 40%.
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Jiaxing International Feeder Port multi-functional zone is a focal infrastructure
project in Zhejiang province and one of the major feeder ports in China planned by
Ministry of Transport.

Situated at Nanhu district of Jiaxing city, Jiaxing International Feeder Port occupies
a shoreline of 570 m and a land mass of 326,000 sq m. Upon completion of the

10 berths, its annual throughput capacity will reach 2.5 million tonnes. A customs
office is located in port area for efficient consignment, clearance and declaration

at one stop. The port also features a range of logistics supporting services such as
examination, steam sterilization facilities, storage and information services etc.

The port declared soft open in mid 2010 and became the first container feeder port
in the Yangtze Delta. Jiaxing International Feeder Port is poised to become a major
feeder port that supports the Shanghai International Shipping Centre by providing
comprehensive customs and logistics services.
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Based in Wuhan, Minsheng Gas is a leading player in the Wuhan LPG market
for automotive consumption, and wholesale and distribution of liquefied
petroleum gas (LPG) products. It also owns and operates the largest LPG
river terminal and storage tank farm in mid-stream Yangtze. Minsheng Gas

is dedicated to boost its leading position in the infrastructure and logistics
facilities for LPG, oil and liquid bulk chemicals market in Central China.

Minsheng Gas launched the retail brand “Good Luck” for providing high
quality industrial, commercial and domestic LPG products serving Wuhan
and peripheral cities. A Vehicle Conversion Research and Development
Center was established to support the application of its research and
development on the construction of LPG fueling stations, conversion of
motor vehicles to LPG vehicles and gas fueling.

In this fiscal year, annual sale of LPG registered a decline of 5% at 43,600
tonnes, comprising 42,300 tonnes from automotive and 1,300 tonnes from
domestic consumptions.
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PYI seizes the opportunities to extract returns from property development and
investment.

Xiao Yangkou is situated about 35 km west of Yangkou Port. It is expected to be
developed as residential and resort area in support of the Yangkou industrial zone.

Wanhua Zijin Garden is a residential property development near Yangkou Port with
a gross floor area of 65,000 sg m. Around 90% of its total saleable area which is
about 53,000 sq m has been sold or pre-sold.

Nantong International Trade Center, a commercial and office development in the
heart of Nantong city with a gross floor area of some 80,000 sqg m was completed
in October 2010. Accumulative area of about 36,000 sgq m has been sold or pre-
sold, representing about 57% of its total saleable area.

L] f#-j.‘f
‘ ¥y

Pioneer Technology Building is an office building with gross floor area of some
20,000 sgq m located in Hangzhou. The building is held as an investment property to
derive rental income. Its occupancy reached about 95% by the end of this fiscal year.

_4‘}2/"

New commercial properties in Yichang of about 5,000 sq m were acquired through
Yichang Port Group.

o
Al

‘ REEBIBEKE  REMLERBRREDIEHR -

—_—

-

NFOMPFOBUANB AR - FHEERMEERERE  FRFOBIEENERTEE -

B
‘\ l @ BEESABMOEOB 2 AEYE  SREERE65000 75K - HRREHERAEER
1 Ny L #53,000 F 35K - 152 57T EERLI90% -
N EET \
& l ﬂ-ax g TREETROZEEEESD  E-BEERPATEA AR  BEEEEL80,000F 5
.PW AR ¥ BR2010F10 A% T - HERHEREEEEN6,000F 5K - 52 B HEAREL
'\ iﬁ] = 57% o
N _ ”"—' SEHMEABD RN ZRAE AR - BREERL 20,0005k - BERENEFERS K
2 AEER e BRERRTAN B S% -

—y

A,

»a) | [ SEFEBEEBBEEBBAINES 2 MBFWE - HHEL5,000F5K o
.
|

7

ACCUMULATIVE SOLD AREA OF
WANHUA ZIJIN GARDEN REACHED

BEZRSREZRLEDRE

%

34 FYI“) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report



Paul Y. Engineering is devoted to providing full-fledged engineering
and property services with operations in Hong Kong, Macau and
the Mainland. For over 60 years, Paul Y. Engineering has played a
significant role in shaping Hong Kong’s skyline with its world-class
infrastructure, including major commercial and residential buildings,
public housing, institutional facilities, highways, railways, tunnels,
port works, water and sewage treatment facilities etc.

As some of the Ten Major Infrastructure Projects have been

rolled out as scheduled, Paul Y. Engineering has continued to

take a proactive approach in tapping opportunities in the market.
The management contracting division of Paul Y. Engineering
successfully secured new construction contracts with HK$4,669
million, up by 4% year-on-year. As at year end, the total value of
contracts on hand amounted to HK$10,406 million. Subsequent to
the year end, it secured further contracts of HK$1,656 million.
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DR CHOW MING KUEN, JOSEPH oe&t sp
[EIRA#ETE £ ose up

Chairman

FE

Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ose e, aged 70, is the Chairman of the Company. Dr Chow
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in September
2004 and took up the position of Chairman in July 2005. He is also the Chairman of

the Company’s Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Compliance
Committee, a member of the Company’s Audit Committee and Share Repurchase
Committee (alternate to Mr Chan Shu Kin), and an independent non-executive director
of three subsidiaries of the Company. Dr Chow is a civil and structural engineer by
profession. He is the Chairman of the Hong Kong Construction Workers Registration
Authority and a Hon. Senior Superintendent of the Hong Kong Auxiliary Police Force.

Dr Chow previously served as President of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers,
Chairman of Hong Kong Engineers’ Registration Board, Hong Kong Examinations and
Assessment Authority, Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital as well as the Hong
Kong Country Club. He is currently Chairman of Joseph Chow & Partners Ltd., a firm of
independent civil and structural consulting engineers. Dr Chow is also an independent
non-executive director of Chevalier International Holdings Limited (0025.HK), Build King
Holdings Limited (0240.HK) and Road King Infrastructure Limited (1098.HK). He was a
non-executive director of Wheelock Properties Limited (former stock code: 0049.HK),

a company whose shares were withdrawn from listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on 22 July 2010, until July 2010.

FEIRRREIE T ose p (BRET705%) BARRIER - AB T 2004 59 ARZEARNAREIENITE
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MR LAU KO YUEN, TOM
gRRELE

Deputy Chairman and Managing Director
&I EHRAEE,

Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom, aged 60, is the Deputy Chairman and Managing Director of the
Company. He is a member of the Company’s Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Share Repurchase Committee, and a director of various subsidiaries

of the Group. Mr Lau has over 38 years’ international corporate development and
management experience in infrastructure developments as well as construction and
engineering services involving the road, rail, port, power, telecommunications, mining and
resources sectors in the Asia Pacific Region. He joined the Group in 1991 and has been
responsible for the Group’s corporate development strategy, and overall performance.
Mr Lau is also the Deputy Chairman and non-executive director of Paul Y. Engineering
Group Limited (0577.HK) and Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited (0310.HK) and an
independent non-executive director of China National Building Material Company Limited
(8323.HK).

BImREE GRF60R) BAARIBIEREREE  WAKXARFNEZES - REZESRBRHEE
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DR CHAN KWOK KEUNG, CHARLES
FRE R L

Non-Executive Director
FHHTESE

Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles, aged 56, is a non-executive director of the Company.
He is a member of the Company’s Nomination Committee (alternate to Mr Lau Ko
Yuen, Tom). Dr Chan holds an Honorary degree of Doctor of Laws and a Bachelor’s
degree in Civil Engineering and has over 31 years’ international corporate management
and strategic investment experience in a diversified range of businesses including
construction, property, infrastructure, entertainment and media, hotel and related
business, information technology, pharmaceutical and health products. He joined the
Group in 1987 and was Chairman of the Company until July 2005. Dr Chan is also

the Chairman and executive director of ITC Corporation Limited (0372.HK) which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company as disclosed in the section headed “Interests
and Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders/Other Persons” in the Directors’ Report;
and was appointed as a non-executive director of Television Broadcasts Limited
(0511.HK) on 1 April 2011; and he was the Chairman and executive director of Hanny
Holdings Limited (0275.HK) until September 2008. Dr Chan is also the father of his
alternate director, Mr Chan Yiu Lun, Alan.
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MR KWOK SHIU KEUNG, ERNEST
B AoREE

Independent Non-Executive Director
BUIFRTEE

Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest, aged 75, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive director in 1993. He is a member of the Company’s Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Compliance Committee.

Mr Kwok is a practising solicitor, a chartered civil engineer and a practising arbitrator.
He was a registered structural engineer and an authorized person (List Il) under the
Hong Kong Buildings Ordinance for more than 20 years. Mr Kwok is also a member
of the Institution of Civil Engineers, United Kingdom and a fellow member of both of
the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of
Arbitrators.

BAogskdE CRETE55R) B 198 FREEARFTBUIFNTES  RA/AXRRABEREZEE -
ZE8e REZEBGRERZEGKE - DEERAERE  HIFLATRREARAZEMIEA - 75
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MR CHAN SHU KIN
BoRAGT ER 52 A=

Independent Non-Executive Director
BUIFHNTEF

Mr Chan Shu Kin, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of the Company in September 2004. He is the Chairman of the Company’s Audit
Committee and Share Repurchase Committee and a member of the Company’s
Compliance Committee and Nomination Committee (alternate to Mr Kwok Shiu Keung,
Ernest). Mr Chan has over 34 years’ experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management services. He graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is a fellow member of both the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, as well as an associate member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr Chan is a partner of
Messrs Ting Ho Kwan & Chan, Certified Public Accountants. He is also an independent
non-executive director of PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited (0850.HK).

BRI SEE GRFEL6HR) N2004 FO ARZERRRRBIYFNTES  YARRRABEREZES
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MR LEUNG PO WING, BOWEN JOSEPH ass, up

RELIHE cBs P
Independent Non-Executive Director
BB ITEE

Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ess s, aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in August 2006. He is a member of the
Company'’s Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee and an independent
non-executive director of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr Leung previously served

the Hong Kong Government for over 32 years until his retirement as the Director of the
Office of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administration Region in Beijing
(“Beijing Office”) in November 2005. He joined the Administrative Service in June 1973
and rose to the rank of Administrative Officer Staff Grade A1 in June 1996. During his
service in the Administrative Service, Mr Leung had served in various policy bureaux

and departments, including Deputy Secretary for District Administration (later re-titled

as Deputy Secretary for Home Affairs); Deputy Secretary for Planning, Environment and
Lands; Private Secretary, Government House; Secretary for Planning, Environment and
Lands; and Director of the Beijing Office. Mr Leung has extensive experience in corporate
leadership and public administration. During his tenure as the Director of the Beijing
Office, he had made commendable efforts in promoting Hong Kong in the Mainland,

as well as fostering better understanding, establishing closer links and facilitating
exchanges in various spheres between Hong Kong and the Mainland. Mr Leung is also
an independent non-executive director of Paliburg Holdings Limited (0617.HK) and North
Asia Resources Holdings Limited (0061.HK) and has been appointed as a special advisor
to the board of directors of Sands China Ltd. (1928.HK) in April 2011.
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MR LI CHANG AN

FELRAE

Independent Non-Executive Director
BUIHBTEE

Mr Li Chang An, aged 76, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
the Company in January 2007. Mr Li was the Vice Secretary of Shangdong Provincial
Party Committee from 1983 to 1987. He was further appointed as the Governor of
Shangdong Province in June 1985. He was the Deputy Secretary-General of the State
Council between 1987 and 1993, and was elected as an alternate member of the
Eleventh CPC Central Committee and a member of Twelfth CPC Central Committee.
Mr Li was the Executive Vice Chairman of China Poly Group Corporation from 1993

to 2001. He was also the Chairman of the board of China Orient Telecomm Satellite
Company, Limited from 1995 to 2003.

FERKAE GRFT65R) R 2007 F1 ARZEARRNARIB M IFRNITES - FTHAEN 1983 F £ 1987
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MR CHAN YIU LUN, ALAN

BeR VR ST A

Non-Executive Director

(Alternate to Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles)
FHHITEE

(B (5% 18 1)

Mr Chan Yiu Lun, Alan, aged 27, was appointed as an alternate director to Dr Chan
Kwok Keung, Charles in July 2010. He graduated from Duke University, USA, with a
Bachelor of Arts Degree in Political Science — International Relations. Mr Chan previously
worked in investment banking division of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. He is currently
an executive director of ITC Corporation Limited (0372.HK) which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company as disclosed in the section headed “Interests and Short
Positions of Substantial Shareholders/Other Persons” in the Directors’ Report; and ITC
Properties Group Limited (0199.HK), a director of Burcon NutraScience Corporation
(“Burcon”), the securities of which are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (BU.TSX)
and Frankfurt Stock Exchange (WKN 157793-FWB) and an advisor of the Bisagni
Environmental Enterprise (BEE Inc.). He was an alternate director to Ms Chau Mei Wah,
Rosanna in Burcon until April 2010. Mr Chan is also the son of Dr Chan Kwok Keung,
Charles, a non-executive director of the Company.
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BHERZMER S LM (BUTSX) RREERERZ ST LT (WKN 157793-FWB)) ZEE R K
EREBERAT (BEE Inc.) ZEM o B8 HEEEELZ TR Burcon ZEEEZEFTHEE 201064 A ©
PROCEMABAABIEPITERRE AT L2 7F °
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MS YANG YAN
CE S
Chief Representative — China

BB R EEAX — FE

Ms Yang Yan, aged 43, joined the Group in 2003. She is the Chief Representative of the
Company in China and is responsible for originating and monitoring the performance

of the Group’s investments in the Mainland, and holds directorship in a number of
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms Yang has many years of experience in corporate
development and general administration and holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration.

Bt GRF435%) N2003FMAREE - RARA ZFHRBHRNTEZERREK  x
REERMLEEAEEETE OEREER  YREFARAZRMBRARZERRL - HX
TRERQEER TREESTERASFER UG ITAEREE T8 -

MR WONG YIU HUNG
=R

Chief Financial Officer
BB E

Mr Wong Yiu Hung, aged 46, joined the Group in 2004. He is the Chief Financial Officer
of the Company and is responsible for all financial management and accounting matters
of the Group. Mr Wong holds directorship in a number of subsidiaries of the Company.
He has over 24 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial management in
both international accounting firms and listed companies. Mr Wong holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Chinese Law from Peking University. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, and a practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong.

RS GRF465%) N2004 FIMAREE - BARRZBREMEE  AEAKEMEVHE
BMEEEY - EEERELARRZRMBARZESR - NEERSFMEBHAR LT
A2 Bt RMBEES R 24 FER  c AAAREUIRKBZhEERSLEMN - BE
AEMAEEE  REFASHIRAGERSE  TRATEAXSH -
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CORPORATE SUPPORT TEAM
1 2 AR 75 =

LEGAL & COMPANY SECRETARIAL

MR KO HIU FUNG
Group Legal Counsel and Company Secretary

MS MEI HONG
Legal Counsel, China

FINANCE & ACCOUNTS

MR CHAN DIK KEUNG, WILLIAM
Assistant Financial Controller

MR ZHU YONG MING
Corporate Finance Director, China

MS LI YEE PING, SARAH
Senior Finance Manager — Treasury and Investment

MR LEUNG HO MAN
Chief Accountant

INTERNAL CONTROL

MR CHEUNG KIN CHUEN
Senior Manager — Internal Control & Risk Management

INTERNAL AUDIT

MR CHU WAI YEUNG, WALLACE
Group Internal Audit Senior Manager

MR WANG BAO GUO
Director of Internal Audit, China

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS

MS LAM LEE LEE
Corporate Communications Manager
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MR WEI' WEN KUI
Director and General Manager

Jiangsu Yangtong Investment and Development Co., Ltd.

Hubei Minsheng Liquefied Petroleum Gas Limited

MR WANG WEI GUO

Director and General Manager
Nantong Port Group Limited
Jiangyin Sunan International Container Terminal Co., Ltd.

MR LIU HONG WEI

Investment Director
Property Division — Mainland China

MR SU ZHI JUN

Investment Director
Feeder Port Division — Mainland China

MR CHEN FA Yl

Chairman
Yichang Port Group Limited

MR WANG HONG

General Manager
Yichang Port Group Limited

MR CHEN BAO XI

General Manager
Jiaxing International Container Feeder Port Limited

MR LIU DONG

Financial Controller
Nantong Port Group Limited

MS TSANG SAU YING

Financial Controller
Yichang Port Group Limited

MR WEI JIANG TAO
Financial Controller

Jiangsu Yangtong Investment and Development Co., Ltd.

MR LI YONG

Deputy Financial Controller
Hubei Minsheng Liquefied Petroleum Gas Limited

MR JIANG JIANG MIN

Financial Controller
Jiaxing International Container Feeder Port Limited
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MAKING CORPORATE GOVERNANCE A PART OF
PYI CULTURE

PYI Corporation Limited (“PYI” or the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) has recognised the importance of
transparency and accountability, and believes that shareholders of
PYI can benefit from good corporate governance.

To ensure that corporate governance is part of corporate culture,
PYI has applied the principles and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), and has adopted
some of the recommended best practices for the year ended

31 March 2011.

PYI has also adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules applicable to PYI directors as
well as senior management of PYI. After having made specific
enquiries, all directors and senior management of PY| have
confirmed their compliance with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during this financial year.

During the year, PYI has continued to keep abreast of various
amendments of the Listing Rules. PYI has also responded to the
consultation paper issued by Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited on review of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
and Associated Listing Rules which is yet to be concluded. PYI
also believes that it is effective to enhance corporate governance
through regular trainings within the Group. This year, we have
invited various experts to provide training to our directors and
senior management on various topics including insurance and

risk management. In addition to regular attendance at Board

and Board committees meetings and in order to have a better
understanding of our business operations, directors including all
independent non-executive directors have participated field trips to
Yichang and Wuhan in September 2010 and Nantong, Jiaxing and
Yangkou in April 2011.

Since the launch of PYI Code of Conduct in October 2009, all PYI
directors, senior management and staff have been under specific
obligations to comply with the ethics and principles by which our
business is conducted and have been allowed to report actual or
potential violations of the Code through stated procedure. Non-
compliance with the Code will result in disciplinary action. During
this financial year, we are not aware of any non-compliance with
the Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE EERERERS

The structure below shows the key parties involved in our REBEZGCEEREBHAREEE  SRZFEXNEEBIT
corporate governance practices and policies within the Group.
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SHAREHOLDERS

As part of corporate governance, PYI recognises the importance
of ensuring that shareholders’ rights are protected. In accordance
with PY!’s bye-laws and the applicable laws of Bermuda, all PYI
shareholders are entitled to attend or be represented by proxy and
vote at general meetings. PYI shareholders holding not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of PYI carrying the right of voting
at general meetings have the right to require a special general
meeting to be called and propose transaction of business. All

PYI shareholders have the right to propose person for election as
director of PYI. The relevant procedure for proposing a person for
election as director of PYl is set out in the Letter of our Board in
the circular for re-election of directors.

Voting on resolutions put forward at PYI's general meeting during
the year has been taken by way of poll and all poll results have
been published and posted on the websites of PYI and of the
Stock Exchange.

During the year 2010/11, PYI held two general meetings. All
resolutions put to shareholders were passed at the two general
meetings. The resolutions and the percentage of votes cast in
favour of the resolutions relating to those items are set out below:

PYI'S GENERAL MEETINGS HELD DURING THE YEAR

EEFERETHRERRKS

R

EREFEREN—HD  REEIRELRERZNER
e REBEREZQATDMAMREBREEREN - FAERE
BROARBFEXRZIRAREFE - ARBRERRGLRE -
FETORT D2 —RECHBRA LA RBERAE L
BREZRERR  ARERBARRFIRERIEREZ
e MBRERREFREBASE 2ERREZES -
BEREBENALSEREEEZERF CENEHE
BEFHNANTZEFTRRMEA -

FR REBREACHRZRAUBRENFARR - M
FIERENEREERERILFIE AT I -
R2010/11FE - REZBAMARERE - FTERE TR
RZHE RBRRASLESRG -FIRECEELE
REBZRBE ZEZHLE  AIHMOT ¢

Annual General Meeting on 10 September 2010
R2010F9H10H BITHRRBEFAE

v/ Approval of the 2010 audited accounts
FB2010F ML EZ IR B

v Re-election of Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom as director
ERISREERES

v Re-election of Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest as director
BREFBLREERES

v/ Re-election of Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph as director

v/ Approval of directors’ fees in aggregate amount of not exceeding HK$4,000,000

per annum for all directors
BBAETERESHEBE T THRBEF40000008THESHEE

v/ Re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor and authorisation to Board

to fix their remuneration

BEZERD HERST ST ARBM MR EESSEIT AN
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99.26%

99.47%

99.47%

99.47%
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PYI’'S GENERAL MEETINGS HELD DURING THE YEAR (continued)

EXRFEETHRERRAE (@)

Annual General Meeting on 10 September 2010
H2010F9A10A BITHRRBFEARE

v Grant of general mandate to directors to issue shares
BTEFETRON —RXE

v/ Grant of general mandate to directors to repurchase shares and warrants

RTEELERMO RBREEN KRR

v Extension of the share issue mandate to directors
BARTESERITRMD ZEN

v Refreshment of the 10% limit on grant of options under PYI’s share option scheme

FAARIR R BB B AT &1IR L BB 2 10%FR 58

v Approval of the refreshment of the 10% limit on grant of options under the share

option scheme of Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited

HEEFRBEREZZEEAR DR B 2R HBREZ10%R 5

Special General Meeting on 14 March 2011
R2011F3A14RBITHRREFAAE

v/ Approval of the disposal of 50.1% interest in Jiangsu YangKou Port Development

and Investment Co., Ltd.
& BB ILET 0 B1R & F 3 A R A R150.1%HE 2

PYI regards its shareholders’ meetings as valuable forum for PYI
shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the
Board face to face. All our directors and senior management and
representative from external auditor will make effort to attend
shareholders’ meetings and address queries from shareholders.
Also, simultaneous translations in English and Cantonese have
been arranged during the meetings to ensure that the shareholders
understand the content of the issues discussed during the conduct
of the meetings.

Since 2005, an “Address by Managing Director” session led by
our Chairman and presented by our Managing Director has been
included in all general meetings in addition to standard meeting
agenda to enhance PYI shareholders’ understanding of PYl’s
businesses and latest business initiatives.

% of Votes Cast For

BEREHHL R

74.41%

100%

95.45%

95.39%

95.39%

99.44%
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Apart from holding shareholders’ meetings, PYI also makes
endeavour to maintain effective communication with all
shareholders through other channels such as the publication of
annual and interim reports, announcements, circulars as well

as news releases (all in bilingual languages) so as to provide
extensive information on the Group’s activities, financial position,
business strategies and developments to enable them to make
informed decision on matters relating to their investment and the
exercise of their rights as shareholders of PYI. Such information
is also available on PY!| website — www.pyicorp.com. Our website
is an effective mean of communicating with shareholders. Any
shareholders who have questions or comments on what we are
doing are most welcome to contact us at any time through the
website. We will try our best to answer the questions in a short
time.

At pages 68 to 72 of this annual report, we have designated a
section called “PYI and Shareholders” which serves to provide
shareholders with more information such as the shareholding of
PYI and details of top shareholders as at the year end.

BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

The primary role of the board of directors of PYI (“Board”)

is to maximize long-term shareholder value. It assumes the
responsibility for providing effective and responsible leadership
and control of the Company, and directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board, led by the Chairman, approves and monitors group-
wide strategies and policies, evaluates the performance of the
Group and supervises the management.

To enhance efficiency, the Board has delegated the Managing
Director the day-to-day leadership and management of the
Group. The senior management of the Group, on the other hand,
is responsible for the management and administrative functions
and the day-to-day operations of the Group under the supervision
of the Managing Director. The corporate governance structure

of PYI as disclosed in this report at page 45 shows the detailed
relationship between the Board, the Managing Director and the
senior management as well as other stakeholders.
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Below is a summary of specific matters which are reserved for the
Board:

NTREZRFEEBNRHE:

SUMMARY OF SPECIFIC MATTERS RESERVED FOR THE BOARD

EEREEERHNRAE

v Financial reporting and control
B 75 FR dR AN BR

v/ Equity fund raising
BRERE

v Recommendation/declaration of dividend or other distributions

PR B 3k EL A 73 TR A 2 3 S B R

v/ Notifiable and connected transactions under the Listing Rules
CEMRAD P E AT DM REER S

v Capital reorganisation or other significant changes in the capital structure of the Group

BERBHESAAREEAGBNEMERNRE

The Board also acknowledges their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and for ensuring
that the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
standards.

The statement of the auditor of the Company concerning their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 88 and 89 of this annual report.

As at the date of this report and during the financial year
2010/2011, our Board is composed of 7 directors and 1 alternate
director including 5 independent non-executive directors,
representing more than two-third of the Board, which exceeds

the requirement under the Listing Rules. Also, a majority of the
members of the Board committees are independent non-executive
directors.

E=RBRAAEIRIAEESAMBHRE  LRRE
W AEBGA M BERRBRBETRAMESEHLER -

ARABIUGHARAEEGS M BRRERFBER
WMEERBHR - HHINAFREBNBIR B A% HAD R

HA e

AR E BB R R2010/2011B R EE - AEENEER
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS EX£/5
(as at the date of this report AR 2 H)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
BYKBTES

Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph [ BR#E 18+ (Chairman /&)

Executive Director
HITE

Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom

Non-Executive Director
FHTES

Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles

Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest 5843 5 4 + 2 REE BB IS L
Mr Chan Shu Kin BR 15 B 5 4 (Deputy Chairman & Mr Chan Yiu Lun, Alan FR 28 5t 4
Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph 28 485 & Managing Director (Alternate to
Mr Li Chang An Z= & %2 5% & BIF EFEZ) Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles
B E % E 1)

In July 2010, Mr Chan Yiu Lun, Alan was appointed as an alternate
director to Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles. There was no other
appointment of director during the year. Brief biographical details
of the above directors are set out on pages 36 to 40 of this annual
report and are also available on PYI website — www.pyicorp.com.

For all newly appointed directors, a comprehensive and tailored
induction programme is administered to ensure full awareness

of responsibilities under statute and common law, PY| Code of
Conduct, the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements and
the business and governance policies of the Group.

The majority composition of independent non-executive directors
(including one who has appropriate professional qualifications,

or accounting or related financial management expertise, as
required by the Listing Rules) ensures that the Board has a
strong independent element to exercise independent judgement
and provide sufficient check and balance for the interests of all
shareholders.

Pursuant to the requirement in the Listing Rules, the Company
has received a written confirmation from each independent non-
executive director of his independence to the Company. The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive directors
to be independent.

Each of the Board members is totally unrelated to each other and
with the senior management in every aspect including financial,
business, or family except the father and son relationship between
Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles and his alternate director, Mr Chan
Yiu Lun, Alan.
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All Board members have complied with the requirement of
Securities and Futures Ordinance regarding disclosure of their
respective interests in PYI and its associated corporations during
the year. PYI directors’ interests and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures of PYl and its associated
corporations are disclosed in the Directors’ Report on pages 80
and 81 of this annual report.

Further, each director is required to make disclosure of his
interests or potential conflict of interests, if any, in any proposed
transactions or issues discussed by the directors at the Board
meetings (and abstained from voting on the relevant resolution as
appropriate) and to notify changes in personal particulars to the
Company in a timely manner. During the year, no directors have
interest or potential interest in any proposed transactions or issues
except their own remuneration on which they had abstained from
voting.

Further, as stipulated by PYI's bye-laws, each director (including
non-executive director) is required to retire by rotation at least once
every three years and thus seek re-election at the annual general
meeting; and any directors appointed during the year by the Board
following the recommendation of the Nomination Committee stand
for election at the first general meeting after their appointment.

In the forthcoming annual general meeting, Dr Chow Ming Kuen,
Joseph, Mr Chan Shu Kin and Mr Li Chang An will retire by
rotation. Except Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph who did not offer
himself for re-election, the remaining retiring directors, being
eligible, seek re-election. The respective biographies of the retiring
directors offer for re-election are set out in the Letter of our Board
in the circular for re-election of directors.

FRA MEEERKERETESRRAEGRIIZEZXR
BEREEERRELEABEBNED - REEER
REE R EREBOAE 2 By R M AE 75 RO 2R Nk
BHNANFREORBIENERRMESTA
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ENNGEER(TAEEE BRI THEBRBERBERR
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N-BREZ2ES (FREFCHERER) N XEE
EREARBER S HNFET S LMt BTN

FI KRREZ ARMARRE - BUESE (BIEIFNTT
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SUCCESSFUL RE-ELECTION AT 2010 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
JERIFZE2010F RFBF ARG LEERE

Retired by rotation Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom, Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest and Mr Leung Po Wing,
WERE Bowen Joseph
BAERAE FORBRAEERPELEEE

v/ aterm of approximately three years until the conclusion of the annual general
meeting to be held in 2013
FEA=5F  HEE2013FRRBAFRGLERALLE

In addressing the interest of PYI shareholders, PYI has emphasised REBBRERREONGZ RE-—HRIEARERAR

transparency and accountability. Fittingly, the Group’s goal has M AEETHEEHEERE  HEHEFRZEBROAL
been conducting businesses that are overseen by those with broad EEBLHEDNRE  TARTEHRBEINER - R
experience while maintaining objectivity and independent views. KERRATEBULEOER REFFHAHOBE D A
Endeavouring to clearly delineate positions of responsibility, the M ENRALTEE - (REXERBIHOBE @A T

Chairman and Managing Director of PYI are held by two separate
individuals. Set out below are the respective responsibilities of the
Chairman and the Managing Director of PYI.

CHAIRMAN MANAGING DIRECTOR
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph F R+ Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom 8l5 R &4
Responsibilities v/ Provides leadership for the Board v Leads the management
BE HEEREREER HEEEE
v/ Responsible for overseeing the v Formulates operational strategies
functioning of the Board and policies, as well as manages the
BRERSZF=RTEBENEE Group’s day-to-day operations
FIELERMEBRAREEREE
8 B BEfE

As a commitment to good corporate governance, the Chairman of ER—EHRIFPEERNAR REFFEET N

PY! has, in particular, performed the following tasks: BT -
v/ ensured that the Board works effectively and discharges its /O WREZREBERCHLEE G BEITEBRE  WER
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are MM BEZERBEFTEETIR S &

discussed by the Board in a timely manner; and B N B .
Vo OHEERTER (BEBIINTES)BTER A

v/ hold meetings with the non-executive directors (including BEBITERIFE -
independent non-executive directors) without the presence of
executive director.
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In order to ensure that the Board plays an effective role in steering
the Group to do businesses in the interest of shareholders,

a schedule of Board and Board committees meetings to be
conducted within the next financial year are issued well in advance
to all members, thus well-facilitating more participation by the
directors in every meetings. Within the year, 8 Board meetings
were held of which one was convened to consider and approve

a very substantial disposal transaction in January 2011. Most
directors recorded 75% or more attendance in regular Board and
Board committees meetings held during the year in which four
directors recorded 100% attendance as indicated in the following
table.

Constantly striving to achieve greater transparency and
accountability to PYI shareholders, PYI has established five

Board committees, namely, the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee, Compliance Committee, and
Share Repurchase Committee; each having specific roles, authority
and functions as detailed in the respective written terms of
reference which are available on PYI website — www.pyicorp.com.

REAREFRAMMBEEURRANER/E  RERAK
SENAE T AMBFECEZRREEREZEE
MEeERHERBRERXGEERNE  SEEMEFRY
A2EMBEE - FR KBTI TBREREREH A
—RBPR20NFIAZE R E-—RIFEFERNHEEE -
BT RAT  RBNEERFARTHNEERES S
ENEERZECERAO%IA LHEEE  MAH
PO & 3 100%H) H & & o

BRERERFEBEESEREMESHEENR  RED
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF MEETINGS
B E R

Board committees EERZEE

Share

Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination Compliance  Repurchase  Shareholders

EZR B i RE iy R4 BR
Number of meetings held during the year
FRETEERY 8 5 3 1 2 0 2
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BIFHTES
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph E##fE+ 8/8 5/5 3/3 1N 2/2 12
Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Emest 35/ % 4 6/8 4/5 2/3 1 2/2 202
Mr Chan Shu Kin P 828 4 8/8 5/5 212 000 212
Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph 2 E & 5t £ 8/8 4/5 33 1/2
MrLi Chang An £ E &5 H& 6/8 0/2
Executive Director
BITES
Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom 2l R % & 8/8 3/3 17 0/0 2/2
Non-Executive Director
FyES
Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles BB % & 7/8 112

(with Mr Chan Yiu Lun, Alan as alternate

Group Legal Counsel and Company Secretary
SEERAERAANE
Mr Ko Hiu Fung = 18 5t £ 2/2 22

Regarding the principles, procedures, and arrangements for
regular meetings, the Board committees have adopted, to a large
extent, the same principles, procedures, and arrangements as that
of a full Board meeting. The minutes for all of the regular Board
and Board committee meetings are recorded in sufficient detail
and are kept by the Company Secretary, and will be subsequently
distributed to each director within a reasonable time period so as
to ensure the prompt execution of decisions made. In the event
where independent professional advice is required, the seeking of
such advice must abide by pre-approved procedures.
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The following tables show the composition of Board committees, AT RBERR2010/11TTBRFEEEREZ S GHIHER
their respective roles and functions and a summary and/or report HAacmBg k ETERE /3RS
of the works performed by them during the financial year 2010/11:

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

yFHEES
Composition Independent Non-Executive Directors Executive Director
R BUYKHTES HTES
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph &I B #1& + (Chairman £ /%) + Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom lg R % 4
Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Emest 3542856 4
Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph Z2Z % % 4
Role & Function v/ Reviews the remuneration policy of the Company
AR AT AR B Hr BN R
v/ Makes recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for all remuneration
of directors and senior management and on the establishment of formal and transparent
procedures for developing a policy on such remuneration
MEEZHESRBTEEBNTNHRERERE  URATIEZSMESESK  RE—EEHRmEA
FHENREN  MEERELEBER
v Determines the specific remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment
AREMBATEENEREEENARTMH SEEYIE  EREEMNLBESH(B1EAR
RER AR I EB B R Z EMEN N EMFEES)
v/ Makes recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive directors
MERREZRIENITEFOH M
Summary of work v Recommended the aggregate amount of directors’ fees for shareholders’ approval at 2010
performed annual general meeting
ITERE EREESNSAHE  HREA010FRRBF A LiE

v Reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of Managing Director and senior
management in line with market remuneration packages level
IaT RALE BT IS H NS K RN A R R EREN a2

v Approved the reward strategy for the implementation of the approved corporate strategy
BOAE BEEDBRS - DABRTT A A A A 1h ZE B RS
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The director’s fee was determined with reference to factors
including the prevailing market conditions, salary paid by
comparable companies, the duties and responsibilities of
the director, employment conditions elsewhere and the time
committed by the director.

A performance-based element was considered instrumental in
aligning the interests of individuals with those of the Group and has
been built into top-management compensation.

PYI has adopted its own reward strategy which forms an integral
part of its remuneration policy and the basis for future awards to
employees. The key aspects of such reward strategy include:

v/ 1o attract and retain talents, base pay and benefits will be
market competitive;

v/ to support the growth strategy of the Group, short-term and
long-term performance-based rewards will be emphasized;

v/ to align employees’ interest with that of shareholders, the
performance-based rewards will either be equity-based and/
or cash-based; and

v/ equity-based and/or cash reward will be considered in the
light of an employee’s level of responsibility and influence on
the Group’s performance and share price.

PYI effectively deployed the appropriate mix of its existing equity-
based reward vehicles, including the share option scheme, share
award scheme and share financing plan, and cash bonus.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
REZES

Composition Independent Non-Executive Directors Executive Director
A BYEHTES HITES
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph [& B8 #& 8 £ (Chairman £ /%) + Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom 215 & 5% 4
Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Emest 2§ 48 5t &

Mr Chan Shu Kin BR18E2 & 4 Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles R 318+
(Alternate to Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest (Alternate to Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom

B %) EHAEREAL)

Role & Function v Reviews the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
A& R of the Board on a regular basis and make recommendations to the Board regarding any
proposed changes
EHRNEERMNERE  AZBRAK (BEREE  MELERIE)  UHEMRIEZSRES
R R

v/ ldentifies individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select, or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships
VEEBAEBRNABARERES kMBI EEZR/REAKEEBVALTHIES

v/ Assesses the independence of independent non-executive directors
IR FEMITE F BT

v/ Makes recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or
re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors, in particular, the Chairman
and Managing Director
MEEREHEESZAXENEZTE URES(LESEFEAR) BETEIERANER

Summary of work v Nominated the retiring directors for re-election by shareholders at 2010 annual general

performed meeting
IHERE REREEZE2010FRRBFRG FBEBEMT

v/ Considered and recommended to the Board the appointment of Mr Chan Yiu Lun, Alan as
an alternate director to Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles
ZRIWMEZEBEFRELEZERBREBLESRERETNEEES

v/ Reviewed and assessed individual independent non-executive director’'s annual confirmation
of independence declared pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
FB RATRB M IEMITE R IRRC LR B FEIAMGATR R FEH 7R K
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In respect of nomination of directors, PY| adopted the following procedure:
MEFZIREG  RERMNTIRER :

( Nomination Committee \

makes recommendations
to the Board regarding any
proposed changes
RAZ B RAEMEE
HPREZRRLESR

./

( Nomination Committee \ ( Nomination Committee \ ( The Board makes formal \

indentifies individuals selects or makes invitation to selected
suitably qualified to recommendations to the persons for appointment
become directors Board on the selection of to the Board
P> erzEeneAl > > persons nominated for > EEpEEkEAL
BEEERATETE directorships BHEAZEEMIERN
EMATL REZEgGHERM R
EERHEB@AAL
HEES

./ ./

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
EREEE
Composition Independent Non-Executive Director Company Secretary
AR BYEHTES ARWE
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph [& B3 18 £ (ChairmanZ /%) Mr Ko Hiu Fung /= B £ 5 4
Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Emest 3§ 48 4t &
Mr Chan Shu Kin F# i B 50 4
Role & Function v Oversees the Company’s compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements of its
A business operations
EEANAEEREEF L ERERE AR ENER
v/ Reviews and approves the Company’s code of conduct and/or business ethics, policies and
prevailing corporate governance practices and standards, and oversees their implementation
and compliance
e R ERRRNITATRI R/ FERT  BERERRITEEEREREL  WERTMNE
e KB <P IE R
Summary of work v/ Review of Corporate Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2010
performed FHEE2010F3A31B IEFE 2 BEEAME)
ITHRE
v Review of the compliance reports on the Code of Conduct of PYI
EHRETATAUNERBURE
v/ Review of updated compliance reports of the Company and its major PRC subsidiaries

submitted by Company Secretary
EBERHAAWEFEZARAREFEEZNBATNENERERTRE
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SHARE REPURCHASE COMMITTEE

ROEBEES
Composition Independent Non-Executive Director 1 Executive Director
AR BYFHTES + HITES
Mr Chan Shu Kin FRI51E2 5L & (ChairmanZ /) Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom 25 & % &
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph EIBR#E 18+
(Alternate to Mr Chan Shu Kin
EIFHELY)

Role & Function v/ Exercises the general mandate granted by shareholders to the Board to repurchase shares of
AR PYIin accordance with the Listing Rules, PYI’s bye-laws and the applicable laws of Bermuda

BIECEMAAD - REAFTMAUARAREBEREE (TERREEEETBLBERERND Z2ES
Summary of work v/ During the year, no meeting was held by the Share Repurchase Committee.
performed RER RONEBEZESGITEAFEE -
IERE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
EREES

Composition
A E

4 Independent Non Executive Directors

Mr Chan Shu Kln %T Ti%i* (ChairmanZ: /&)
Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph EIBA# 18+
Mr Kwok Shiu Keung, Emest 38 28 %t &
Mr Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph 22 & 58 % 4

Mr Chan Shu Kin currently is a certified public accountant with extensive experience in auditing, accounting and
financial management services.
BT RS R B — B E SN (E1ZE - B R BERRE T H 0L S5

Role & Function
£ & B 5 R

Appoints external auditor
RSN RZ BIAD

Reviews the Group’s financial information
EHANEBI B ER

Oversees the Group’s financial reporting system and internal control procedures
BB ARG B B RS R R I E M N B I AR

Reviews the interim and final results of the Group prior to recommending them to the Board
for approval
ERRGEZRHEZAEBASE P BRMRAEE

Meets regularly to review financial reporting and internal control matters and to this end has
unrestricted access to both the Company’s external and internal auditors

TE A A%Bﬁﬁﬂ%EﬁaﬁWﬂW*ﬁﬁﬁ FH ZESUANENMERMRARD R INE R A EZE
B BN 1S B 22

Report on work
performed
ITHHRE

Reviewed unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and audited annual
consolidated financial statements of the Group with a recommendation to the Board for
approval

EHAEERLEEZNTRGEVBRRNEEZNORBEEWBRE  UEZEFRA

Reviewed internal control and risk management framework of the Group
B BN 5 A EB R ) K L B B IR AE 2R

Received and reviewed progress reports on internal control, risk management and internal
audit actions implemented/planned by the Group
ERREHASES  BEREERAEEMERNGEINATET TIEERRS

Approved audit fee proposal of external auditor in connection with the audit of the Group’s
2010 final results
BOEINEZEM A TR AN EE2010F R EEFMTERNIZEE

Approved review fee proposal of external auditor in connection with the review of the Group’s
2011 interim results
BESNEZ SR E AR B0 FR A EENEZNENE

Approved the engagement of non-audit services relating to the very substantial disposal that
over HK$500,000
BREMIEEERNEEREIRZBRG  MAERGERAEEA T8 T

Recommended the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the Group’s external
auditor at 2010 AGM
EHER2010FMRERFARE LEREEEE « BEM T 2T ARERINEZEED

Met with external auditor in the absence of executives of the Group
EREAREEEBABESNERT @ & RINEZERD
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain
and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control to ensure that PY| shareholders’ investment and PYI’s
assets are safeguarded. Such system of internal control was
developed by making reference to the Internal Control Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in the United States in 1992
and the Guide on Internal Control and Risk Management issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Management is responsible for the design and implementation of
the internal control system of the Group to achieve the following
business objectives:

v/ Effectiveness and efficiency of operations
v/ Reliability of financial reporting
v Compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Such system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and aims to provide a
reasonable, as opposed to an absolute, assurance in this respect.

The Audit Committee performs review of the effectiveness

of the Group’s system of internal control and reports to the
Board regularly. This review covers areas of material control
including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk
management systems.

EERRREHAEENNETRZRORE HER
BAERBENEE  ARBRERRHRE RIRE
EEMNZ S - LA EE R R 2 E X ECommittee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO)M1992F R thll 2 N EBEL1F iR & IER R BB G FHED
NEHNE e R E R EIRIESI TR -

EREAERFTERTASENAMEE R UER
THEBBIE

o AR RAREREE
v AERENIIER
/o ETERERERA

HEREEEEMIPEREBREEEEH B FNRR -
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To cope with the risks associated with the achievement of its
business objectives in a continually changing environment, the
Group has recognized the importance of risk management and has
performed risk assessment to evaluate the nature and extent of the
risks to which it is exposed. During the risk assessment process,
the Group was able to identify the key risks facing the Group. The
risks are prioritized according to the likelihood of their occurrence
and the significance of their impact on the businesses of the Group
and risk management measures are in place to manage the risks
to an acceptance level.

To support management in responding to risks arising from the
complex and changing business environment, regular trainings are
provided to our management to strengthen their awareness of risk
and capability to manage risks. The trainings provided this year
mainly included topics such as updates on latest development on
the rules and regulations in Mainland China, financial derivatives
and fault risks identification and management and how to mitigate
risks through insurance.

In addition, one of the subsidiaries in Hangzhou, being PYI's
Mainland regional support centre, has obtained ISO9001 — Quality
Management Systems certification during the year. This regional
support centre aims to provide high quality and standard company
management services to PYI's other business units in Mainland in
areas of financial management, internal audit, legal and compliance
etc.

62 FYIC) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report

RENETHRENKERETRAERKLLEENMEL
WER  NEE®RRATEREENEZUHILETRERET
HEHEANEEREYRRAEE MEE - ERRF
HBEFR  AEEENETAEERENIZAR &
LEBRERBEEIAENEENEAHAREXBNZEDN
BREVEEITHE T - R BR E IR AR i B A ) E R R AR
EAEEZMEER

EHEMZENZERRE ST HIHERERRILEN
Rk AREHAEREREMEBNEI - AIEEER
REBMERZEGEROES NFEARMERER
HOBINEBZBRBRERIERNEHER - 28T
A R AN SR B R O BB B BB IR - ARVERGEBIR
R0 B L i <

o RERBIAMZER LD —RERMMNBHE R
AR FREFISO001 —BEEEHI B RMWRAFE - ARER
B EMEBRESEZRREENANILERRS - 7
HRERBEVISEER WEER  AERARS @ -



Management at business units level is required to perform control
self assessments annually to assess the effectiveness of their
systems of internal control. The control self assessment is in the
form of questionnaire that sets out key factors in each of the five
components of the COSO Internal Control Integrated framework.
These five interrelated components are Control Environment, Risk
Assessment, Control Activities, Information & Communication and
Monitoring.

The control self assessment has not only facilitated the
identification of control deficiencies, it has also enhanced
management’s awareness of risk and control. In addition to the
control self assessment, management has also conducted an
annual review of the Company’s policies and procedures to ensure
that they are still effective and adequate.

During the year, PYI has recruited external consultant to review
its overall internal control system, by benchmarking with COSO
Internal Control Framework, in order to identify areas for further
improvement. The review helps PYI consciously enhance the
effectiveness of its internal control system.

Besides, the Internal Audit Department has carried out
independent audits to evaluate the effectiveness of the Group’s
system of internal control according to the approved three-year
internal audit plan for the Group. This audit plan covered the
financial years from 2008/09 till 2010/11 and it was determined
using a risk-based approach and is re-assessed annually to ensure
adequate audit resources are deployed and the objectives of the
plan are met.

Finally, management has formulated remedial action plan for gaps
and weaknesses identified during the control self assessments
and internal audit. The Internal Audit Department has conducted
follow-up review periodically to ensure remedial actions are
implemented on a timely basis and has reported the results of the
review to the Audit Committee.

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Board was not aware of
any significant issues that would have an adverse impact on the
effectiveness and adequacy of the internal control system of the
Group.
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The Board has, through the Audit Committee, reviewed the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of

the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget, and was satisfied with the results
of the review.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The internal audit department of PYI has been set up in November
2007 which is headed by the Group Internal Audit Senior Manager
and reports directly to the Audit Committee of PYI. It plays an
important role in the internal governance of PYI Group. With the
assistance from external internal audit consultant, the internal audit
department is primarily responsible for conducting review and
audit on the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control
periodically.

The internal audit department is independent from operational
management and is fully empowered to access to data required in
performing the internal audit review. Moreover, the department is
comprised of well qualified and capable staff and is provided with
adequate resources to perform its duties.

PYI internal audit department uses risk-based approach to develop
its three-year internal audit strategic plan which guides and

directs the internal audit assignments over the periods. The plan

is re-assessed annually to ensure adequate audit resources are
deployed and the objectives of the plan are met. This three-year
strategic plan and its annually re-assessment are both approved
by the Audit Committee. In the year 2011, the PYI internal audit
department has completed its first three-year internal audit strategic
plan. A new internal audit strategic plan has been formulated for
the coming three years so as to keep the continuity of the internal
audit functions in internal governance of the Group.

During the year 2010/2011, the internal audit department

has conducted audits and reviews according to the internal
audit strategic plan. During the process of audits, the internal
audit department identified internal control weakness, made
recommendations for improvement, obtained remedial action
plan of management and followed up remedial status of the
management action plan and its timeliness. During the year,
PYI (Hangzhou) has obtained ISO9001:2008 certification. In the
certification process, the internal audit department performed
an ad hoc internal audit review to PYI (Hangzhou) to ensure its
compliance to the certification requirements.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) has been re-appointed as
the Company’s external auditor at 2010 annual general meeting
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting. The Audit
Committee in its meeting on 20 June 2011 recommended the
re-appointment of Deloitte as the Company’s external auditor at
2011 annual general meeting and the Board has adopted the

same view as that of the Audit Committee.

In order to maintain independence, Deloitte is primarily responsible
for providing audit services in connection with the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, and only provides non-audit
services that do not impair their independence or objectivity and

are approved by the Audit Committee.

SN R BH T

e BB &5HERT ((EH)) B R2010F B RAF
ARG LWENEERARASNELEE - H3 T —ER
REFABHERAL - FRZBEN2011F6A0A2E
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RIEHZBRS ARTERFTEBIUERTE N X
BABRRZ BSHENIFRBRT -

REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE TO DELOITTE FOR AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

ENRENTFREHNRBRIZBREMHS

2011 2010

HK$°000 HK$'000

Services Rendered 12 A0 IR 35 FERT FHET

Audit services ZE RS 7,554 7,202
Non-audit services FERZ B AR 75

Taxation advisory %5 315 285

Special engagements HEZRE 4,120 4,432

Total ] 11,989 11,919
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In 2010, the Group continued to discharge its corporate social
responsibility in many areas, both internally and towards the
community.

Our most notable contribution in the year is the participation of
our employees in two fund raising campaigns in Hong Kong — the
Artistes 414 Fund Raising Campaign for the victims of the massive
earthquake in Qinghai and the Artistes 311 Love Beyond Borders
for the victims of the massive earthquake and tsunami along the
east coast of Japan. We witnessed the destruction caused by
both disasters and our hearts are with those who suffered the loss
of their homes and their families. To contribute to the rebuilding of
their lives, PYI encouraged and supported our management and
staff’s efforts to participate and to contribute their professional
skills to the success of these campaigns. Their efforts, combined
with those of the Hong Kong citizens, raised the much-needed
funds for the victims. We sincerely support the culture of
volunteering amongst our staff and will continue to support their
efforts in the years to come.

In the beginning of 2011, PYl is honored to have provided Nantong
and Wuhan students the opportunity to widen their horizons here.
PYI sponsored two study tours to Hong Kong for 60 outstanding
secondary school students from Nantong for the fifth year and
Wuhan for the third year. These tours were aimed at educating the
students on the educational and commercial operations in Hong
Kong with the continual belief in growing the potential of the next
generation. PY| organized trips to universities in Hong Kong and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. After the tours, an impressive
percentage of the students, who are among the top students in
their home towns, chose to pursue their tertiary education in Hong
Kong.
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At PYI, our businesses are intricately connected to the
environment. With a sense of social responsibility towards the
environment, we supported the global “Earth Hour” campaigned
by World Wide Fund (“WWF”) by turning off the non-essential lights
in our office for an hour at 8:30 p.m. on 26 March 2011. We also
encouraged our staff to support “Earth Hour” through our internal
communications. In appreciation of our efforts, PYl is pleased to
have received thanks from the WWF.

While PYI remains committed to the good of the society, both
locally and regionally, we are also focused on caring for our staff’s
well being. We encourage our staff to maintain a healthy work-life
balance and continue to support their efforts towards voluntary
work. In addition, PY! is proud to be accredited, for the third year
running, with the Caring Company Award by The Hong Kong
Council of Social Service.

As we progress into the new fiscal year, PYl would like to maintain
our focus to be a responsible and caring corporate citizen,
contributing to the community while driving profitability for our
shareholders.

By Order of the Board

Ko Hiu Fung
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 24 June 2011

ERZE RMNTEEAREEZTAEHNEE 28
HRENH SRR RMEEattAeAES ([
Eg)ERMNEBIRM[HIK—/NE]/EE) - 20116326
HEe F8RFS0D R —/N\EFRNER A EHE FIENBHE N -
BAIINEBAIPE - BEE TEEHEk—/ N\ EF -
BILRERE At RSB MG - EBBRMNE S -

RELRFE LR R BB E TN E T SR -
TEEE TR OEE - RPSEE THFRETEN
TEEBREBEHEBEB TE- 1IN HPERES
—HERETEMERBBMERB AARBIRI LR &K
RASE K

BAHMOTRFEE  BERRFRBMNZH  REGBN
BERHE  BRRA—EREERBEENEEAR -

e

b

EEERD

NAEfE

5121

EFH 0 2011466 H24H

>y geemaras 015w 67



The Board is committed to enhancing value for our shareholders
through sustainable growth. This section serves to provide
information relating to our shareholders.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK1 cent per share for the year ended 31 March
2011 (2010: Nil) to shareholders whose names appear on PYI’s
register of members as at the close of business on Wednesday,
28 September 2011. Subject to the approval of PYI shareholders
in the 2011 Annual General Meeting to be held on Friday, 16
September 2011, the final dividend is expected to be paid to
shareholders by post on or around Friday, 28 October 2011.

The final dividend will be paid in cash, with PYI shareholders
being offered an opportunity to re-invest in PYI by receiving PYI
shares in lieu of cash in respect of part or all of such dividend. The
market value of the shares to be issued under the scrip dividend
proposal will be fixed by reference to the average of the closing
prices of PYI shares for the three consecutive trading days ending
Wednesday, 28 September 2011 less a discount of five per cent
of such average price or the par value of shares, whichever is the
higher. The proposed scrip dividend is conditional upon The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited granting approval for the listing
of, and permission to deal in, the new shares to be issued.

SPECIAL DIVIDEND

Following the completion of the disposal of 50.1% interest in
Yangkou Port Co in May 2011 and taken into account of the gross
proceeds of the 50% consideration, PYI has returned to a net cash
position. The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a
special cash dividend of HK2 cents per share for the year ending
31 March 2012 and, together with the final dividend, making up

a total of HK3 cents per share, to shareholders whose names
appear on PYI’s register of members as at the close of business
on Wednesday, 28 September 2011.

The special dividend is also subject to the approval of PYI
shareholders in the 2011 Annual General Meeting to be held on
Friday, 16 September 2011, and is also expected to be paid to
shareholders by post on or around Friday, 28 October 2011.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of PY! will be closed during the period
from Monday, 26 September 2011 to Wednesday, 28 September
2011, both dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of
share(s) of PYI will be effected. In order to qualify for both of the
final dividend and the special dividend, all transfer of share(s),
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) with the
completed transfer form(s) with overleaf or separately, must be
lodged with PY!I’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries
Limited at 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:00 p.m. on Friday, 23
September 2011.

SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholdings as recorded in the PYI register of members as at 31
March 2011

EENERRELTFE

REEPH2011F9H26H (2 —) £201149A28H (&
H=)(RitEeRME) EEREREESTE BT
FELEMRERD 2EE - AEIRARIR SRR
BE - FMERMNDBEXHEREBHEKRERBEZE AL
WY ZBPR®E  REAMN2011F9H238 (28 H) T
THNENRBREZEERNHDBFPFELEEEWMER
BERABUEER - it BEBET 25 RER285%
& §E (B AR L 26HE o
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R2011F3 AT A B IRER LMz BERFR S

% of % of issued
Size of No. of shareholders share capital
registered shareholdings shareholders 1EIRREE No. of shares 2 BITRA
ERRRERE RERHHE Botk IR 2 E BaL
500 or belowsk A T 328 56.75% 42,831 0.00%
501 - 1,000 88 5.71% 24,820 0.00%
1,001 — 10,000 114 19.72% 395,984 0.01%
10,001 — 100,000 68 11.77% 2,347,871 0.05%
100,001 - 1,000,000 24 4.15% 6,348,815 0.14%
1,000,001 — 10,000,000 7 1.21% 25,332,037 0.56%
10,000,001 - 100,000,000 - - - -
Above 100,000,0008% A 4* 0.69% 4,494,632,776 99.24%
Total #&5t 578 100.00% 4,529,125,134 100.00%
* The four shareholders were: ZORIRER D R
1 HKSCC Nominees Limited BREPREE (RIEA) BRAF
DCP/GCP HEGEE cEEESEE 2,626,933,019 58.00%
Custodians BN 503,530,733 11.12%
Investors ©EE 21,469,927 0.48%
Others HAtb 521 0.00%
3,151,934,200 " 69.60%
2 Hollyfield Group Limited 995,039,069 21.97%
3 Jadeview Limited 200,781,000 4.43%
4 Rich Concept Investments Limited 146,863,544 3.24%
4,494,617,813 99.24%
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A The breakdown of the shareholding in the name of HKSCC Nominees Limited was N BBERREE (REBA)BRAFETREMIENEKHE BCCASSZ

obtained from the record shown in the CCASS Participants Shareholding Report (“PSH HERMCHEBER (2RERMBR]) - 2REROGBRATUE
Report”). The number of shares registered in HKSCC Nominees Limited as shown in BRREE (REBN)BRARDEEECHRMEE BRERTEM
the PSH Report is different from that shown on the PYI register of members because Fim&BZH & E{ECCASSE # 17 & 2 12 Ik 77 ACCASSHE # 17
some shares withdrawn from or deposited into the CCASS depository had not yet BRI D RGD MAREH B ©

been re-registered.

Top three shareholders according to disclosure of interest under 201153 H31H » RIBE(E S LB E R AWE T
the Securities and Futures Ordinance as at 31 March 2011 A =B RE

% of issued
share capital

Name of shareholders No. of shares HEBTRA
BRERE BHEE Bt
1 Hollyfield Group Limited 1,213,537,695 26.79%
2 OZ Management L.P. 490,120,467 10.82%
3 Third Avenue Management LLC 475,758,107 10.50%
Total 45t 2,179,416,269 48.11%
FINANCIAL CALENDAR Bt % B &

Event Date
=15 A &3
2010 final results announced 16/07/2010
EM2010F REAESA

2010 PYI AGM 10/09/2010
2010RERFBFAE

2011 interim results announced 26/11/2010
EM2011FHREZELE

2011 final results announced and final and 24/06/2011

special dividends proposed
M0 FREFEE LR AR R RIS

2011 PYI AGM 16/09/2011
201 1RERRBFRE

2011 final dividend of HK1 cent/share payable Around #J 28/10/2011
IEREE2011 F AR BILREAR S

2012 special dividend of HK2 cents/share payable Around #JR 28/10/2011
IEEE201 2 G AR RIAR 2
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SHARE INFORMATION
SHARE LISTING

PYI shares were first listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on

21 September 1993.

STOCK CODE

Hong Kong Stock Exchange
American Depository Receipt
Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Board lot

SECURITIES IN ISSUE

Shares

As at 31 March 2011
As at 24 June 2011

Outstanding share options™
As at 31 March 2011
As at 24 June 2011

*

Share Price

IR1E

HK$
AT

0.8 —

06 —

02—

Full details can be found in the Directors’

498
PYIFY
PYW

2,000 shares

4,529,125,134 shares
4,529,125,134 shares

128,455,237 options
62,276,668 options

Report at pages 75 to 77 of this report.

B ER
B £

IRERD 1993 FE9 A1 B B IR EB B S L o

IR AR 55
BEER B
EEFERES
ERRAER ST

R
HA201143/31H
201146 H24H

FESETd:1,¢
HA201143/31H
201146 H24H

HIE2HAFRECETACEFTRAMES -

498
PYIFY
PYW

2,0008%

4,529,125,134/%
4,529,125,134/%

128,455,2371n
62,276,66817

Share price (cum dividend)
AR(E (& R)

— Share price (ex dividend)
BB (K2

mi7““\MMf_mNJMv_Ak_wV_JxﬂN,A_/ﬁ——r~wﬂ\~»~\f\
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MARKET CAPITALISATION
TOTAL MARKET CAPITALISATION

As at 31 March 2011
As at 24 June 2011

Public float capitalisation*

As at 31 March 2011
As at 24 June 2011

HK$1.31 billion
HK$1.61 billion

HK$622 million
HK$935 million

*  Public excludes all connected persons (including substantial shareholders and

directors) of PYI.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESRBREE

The directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of PY| Corporation
Limited (“PYI” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities as at 31 March 2011 are set out in note 57 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2011 are set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 90 of this annual report and in the
accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

No interim dividend was declared during the year.

The directors recommended for shareholders’ approval the
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2011 of
HK1 cent per share in cash with a scrip option to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members on 28
September 2011. The estimated total sum payable in respect of
this final dividend is approximately HK$45,291,000.

On 24 June 2011, the directors further recommended for
shareholders’ approval a special cash dividend for the year ending
31 March 2012 of HK2 cents per share to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members on 28 September 2011,
amounting to a total sum of approximately HK$90,582,000.

Details of the distribution are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the five largest customers
and the single largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 53% and 21% of the turnover of the Group
respectively. The aggregate purchases attributable to the five
largest suppliers of the Group during the year were less than 30%
of the purchases of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, as far as the directors are aware, none
of the directors and their associates within the meaning of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), or those shareholders
which to the knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital, have an interest in any of the five largest
customers of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERBEE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group currently maintains a variety of credit facilities to

meet its working capital requirements. As at 31 March 2011,

the Group’s total borrowings (including amounts reclassified as
held for sale) amounted to approximately HK$3,297,927,000
with approximately HK$1,667,419,000 repayable within one
year (including HK$409,739,000 reclassified as held for sale),
approximately HK$1,630,508,000 repayable after one year
(including HK$872,921,000 reclassified as held for sale). Cash,
bank balances and deposits as at 31 March 2011 amounted to
approximately HK$1,240,949,000 (including HK$128,341,000
reclassified as held for sale). The Group’s current ratio (calculated
as total current assets divided by total current liabilities) was 1.46
and the debt to equity ratio (calculated as total borrowings divided
by equity attributable to owners of the Company) was 0.73 as at
31 March 2011.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$331,529,000
on property, plant and equipment, mainly for construction of ports.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group transferred approximately
HK$111,691,000 from project under development to investment
properties and incurred additions of approximately HK$38,356,000
to investment properties. All investment properties were revalued
at the year end date.

Details of these and other movements in the investment properties
of the Group during the year are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the issued share capital of the
Company during the year.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES
1. Share Option Scheme

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme adopted
on 27 August 2002 (the “Share Option Scheme”) are set out in
note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2011, an aggregate of 128,455,237 shares are
issuable for options granted under the Share Option Scheme,
representing 2.84% of the then existing issued share capital of
the Company (i.e. 4,529,125,134 shares).

As at the date of this report, an aggregate of 62,276,668
shares are issuable for options granted under the Share Option
Scheme, representing 1.38% of the issued capital of the
Company (i.e. 4,529,125,134 shares) on that date.

Details of movements in the share options granted under the
Share Option Scheme during the year are as follows:

Number of shares issuable under the options granted

R RETE

1.

BB RS 8

BREARLQEIRN20026F8 527 B iR 2 ERR & ([ 78
BeiEst 8 )) 2 FBHEIINER A B 75 MR M 146 ©

R2011F3A31H  RIFEREAZFERL A ETR
128,455,287 Iy M R1TE < B E - B R H
RO IE AR QRS BB BT (814,529,125,134 8% i%

D) H2.84% o

RAHEZH  REBEREFSERT A XTRE
62,276,668 &0 M D R1TE < BRHE - P LA H
AR RZ BB #EITIRA (B14,529,125,134% f% 17)

#91.38% °

RENREBEREASRL ZCBREZEBHFENT

RERHBRELTRTHROBE
Exercise Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
price as at during as at Exercise
Grantee Date of grant per share 1.4.2010 the year 31.3.2011 period
71.4.2010 #381.3.2011
AEA REHBH BRITEE jef R AT £ FRXK jef R AT £ TR
HK$
BT
Directors
Bs
Lau Ko Yuen,Tom 28.12.2004 0.43762 18,416,666 - 18,416,666 28.12.2004 -
ZmR 26.8.2012
28.12.2004 0.52940 18,416,666 - 18,416,666 28.12.2004 -
26.8.2012
18.9.2007 1.25151 11,050,000 (11,050,000) - 18.9.2009 -
17.9.2010
Chan Shu Kin 28.12.2004 0.43762 1,841,666 - 1,841,666 28.12.2004 -
PR 15 B2 26.8.2012
28.12.2004 0.52940 1,841,666 - 1,841,666 28.12.2004 -
26.8.2012
Leung Po Wing, 8.9.2006 0.85762 3,683,334 - 3,683,334 8.9.2006 -
Bowen Joseph 26.8.2012
Li Chang An 6.2.2007 1.05881 3,683,334 - 3,683,334 6.2.2007 -
FERL 26.8.2012
Sub-total /N5t : 58,933,332 (11,050,000) 47,883,332
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EERHEE
SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES - continued R RETE &
1. Share Option Scheme - continued 1. BREE &
Number of shares issuable under the options granted
BRERLERESTRITHROHE
Exercise Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
price as at during as at Exercise
Grantee Date of grant per share 1.4.2010 the year 31.3.2011 period
#1.4.2010 731.3.2011
ARA REAH BRITEE i R AT B8 FRERK i) R 47 B8 TS
HK$
BT
Employees
3=
Hong Kong 1.8.2007 1.58821 425,000 (425,000) - 1.8.2009 -
BB 31.7.2010
3.6.2008 0.70584 5,666,666 - 5,666,666 1.10.2008 -
2.6.2011
3.6.2008 0.70584 5,666,666 - 5,666,666 1.10.2009 -
2.6.2011
3.6.2008 0.70584 2,833,334 - 2,833,334 1.4.2010 -
2.6.2011
3.6.2008 0.70584 2,833,334 - 2,833,334 1.10.2010 -
2.6.2011
3.6.2008 0.88232 11,441,000 (11,441,000) - 3.6.2008 -
2.6.2010
3.6.2008 0.88232 5,383,333 (5,383,333) - 3.6.2009 -
2.6.2010
3.6.2008 0.88232 5,666,666 - 5,666,666 3.6.2009 -
2.6.2011
3.6.2008 1.05881 7,508,331 (425,000) 7,083,331 3.6.2010 -
2.6.2011
Sub-total )it : 47,424,330 (17,674,333) 29,749,997
The Mainland 1.8.2007 1.58821 850,000 (850,000) - 1.8.2009 -
api 31.7.2010
11.10.2007 1.41173 566,665 (566,665) - 11.10.2009 -
10.10.2010
3.6.2008 0.70584 12,142,857 - 12,142,857 1.10.2008 -
2.6.2011
3.6.2008 0.70584 12,142,857 - 12,142,857 1.10.2009 -
2.6.2011
3.6.2008 0.70584 6,071,429 - 6,071,429 1.4.2010 -
2.6.2011
3.6.2008 0.70584 6,071,429 - 6,071,429 1.10.2010 -
2.6.2011
3.6.2008 0.88232 26,916,668 (26,916,668) - 3.6.2008 -
2.6.2010
3.6.2008 0.88232 2,266,666 (2,266,666) - 3.6.2009 -
2.6.2010
Sub-total it : 67,028,571 (30,599,999) 36,428,572
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES - continued
1. Share Option Scheme - continued

R REE &

1.

Number of shares issuable under the options granted

BREE &

REBHBRELTRTHROBE
Exercise Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
price as at during as at Exercise
Grantee Date of grant per share 1.4.2010 the year 31.3.2011 period
7#1.4.2010 7#31.3.2011
ARA ZEEH BRTEE i RAT £ FRRMK i8] R AT £ TEH
HK$
BT
Advisors
B
28.12.2004 0.43762 1,841,668 - 1,841,668 28.12.2004 -
26.8.2012
28.12.2004 0.52940 12,551,668 - 12,551,668 28.12.2004 -
26.8.2012
Sub-total /)5t : 14,393,336 - 14,393,336
Grand total 5t : 187,779,569 (59,324,332) 128,455,237
Notes: HtaE -
1. All the above outstanding share options of PYI were vested in the 1. AFFMBEREMRTEZEREAIEESE2TRBNER -

relevant grantees upon the first date of their respective exercise

periods.

2.

2. No share options were granted, exercised or cancelled under the
Share Option Scheme during the year.

Particulars of share option scheme of Paul Y. Engineering
Group Limited (“PYE”), a subsidiary of the Company, are set

out in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2011, there were no outstanding options

FETHRBERRA -

FR RBEREASISBBREREL  TEREEH -

AREfBARIRERZEXEEMARAR ((REZX] B
B 8l 2 FBHEN A MWK E46 -

R2011F3ASIH  MERBREEZEBRETIEL

mARITEZ B - FA - TEREZZBRERR

Ho T SRR

granted under the share option scheme of PYE. Also, no share
options of PYE were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed

during the year.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES - continued R REE &
2. Share Award Scheme 2. BB E

This scheme adopted by the Company on 23 February 2006
allows the Company to make bonus payments to eligible
persons (including employees, directors, consultants, advisers
and agents of the Group) by way of the Company’s shares
acquired by and held through an independent trustee until
fulfillment of specified conditions before vesting.

During the year, no shares of PYI were awarded under this
scheme.

A share award scheme was also adopted by PYE on 6
September 2006. This incentive scheme allows PYE to make
bonus payments to eligible persons (including employees,
directors, consultants, advisers and agents of PYE and its
subsidiaries (the “PYE Group”)) by way of shares of PYE
acquired by and held through an independent trustee until
fulfillment of specified conditions before vesting.

During the year, no shares of PYE were awarded under this
scheme.

. Share Financing Plan

This plan, adopted by the Company on 14 February 2006,
allows eligible persons (including employees, directors,
consultants, advisers and agents of the Group) to borrow
funds from the Company to acquire new or old shares of the
Company on a non-recourse basis with the subject shares
pledged to the Company as security, subject always to
connected transaction and other relevant provisions under the
Listing Rules.

During the year, no financing to eligible persons was provided
by the Group under this plan.

A share financing plan was also adopted by PYE on

6 September 2006. This incentive plan allows eligible persons
(including employees, directors, consultants, advisers and
agents of the PYE Group) to borrow funds from PYE or from a
company within the PYE Group on a non-recourse basis, for
the purpose of acquiring new or old shares of PYE with the
subject shares pledged to PYE as security, subject always to
connected transaction and other relevant provisions under the
Listing Rules.

During the year, no financing to eligible persons was provided
under this plan by PYE.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share incentive schemes disclosed above, at no
time during the year or at the end of the year was Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as
at 31 March 2011 amounted to approximately HK$1,020,755,000
(2010: HK$1,081,674,000).

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Independent non-executive directors

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ose s (Chairman)
Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Chan Shu Kin

Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ass, s»

Li Chang An

Executive director

Lau Ko Yuen, Tom (Deputy Chairman & Managing Director)

Non-executive directors

Chan Kwok Keung, Charles
Chan Yiu Lun, Alan (appointed on 19 July 2010)
(alternate to Chan Kwok Keung, Charles)

In accordance with bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Company’s
bye-laws, Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph, Mr Chan Shu Kin and Mr
Li Chang An retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Except Dr Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph who did not offer
himself for re-election, the remaining retiring directors, being
eligible, will stand for re-election.

Non-executive directors are subject to retirement by rotation
requirements under the Company'’s bye-laws, and they are
appointed for a specific term of approximately three years.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Group
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2011, the interests/short positions of each of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) or as notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

EEZRBEHN
BRABRTRREFASLEEREEZESYEA
AEBITUAKER—FATAENTRE CEERE
BN RBERTRIEZREEL

ESRBETHRAEBERRG HERORES
ZREERAR

MR2011EF3A3IHA ARRIEERERTRAERAEAR
AZBROHERBBROFEELBINARB(ESFRRHAE
Bl B2 FUTFEZ AR BI B RM AR BIECLET
REDMEA0MC LM AR ERETESF X HNIZESFR])
(LA BARARRREBHERFHMERA
BI([BRZFT]) B3Rz AREIWMT -

Number of shares/underlying shares held

HERGHBRGHE
(Note f13% 1)
Name of Director/ Personal Family Corporate Other % of issued
chief executive Capacity Interests Interests Interests Interests Total share capital
B/ HERTRA
BETRAEER g7 A& Rk R ARER HitE & By MBI
(Note fft# 2)
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph  Beneficial owner 3,942,105 - - - 3,942,105 0.09
[ AR ExBEEA
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom Beneficial owner, Family 51,070,807 146,863,544 146,863,544 - 197,934,351 4.37
A5 R interest & Interest (Note fifi 3)  (Note fitit 4)  (Note fitit 4) (Note #ifst 5)
of controlled corporation
ESBAA REEaRK
LB RER
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles  Beneficial owner & Interest 35,936,031 - 1,213,537,695 - 1,249,473,726 27.58
PR B3R of controlled corporation (Note fi3* 6)
ERBEEARRBEER#ER

Kwok Shiu Keung, Emest  Beneficial owner 3,900,000 = = = 3,900,000 0.09
IR ERBEBA
Chan Shu Kin Beneficial owner 3,683,332 = = = 3,683,332 0.08
R 151 B2 BEREBA (Note Hizt 7)
Leung Po Wing, Beneficial owner 3,683,334 = = = 3,683,334 0.08

Bowen Joseph EXHEA (Note i3t 7)
Li Chang An Beneficial owner 3,683,334 = = = 3,683,334 0.08
FER EREBA (Note 13 7)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES - continued

Notes:

1. All the above interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
were long positions. None of the directors and chief executive of the
Company held any short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as at 31 March 2011.

2. Based on the Company'’s issued share capital of 4,529,125,134 shares as
at 31 March 2011.

3. Such interests held by Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom comprised:
() 14,237,475 shares; and

(i) 36,833,332 underlying shares in respect of share options granted to
him on 28 December 2004 pursuant to the share option scheme of
the Company, further details of which are set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” above.

4. The two references to 146,863,544 shares relate to the same block of
shares in the Company. Such interests are indirectly held by a company
which is equally owned by Mr Lau Ko Yuen, Tom and his spouse in the
proportion of 50% and 50%.

5. This figure refers to an aggregate of the 51,070,807 shares/underlying
shares under personal interests and the 146,863,544 shares under family
and corporate interests.

6. Such interests were held by Hollyfield Group Limited (“Hollyfield”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of ITC Investment Holdings Limited (“ITC Investment”
which was, in turn, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Corporation Limited
(“ITC”)). Galaxyway Investments Limited (“Galaxyway”), an indirect wholly-
owned company of Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles, owned approximately
26.89% of the issued share capital of ITC. Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles
also personally held approximately 6.76% of the issued share capital of
ITC. By virtue of his aggregate interest of approximately 33.65% in ITC,

Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles was deemed to be interested in the shares
held by Hollyfield.

7. All these interests held by such directors were underlying shares in respect
of share options granted to them on 28 December 2004, 8 September
2006 or 6 February 2007 pursuant to the share option scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, none of the
directors or the chief executive of the Company had any

interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

EEREETHRAERKRG HBERORES
ZREBRKR-E

1. FlARAROREEROZEZHY AITE - R201143A8
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2. LA201153A31H AR R E #ATR 4N4,529,125,134 % ik 10 &
B o

3. ZEHEARREAAEHBZEZEE
(i) 14,237,475 + &

(i) RIEA R E) AR ET B R2004F12828A % F 2 % &
B8 X BE P8 I 236,833,332 MR 1D - BRI C
BN EXEATEREE ] —& -

4, PR FTIZ 146,863,544 AR ARG - Bie R — kK #
HoREREZEBR AR REERERBABNASEL
BI50%M50% iR < A el EEFE -
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6. #ZZ# #m AITC Investment Holdings Limited ([ ITC
Investment | - Bl R EEBER AR ([EHFELE]D 2
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EERWES

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING EERHGFRER RS

BUSINESSES H2011E3A31E » MAHALBMER  ADASESR
As at 31 March 2011, none of the directors of the Company is f 1 (] BB ol T B B R B B TS A K B S o TT B K
interested in any business (apart from the Group’s businesses) MEEGES TR -

which competes or is likely to compete, either directly and

indirectly, with the businesses of the Group. EEREESNh RS

RARARZRBEEERARAREEMME R AR FERFR

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF BT BB A Wb fidn B 3% R S B AR -

SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its FERE HMALTZEZBEXA

subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company o013 A3 A TH ESHE / E A+ AA T
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at B 1) T2 KL R £ o 7 4 J8 B AR I (2B T R 1 1 51)
the end of the year or at any time during the year. BT NGRS BN BB AR -

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS DES S
As at 31 March 2011, the interests and short positions of
the substantial shareholders/other persons in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
(1) Substantial shareholders
Long position/ Number of shares/ % of the issued
Name of shareholder Capacity short position underlying shares held share capital
HEBRTRAN
BRERAE g7 BE/ KR BRERG HBERGHE BaL
(Note fiti# 1)
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles Beneficial owner Long position 35,936,031 0.79%
R D58 EREAA A
Interest of controlled Long position 1,213,537,695 26.79%
corporation TR
REAE
(Note iz 2)
Ng Yuen Lan, Macy Interest of spouse Long position 1,249,473,726 27.58%
iRk FoiB R )
(Note fif&F 3)
[TC Interest of controlled Long position 1,213,5637,695 26.79%
BEHME corporation TR
XEEEER
(Note fi#% 2)
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(1) EERR &

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS
— continued

(1) Substantial shareholders — continued

Long position/

Number of shares/

% of the issued

Name of shareholder Capacity short position underlying shares held share capital
HEBRTRAMN
RREB 54 HE/ KR BER®R/HBERGEE BOL
(Note Mzt 1)
ITC Investment Interest of controlled Long position 1,213,537,695 26.79%
corporation S}
XEEEER
(Note #itit 2)
Hollyfield Beneficial owner Long position 1,213,537,695 26.79%
EREBA HE
(Note i1t 2)
Daniel Saul Och Interest of controlled Long position 490,120,467 10.82%
corporation Sy
REEEER
(Note fiét 4)
Och-Ziff Capital Management Interest of controlled Long position 490,120,467 10.82%
Group LLC (“Och-Ziff Capital”) corporation HE
XEEEER
(Note fii&t 4)
Och-Ziff Holding Corporation Interest of controlled Long position 490,120,467 10.82%
(“Och-Ziff Holding”) corporation TE
XEEEER
(Note fita# 4)
0OZ Management L.P. Investment manager Long position 490,120,467 10.82%
(“OZ Management”) REKE HE
(Note fitit 4)
Third Avenue Management Investment manager Long position 485,314,668 10.72%
LLC (“Third Avenue LLC”) RELE e (Note Hi% 6)
(Note fit 5)
Third Avenue Small Value Beneficial owner Long position 485,270,668 10.71%
Fund (“Third Avenue Fund”) ExBEEA HE (Note fif2t 7)
(Note fita# 5)
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS
— continued

(2) Other persons

84

Name

£

OZ Asia Master Fund, Ltd.

Long position/
short position

Capacity

LT

Beneficial owner

(“OZ Asia”) ERBAA 35}
(Note it 4)
Notes:

1.

Based on the Company'’s issued share capital of 4,529,125,134 shares
as at 31 March 2011.

Hollyfield, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Investment (which was, in
turn, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC), owned 1,213,537,695 shares
of the Company. Accordingly, ITC Investment and ITC were deemed
to be interested in the said 1,213,537,695 shares held by Hollyfield.
Galaxyway, an indirect wholly-owned company of Dr Chan Kwok
Keung, Charles, owned approximately 26.89% of the issued share
capital of ITC. Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles also personally held
approximately 6.76% of the issued share capital of ITC. By virtue of
his aggregate interest of approximately 33.65% in ITC, Dr Chan Kwok
Keung, Charles was deemed to be interested in these shares held by
Hollyfield.

Ms. Ng Yuen Lan, Macy, the spouse of Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles,
was deemed to be interested in the said 1,213,537,695 shares held
by Hollyfield and 35,936,031 shares held directly by Dr Chan Kwok
Keung, Charles.

0OZ Management, an entity controlled by Och-Ziff Holding which was,
in turn, solely owned by Och-Ziff Capital (approximately 78.02% of
the voting power at general meeting of which was controlled by Mr
Daniel Saul Och), held, through its affiliated funds (including OZ Asia),
490,120,467 shares of the Company. As such, Mr Daniel Saul Och,
Och-Ziff Capital, Och-Ziff Holding and OZ Management were deemed
to be having the same interests in the shares of the Company as the
affiliated funds of OZ Management.

Third Avenue LLC, through its controlled entities (including Third
Avenue Fund) held interests in 485,314,668 shares/underlying shares
of the Company. As such, Third Avenue LLC was deemed to be having
the same interests in the said 485,314,668 shares/underlying shares
as Third Avenue Fund and another entity controlled by Third Avenue
LLC.
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Long position

1.

FERK HttATzRERKE B
(2) Eft AL

% of the issued
share capital

Number of shares/
underlying shares held

HEBRTRAN

BERA HERGHA B
(Note Kti# 1)

255,345,510 5.64%

LA20114F3 A31H AR A B 17 R 484,529,125,134 % i&

ITC Investment (B BHEMCEZ2EWB AR 22 &N
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER PERSONS
— continued

(2) Other persons — continued

Notes: — continued

6. Such interests comprised 475,758,107 shares of the Company and
9,656,561 underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by the
Company entitling holders thereof to subscribe for new shares of the
Company.

So far as is known to the directors and chief executive of the Company,
the warrants issued by the Company expired after 4:00 p.m. on 25
September 2009. With the exclusion of those 9,556,561 underlying
shares, the interests in the said 475,758,107 shares represent
approximately 10.5% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
31 March 2011.

7. Such interests comprised 475,714,107 shares of the Company and
9,656,561 underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by the
Company entitling holders thereof to subscribe for new shares of the
Company.

So far as is known to the directors and chief executive of the Company,
the warrants issued by the Company expired after 4:00 p.m. on 25
September 2009. With the exclusion of those 9,556,561 underlying
shares, the interests in the said 475,714,107 shares represent
approximately 10.5% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
31 March 2011.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, the Company had
not been notified of any interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

Including the directors of the Group, as at 31 March 2011, the
Group employed a total of 3,296 full time employees (2010:
3,190). Remuneration packages consisted of salary as well as
performance-based and equity-based bonuses. In appreciation
of our employees’ continuing support, a bonus payment to
employees was made during the year.

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualification and competence.

FERR HtbA T2 RBERAR &
(2) it A+ 4
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% 749,556,561 1% 18 B8 A 17 + 1 1li475,758,107 A% X 19 165
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NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY - continued

The emolument of the directors of the Company is decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to factors including
the prevailing market conditions, salary paid by comparable
companies, the duties and responsibilities of the director,
employment conditions elsewhere and the time committed by the
director.

Further, the Company has implemented three share-related
incentive schemes to provide alternative means to motivate
employees and promote their loyalty in line with the Group’s
strategy. Such schemes benefited the Group’s staff both in Hong
Kong and the Mainland.

Details of remuneration policy of the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on page 56 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefit schemes is set out in
note 50 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders although there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 44 to 67 of
this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the directors acknowledge that
approximately 58% of the issued share capital of the Company are
held by the public.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Details of the material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries are
set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant event occurring after the reporting period
are set out in note 58 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULES 13.20 AND
13.22 OF THE LISTING RULES

(1) Advances to entities

As at 31 March 2011, advances to entities did not individually
exceed 8% under the assets ratio as defined under Rule
14.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

(2) Financial assistance and guarantees given to affiliated
companies

As at 31 March 2011, the aggregate amount of the financial
assistance provided by the Group to its associated companies
and jointly controlled entities (collectively the “Affiliated
Companies” within the meaning under Chapter 13 of the Listing
Rules) and the guarantees given by the Group for facilities
granted to the Affiliated Companies did not exceed 8% under
the assets ratio as defined under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing
Rules.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of
approximately HK$642,000 (2010: HK$76,000).

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as auditor of the Company and to authorise the directors of
the Company to fix their remuneration will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph oz »»
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BUZBARES

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF PYI CORPORATION LIMITED
REEEHRAT

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of

PYI Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 234,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position

as at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated income statement,

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit

in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYBBEMHRESE

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether

due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March
2011 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
24 June 2011
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2011
B E201153H31H L FE

2011 2010

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Bt 5 THERT FHT

Turnover = 6 5,357,200 4,260,421
Cost of sales HE KA (4,916,287) (8,877,311)
Gross profit E7 440,913 383,110
Other income H o g A 8 52,408 37,302
Other gains and losses H b U5 R EsE 9 3,682 (88,343)
Administrative expenses THEA (295,415) (278,518)
Distribution and selling expenses DHEMIEEE A (91,014) (68,870)
Other expenses EmtmER 10 (14,172) (29,535)
Finance costs B & AN 11 (86,282) (66,271)

Gain on fair value changes of investment KREMELATEBEES
properties 2 Wz 19 316,214 397,309
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries MBARZEEBWEKZ 47@)) - 13,466
Share of results of associates BB E N R EE 136,814 58,075
Share of results of jointly controlled entities B H R SR S 2,892 (5,241)
Profit before taxation bR 5% B 4 A1 13 466,040 402,484
Taxation T1E 14 (166,852) (165,764)
Profit for the year F 2% A 299,188 236,720
Profit for the year attributable to: IATATEEFESE

Owners of the Company RARAFEA A 200,104 149,298
Non-controlling interests FEFE R M 2 99,084 87,422
299,188 236,720

HK$ HKS

BT BT

Basic and diluted earnings per share A% ELAN K #SE B A 16 0.044 0.035
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEZEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ2011E3AHILEEE

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT THET
Profit for the year %A 299,188 236,720
Other comprehensive income Hith 2 E K E
Exchange differences arising from translation BEGIINEBMESE
of foreign operations 2N EE 233,282 18,686
(Loss) gain on fair value changes of available- AHEEREZ AT EEZS
for-sale investments 2 (BB) K (177) 174
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of HEAHBEREBERDE
available-for-sale investments 2P (66) =
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHEMEEKE 233,039 18,860
Total comprehensive income for the year FEEEMRELE 532,227 255,580
Total comprehensive income for the year ATATELAFEFEZE R
attributable to: HEE
Owners of the Company ZN/NETE 2N 367,450 164,601
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR AERS 164,777 90,979
532,227 255,580

'
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE BRI E
At 31 March 2011
201143 A31H

2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FTHET THET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M IR R RE 18 1,369,085 2,136,213
Investment properties BEME 19 727,811 2,577,880
Project under development HEMIER 20 490,121 1,861,739
Prepaid lease payments HNHEEHRIE 22 312,864 300,679
Goodwill (SES 23 61,646 61,646
Other intangible assets Hinmy & 24 171,990 178,837
Interests in associates Ll NI X 25 1,132,027 896,775
Interests in jointly controlled entities HER G ERER 26 4,065 =
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 27 1,270 1,262
Loans receivable — due after one year —FRIBERER 28 - 35,003
Other debtors — non-current portion Hih W R —IERE B 32 196,319 129,486
4,467,198 8,179,520
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Stock of properties MEFE 21 1,098,800 1,853,812
Prepaid lease payments JENEERE 22 4,229 4,075
Inventories of finished goods SN AEE 29,240 12,085
Loans receivable — due within one year —FRIBZERER 28 113,147 232,127
Amounts due from associates JE U B 8 A B BB 29 42,929 26,133
Amounts due from jointly controlled entities JE s HE ) 42 | e S 2R 0B 30 22,956 =
Amount due from a non-controlling interest JE Usr FE 4% RS b 25 OB 30 1,188 1,138
Amounts due from customers for contract works  EU R FE & 4 TI2 T 31 258,350 203,794
Trade and other debtors, deposits and B 5 R E M YRR
prepayments & RFEMFIR 32 1,651,066 2,409,614
Investments held for trading HIEEEIRE 33 46,942 44,051
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE 27 91 84
Taxation recoverable AR B R 2 41,953
Pledged bank deposits BEERFRITER 34 83,532 33,582
Short term bank deposits 5B RITIE R 34 371,277 360,972
Bank balances and cash RITEFRAE 34 657,799 648,060
4,381,548 5,861,480
Assets classified as held for sale DEARELEZEE 17 6,046,209 -
10,427,757 5,861,480
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEPBIRR R

At 31 March 2011
#201143A31H

2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt & THERT FET
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Amounts due to customers for contract works ENEFEHNIER 31 947,938 962,813
Trade and other creditors and accrued expenses & 5 K H i & {+f B 7% &2 fE &1 5 % &6 1,230,931 1,904,888
Deposits received for pre-sale properties BENEIZBERITS 237,048 279,088
Amounts due to associates ML AN E 36 66,268 42,939
Amount due to a jointly controlled entity JE 5 — i SR R4 | M 4 0 1R 37 45,000 =
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JE At IR B A 25 0 0E 38 24,276 51,602
Amounts due to related companies JE ~f B8 3 IR 39 233 89,488
Taxation payable R I8 20,213 66,421
Bank and other borrowings — due within one year — —4 R 5|8 7 4817 R E M i 2 40 1,255,304 1,322,464
Convertible notes payable FER AR Z iE 41 - 138,189
3,827,211 4,857,892
Liabilities associated with assets classified as HBAOBEABELECEE
held for sale HBEzE8E 17 3,301,463 -
7,128,674 4,857,892
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 3,299,083 1,003,588
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES HEERRBAS 7,766,281 9,183,108
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Bank and other borrowings — due after one year —FRI BT REMER 40 738,585 1,465,358
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JE - FE4E AR M 25 OB 38 19,002 20,478
Deferred tax liabilities EXLTHBEE 42 484,377 1,893,983
Deferred income EEWA 43 25,181 47,862
Other payables H A &S BR 3N 85 173,576 97,937
1,440,721 3,525,618
6,325,560 5,657,490
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXREE
Share capital AR 44 452,913 452,913
Reserves & 4,047,700 3,676,766
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KAREA A ZERER 4,500,613 4,129,679
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR M 1,824,947 1,527,811
TOTAL EQUITY MR 6,325,560 5,657,490

The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 234 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24

June 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

Joseph Chow JE BA#E ose Jp

Chairman /&

BN EIOE234E v M ME S N2011F6H24B & E
ER%ERTRETE -

THTNEEREEERES

Tom Lau &5 R

Managing Director ##t
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GERRBER

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ2011E3AHILEEE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

RDFZREAELES
Share-
Investment Convertible based Non-
Share Share Special Capital  revaluation Other ~ Translation notes payment  Warrants Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserves reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total interests equity
RE Ak MRGRE  ERER FER
kx  ROEE  RARE  EARE  EMEE  EbEE  ERRR  ZEEE  TERR R REE Nt B EnEE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK000 HK000 HK000 HK000 HK§000 HK§000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T FhAL FhAL FhAL T T T Tin Tin Tin T T T Fin
At Aprl 2009 Ro009E4R1R 15080 4G5 1465 (3338 BB 3013 8480 8019 1283 2006606  3665% 011 45801
Bchangedfirences  REEEHNER
arsing fom translaion A4 2B
of foreign operations 28 - - - - - - 16,166 - - - - 16,166 35620 18,686
(Gain on fai value fHEREL
changes of avalable-  AFEEEF
for-sale investments b - - - - 137 - - - - - - 187 Rk 174
Proft for the year EEEA = o = = = = = = = = 149,298 149,298 87,422 236,720
Totd comprehensie  £E2ENELE
income for the year - - - - 137 - 15,166 - - - 149,298 164,601 90979 265,580
Shareof otherresenes B IERAAT
of assocites JENEE = = = = = 4431 = = = = = 4431 = 4431
Release Upon lapse RARERZHR
of warrants &4 - - - - - - - - - (12,765) 12,765 - - -
Recognifon ofequity- ~~ RURH R
settld share-based WEZER
payment expense - - - - - - - - 1,387 - - 1,387 - 1,337
Issue of shares on W ARERR
exercise of warants ki 138 1,262 - - - - - - - (68) - 1332 - 1332
Release upon lapse NERBERE
of vested options KREEH - - - - - - - - (15,240) - 15,240 - - -
Issue of shares on SR AR
subscription of iz
Tights issue 301,936 60,387 - - - - - - - - - 362,323 - 362,323
Release upon lapse NHBARZ
of vested options EEBERE
of asubsidiary KiEL = = - - - - - - - - 51 51 (521) -
Shareissueexpenses  EARGER = (12083) - - - - - - - - - (12,083) - (12,083)
Disposalof partial HERBAR
neestnaswsday  BHES - - - - - L) - - - B8 [BRY BT 3164%
Diidend dstibuted ~~ HERFHE
by a subsiciary RE - - - - - - - - - - - - (3.404) (3404
Contrbution fomnon-  FERRER A
controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - - 20528 20528
Sorp dvidends HEAFRS
distibuted by a HBRRE
subsidary - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,661 1,661
Aoquiston of subsiciares KB AT
{note 4761 (e470) = = = = = = = = . . . - % 1613%
Acauistion of HENBARER
adaitional interests
in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (655) (655) 555 o
At 31 March 2010 2010634318 452,913 489421 124,69 (343,326) 571 62,461 340330 8,482 14,116 = 2,980,016 4129679 1,527 811 5,657,490
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2011

HZE201143A31ALFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

ANEZBEARGRE
Share-
Investment Convertible based Non-
Share Share Spedial Capital  revaluation Other  Translation notes  payment  Wamants  Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserves reserve reserve reserve reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests equity
RE TRR  WRGRE  ARER F2k

B BBER  WHER  ARRRE  EERR  AfER  EXRR RERR AR B RERA it B R
HKGO0  HKSOD  HKSOD  HKBODD  HKGOOD  HKBOD  HKBOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOO  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSODD  HKSOOD  HKSOMD

TERL T T T T T T T TR TR TR TR TR ThRL

At1 Apri 2010 1201054418 42913 489421 124,6% (343,326) o71 62,461 340330 8482 14,116 - 290016 41206710 1527811 5667490

Bxchangedfiences  EEE £
aisng fom tranlaton &% Z[ER
of foreign operations 28 - - - - - - 167,574 - - - - 167574 65,708 233282

Loss on fair value TRIERE
changes of aalable- 2 ATEME

forsele investments 2958 - - - - (187) - - - - - - (187) 10 (t77)
Reclassfication LETHTERE

adjsiment on KENAE

disposal of avallable- 1A%

forsle investments - - - - ) - - - - - - ) (29) (66)
Pt for e year FREH - - - - - - - - - oM 04 WM 29918
Toid compiehensie  £ERENELE

income for the year - - - - (228) - 167,574 - - - 200,104 367 450 164,777 53221
Share of other BEBERAL

reserves of EtiiE

assoclates - - - - - 3223 - - - - - 3223 - 3223

Recognifon of equty- ~~ EZHRA T
seed share-based HE2ER

payment xpense . . . - - - - - %1 - - %1 - %1
Release uponlapseof AR EBER

vested optons EXHHEL - - - - - - - - 4826) - 4826 - - -
Release upon maturty of  RAREH

converle notes BELE b - - - - - - - (3482) - - 8462 - - -
Transfer of reserves EUHELA

of a subsiiary b1 - - - - - 200 - - - - 2030 - - -
Dividend distrbuted HBAAAE

by asubsiday IRE _ - - - - - - - - - - - (3689) (3683)
Contrution from FERERLE

non-controling

Inferests - - - - - - - - - - - - 154,990 154,990
Serp diidends HBAARE

distrbuted by a LIRS

subsiday - - - - - - - - - - - - 50 %0
Repayment of ERkERER

contbuton to &

non-controling

Inferest - - - - - - - - - - - - (19,508) (19,508)
At31 March 2011 R011£3A318 452913 489421 124,69 (343326) 343 67,714 507,904 - 9,951 - 3,191,398 4,500,613 1,824,947 6,325,560
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2011

EHE201143A31ALFE

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital and share premium of

the subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by the
Group and the nominal amount of the share capital issued as
consideration for the acquisition.

The capital reserve represents the difference between the fair value
and the carrying amount in the underlying assets and liabilities that
attributable to the additional interests in subsidiaries acquired by
the Group.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERTMER

For the year ended 31 March 2011
B E2011F3H31H L FE

e RETTIYE

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FHT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEK
Profit before taxation Bx %5t /il s A1 466,040 402,484
Adjustments for: FLTSIEE ETHAE
Finance costs BE KA 86,282 66,271
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME - k& EEE 257 1,077
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments HEBMNHERERIEH
and related other intangible assets HinfEE & E 2 W e (4,104) -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HB ARz W - (185)
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries B /B8 2 B 2 3 1B i B e - (13,466)
Share of results of associates B(hME N EE (136,814) (58,075)
Share of results of jointly controlled entities (5 LR %Tﬁ%iﬁ (2,892) 5,241
Release of prepaid lease payments ABEMEERY 4,124 2,960
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 12,787 2,302
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME R KR EREZITE 89,907 103,587
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of FIEEBRECATEEE
investments held for trading Z B (k) 2,581 (14,123)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of EEMERRESE
goodwill 74 2,692
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary B —EN B AR M BB - 5
Gain on fair value changes of investment REMENTEEES 2 W (316,214) (397,309)
properties
Recovery of withholding tax paid in connection WEIt AR E B 2 B
with a former investment - (15,243)
Share-based payment expense IO HIEBZER 261 1,337
Interest income FLE A (8,997) (4,329)
Dividend income from investment held for BEEEREZKREBA
trading (245) (178)
Impairment loss (recovered) recognised on FEM IR 2 REEE (BE) BR
receivables (2,443) 11,687
Write-back of aged payables ) HA e < R TH 2 B [l (7,804) -
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments HERAMEEERE 2 s (47)
Impairment loss on an available-for-sale investment —HAHHERE ZREREE - 37,190
Operating cash flows before movements in REt& @ ﬁ ERBA I REED
working capital HEehe 182,753 133,925
Changes in amounts due from (to) customers for W () BPAH TR ZIEE
contract works, net of attributable interest (f0k ERT A B X &ﬁ & )
expenses and depreciation (67,810) 221,203
Decrease (increase) in stock of properties MERER D (GEM) 138,866 (40,989
Decrease in loans receivable & W & SR D 153,983 87,415
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2011
EHE201143A31ALFE

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES - continued REXK &
(Increase) decrease in inventories FE0Em R (17,155) 7,012
Decrease (increase) in trade and other debtors, B REMBWER 1€
deposits and prepayments RFEFRIBR D (35 00) 437,789 (263,459)
(Increase) decrease in amounts due from associates P LT Bt = ) B FR3E (38 00) I > (16,796) 32,486
Increase in amounts due from jointly controlled entities & L £k [7] 1% i 4 1% X 18 42 N (22,956) -
Increase in investments held for trading RIEEBERERM (5:472) (7,982)
(Decrease) increase in deposits received for HEEWEE WIEE CRd) &N
pre-sale properties (54,304) 193,551
Decrease in trade and other creditors and B 5 N H e 5 BR 5k I FE &+
accrued expenses SR (339,240) (280,585)
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to associates JE < B i B SR IRE 0 OR ) 55,603 (24,014)
Decrease in amounts due to related companies JE 5 B3 A B ;B R D (1,491) (4,833)
Cash generated from operations KEREEKE 7S 443,770 53,730
Overseas tax paid BENEIE (25,842) (9,158)
Overseas tax refunded 2R EgIMTIE 41,953 -
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BENEBNGEH O] -
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REREXB2REFHE 459,877 44,572
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEK
Additions to property, plant and equipment W - W R EREE (306,603) (269,876)
Additions to interests in associates B &5 N B BEZS 38N (160,696) (31,390)
Increase in project under development RAIEHE N (157,685) (157,530)
Additions to pledged bank deposits B R 1T 17 5138 00 (83,532) (33,582)
Refundable deposits paid for potential projects WEBEEB 2EMNAUEDES (50,000) -
Additions in investment properties & & YL (38,356) -
Additions to prepaid lease payments 8 (5 78 & FRE S 0 (8,175) (11,371)
Contribution to a jointly controlled entity A —fE R EEE (4,600) -
Increase in available-for-sale investments At EREE M (632) (291)
Dividend received from associates SR EAENE 55,599 -
Release of pledged bank deposits AREEMBITER 33,582 183,439
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREMEMBSIIE 30,279 =
Refundable deposits refunded for potential projects HEBEHEBEERE 2 AREIKRS 25,000 -
Interest received 2R F 2 7,762 2,844
Receipt of deferred income LSt BRI R U A 7,010 30,870
Proceeds from disposal of prepaid lease payments BEENBERBRABEM
and related other intangible assets B EEMRBNE 6,361 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME - Wk REMERE
equipment 4,120 1,885
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale HEMHEEREMERE
investments 436 =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2011
EHE201143A31ALFE

2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt & FTET THT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES - continued REXEK &
Dividend received from investments held for trading BRBEEERERE 245 178
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net WEEHEB AT FE8 47(3)(), (i) 234 50,497
Additions to other intangible assets H & EE N - (10)
Repayment of deferred consideration receivable EEEBELRE - 4,000
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary, net & —EWB R A TS 5E
=gt 47(d) - 328
Proceeds from disposal of a jointly HE—FEREHEERS
controlled entity A - 916
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTMITIES ARBAERB 2 RS FH (639,651) (229,093)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METE
New bank and other borrowings raised MERRITREMER 1,982,550 1,016,438
Contribution from non-controlling interests REFIERERLE 154,990 20,528
Increase in amount due to a jointly S — e R i
controlled entity R N 45,000 -
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EBREBTREMER (1,629,245) (998,530)
Interest paid SRR (153,123) (182,697)
Repayment of amounts due to non-controlling interests 18 & & (< JEIE R 1 25 2 70 (28,469) (30,015)
Repayment of contribution to non-controlling interest EEEERERZEHE (19,508) =
Repayment of loan from a related company EEXg—MEEAAZ
BX (18,000) (70,000)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of B MT% NGIEIZ g
subsidiaries i3 (3,123) (1,743)
Share issue expenses BAITHY T’ﬁ 2 - (12,083)
Proceeds from issue of shares BTG FTB IR - 363,655
Proceeds from partial disposal of a subsidiary, net HE—RMHBAREH 2
FTiS 5018 - 558 47(c) - 316,433
Loans from related companies REBERARIZER - 22,000
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REBMETBHZ2RETFE 331,072 443,986
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReREFESEEER
EQUIVALENTS BinFE 151,298 259,465
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ~ sMERp @ & 7,087 887
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BROUGHT ReRERSEHEEE&A
FORWARD 999,032 738,680
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CARRIED ReRERELESERALE
FORWARD 49 1,157,417 999,032
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH ReRHEESEEER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RO
Short term bank deposits EHRITIER 371,277 350,972
Bank balances and cash RITEFER: 786,140 648,060
1,157,417 999,032
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3ABIHILEFE

1. GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability. Its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
the principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the “Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities are set out in note 57.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations
(“new and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendment to HKFRS 5 as
part of Improvements
to HKFRSs 2008

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009

HKAS 32 (Amendments) Classification of Rights Issues

HKAS 39 (Amendments) Eligible Hedged ltems

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Group Cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions

HK(IFRIC) - Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash
Assets to Owners

HK-Int 5 Presentation of Financial

Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term
LLoan that Contains

a Repayment on Demand
Clause
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

Except as described below, the application of these new and
revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect
on the amounts reported in these consolidated financial
statements and/or disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations (as part of
Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009)

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that the disclosure
requirements in HKFRSs other than HKFRS 5 do not apply to
non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for
sale or discontinued operations unless those HKFRSs require
(i) specific disclosures in respect of non-current assets (or
disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued
operations, or (i) disclosures about measurement of assets
and liabilities within a disposal group that are not within the
scope of the measurement requirement of HKFRS 5 and

the disclosures are not already provided in the consolidated
financial statements.

The application of the amendments to HKFRS 5 has
no impact on the presentation and classification of the
consolidated financial statements for prior years.

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause (“HK Int 5”)
clarifies that term loans that include a clause that gives the
lender the unconditional right to call the loans at any time
(“repayment on demand clause”) should be classified by the
borrower as current liabilities. The Group has applied HK

Int 5 for the first time in the current year. HK Int 5 requires
retrospective application.

In order to comply with the requirements set out in HK Int 5,
the Group has changed its accounting policy on classification
of term loans with a repayment on demand clause. In the
past, the classification of such term loans were determined
based on the agreed scheduled repayment dates set out

in the loan agreements. Under HK Int 5, term loans with

a repayment on demand clause are classified as current
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
— continued

As those outstanding bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause as at 31 March 2011 and 2010 are due to be
settled within one year after the end of the reporting period
and have been classified as current liabilities, the application
of HK Int 5 has had no impact on the reported financial
position and profit or loss for the current and prior years.
However, such term loans are now presented in the earliest
time band in the maturity analysis for financial liabilities (see
note 48b(c) for details).

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2010

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets®

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) Related Party Disclosures®

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets*

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum

(Amendments) Funding Requirement?
HK(IFRIC) - Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments?

| Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and
1 January 2011, as appropriate

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
— continued

The amendments to HKAS 12 titled Deferred Tax: Recovery
of Underlying Assets mainly deal with the measurement of
deferred tax for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model in accordance with HKAS 40
Investment Property. Based on the amendments, for the
purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets for investment properties measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of the investment
properties are presumed to be recovered through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted in certain circumstances.

Previously, the directors of the Company has made a best
estimate that half of the property interests may be realised
through sale in the long term. If the presumption is not
rebutted, the directors anticipate that the application of the
amendments to HKAS 12 may increase the deferred tax
liability as the changes in fair value of investment properties
would be subject to both PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)
and Enterprise Income Tax. However, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed
review has been completed.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as issued in November
2009) introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (as revised in November 2010) adds
requirements for financial liabilities and for derecognition.

Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement are subsequently measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. All other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent
accounting periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
— continued

In relation to financial liabilities, the significant change relates
to financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value
through profit or loss. Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for
financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit
risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the presentation of the effects of changes

in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s
credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Previously, under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change
in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair
value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that HKFRS 9

that will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for financial year ending 31 March 2014 and that
the application of the new Standard may have a significant
impact on measurement and classification of available-for-
sale investments. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review has
been completed.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments and investment properties which are measured
at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling
interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Basis of consolidation — continued

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries on or after 1 April 2009

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes

in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, the profit

or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
Where certain assets of the subsidiary are measured at
revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative
gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity are accounted for as if the Company had directly
disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred directly to retained profits). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS

39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Basis of consolidation — continued

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries — continued

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries prior to 1 April 2009

For increases in interests in existing subsidiaries, the
difference between the fair values and the carrying values

of the underlying assets and liabilities attributable to the
additional interests in subsidiaries acquired is charged to
capital reserve. For decreases in interests in subsidiaries,
regardless of whether the disposals would result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries, the difference between
the consideration received and the adjustment to the non-
controlling interests was recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations
Business combinations that took place on or after 1 April 2009

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair values.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum

of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),

the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Business combinations - continued

Business combinations that took place on or after
1 April 2009 - continued

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share

of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts

of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured
at their fair value or another measurement basis required by
another Standard.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or
loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment
would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity before the acquisition date are reclassified to profit
or loss when the Group obtains control over the acquiree.

Business combinations that took place prior to 1 April 2009

Acquisition of businesses was accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition was measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control

of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that met the relevant
conditions for recognition were generally recognised at their
fair value at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Business combinations — continued

Business combinations that took place prior to 1 April 2009
— continued

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost
of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the recognised
amounts of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after assessment, the Group’s interest
in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeded the cost
of the acquisition, the excess was recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The non-controlling interest in the acquiree was initially
measured at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree.

Contingent consideration was recognised, if and only if,
the contingent consideration was probable and could be
measured reliably. Subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration were recognised against the cost of the
acquisition.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted
for as separate steps. Goodwill was determined at each
step. Any additional acquisition did not affect the previously
recognised goodwill.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business is carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses, if any, and
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Goodwill — continued

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently whenever
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwiill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit
pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset

in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwiill is recognised
directly in profit or loss in the consolidated income statement.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale

is highly probable and the non-current asset (or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition.
Management must be committed to the sale, which should
be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale
within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of
control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group
will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than ports under construction
as described below) are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment (other than ports under
construction) less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Ports under construction includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Ports under construction is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Ports under construction is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any

gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference

between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. Investment properties include

land held for undetermined future use, which is regarded

as held for capital appreciation purpose, and land under
development for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are included
in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Investment properties under development

Land under development for future use as investment
properties are recognised and classified as investment
properties upon the commencement of land leveling
process. Construction costs incurred for development are
capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the land under
development. Land under development is measured at

fair value at the end of the reporting period. Any difference
between the fair value of the land under development and its
carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Project under development

Project under development are carried in the consolidated
financial statements at cost less any identified impairment
loss. Cost of project under development includes, where
appropriate, relevant development costs, release of prepaid
lease payments/sea use rights over the relevant lease terms
and borrowing cost capitalised. No depreciation is provided
for project under development.

Project under development are transferred at the carrying
value to stock of properties for sale or property, plant
and equipment or investment properties, as appropriate,
when the intended purpose of the land development can
be determined and upon commencement of land leveling
process.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Stock of properties

Stock of properties is stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to sale proceeds received after the end of the
reporting period less selling expenses, o, if not yet sold
after the end of the reporting period, by management
estimates based on prevailing market condition. The relevant
costs include acquisition costs, development expenditure,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct costs
attributable to such properties.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are initially recognised

in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in that associate, the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of an associate recognised at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Interests in associates — continued

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. \WWhen
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount,

any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

From 1 April 2009 onwards, upon disposal of an associate
that results in the Group losing significant influence over that
associate, any retained investment is measured at fair value
at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value

on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with
HKAS 39. The difference between the previous carrying
amount of the associate attributable to the retained interest
and its fair value is included in the determination of the gain
or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if that associate had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) when it loses significant influence
over that associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not
related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Interests in associates — continued
Acquisition of additional interests in associates

On acquisition of additional interest in an existing associate
whereby the Group continues to have significant influence
but not gaining control, the cost of acquiring the additional
interest is added to the carrying value of the associate.
Goodwill or gain arising on the purchase of the additional
interest is calculated as the difference between the cost of
the additional interest acquired and the share of the net fair
value of all identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate
attributable to the additional interest acquired.

Interests in jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over
the economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly
controlled entities.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled
entities are incorporated in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method, investments in jointly controlled entities
are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the jointly controlled entities. When the Group’s
share of losses of a jointly controlled entity equals or
exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled entity, the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of that jointly controlled entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31BLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Interests in jointly controlled entities — continued

From 1 April 2009 onwards, upon disposal of a jointly
controlled entity that results in the Group losing joint control
over that jointly controlled entity, any retained investment

is measured at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial
asset in accordance with HKAS 39. The difference between
the previous carrying amount of the jointly controlled entity
attributable to the retained interest and its fair value is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the jointly controlled entity. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that jointly controlled entity on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that jointly controlled entity would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) when it loses joint control
over that jointly controlled entity.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled
entity, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the jointly controlled entity are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the jointly controlled entity that are not related to
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. Alternatively, intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets below).

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment loss. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequently
accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting policy

in respect of impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets below).

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset
is derecognised.

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period. Variations in
contract work and claims are included to the extent that

the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is
considered probable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Construction contracts — continued

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in
the period in which they are incurred. Variations in contract
work and claims are included to the extent that the amount
can be measured reliably and its receipt is considered
probable. Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon
as they are anticipated by management.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,

the surplus is shown as amounts due from customers for
contract works. For contracts where progress billings exceed
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts due to
customers for contract works. Amounts received before the
related work is performed are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances
received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid
by the customer are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under trade and other debtors, deposits
and prepayments.

Inventories

Inventories, including liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”) for
sales, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities

at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets

or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery

of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL comprise financial assets held for
trading.

The Group’s financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

U it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, loans receivable, trade and other debtors and deposits
and amount(s) due from non-controlling interest/associates/
jointly controlled entities) are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment of financial
assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as financial assets

at FVTPL, held-to-maturity investments or loans and
receivables. Available-for-sale financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve, until
the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to

be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve
is reclassified to profit or loss (see accounting policy on
impairment of financial assets below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Financial instruments - continued
Financial assets — continued
Available-for-sale financial assets — continued

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting
period (see accounting policy on impairment of financial
assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
debtors and loans receivable, assets that are assessed

not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed
for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period and observable changes in national

or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued
Impairment of financial assets — continued

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as

the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade debtors, loans receivable and amount(s)
due from associates/jointly controlled entities/non-controlling
interest, where the carrying amount is reduced through

the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss. When a receivable is considered uncollectible, it

is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to
profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Financial instruments — continued
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.

Convertible notes payable

Convertible notes payable issued by the Company that
contain both liability and conversion option components are
classified separately into respective components on initial
recognition. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments
is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest rate of
similar non-convertible debts. The difference between the
gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible notes payable
and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the conversion option for the holder to convert
the notes into equity, is included in convertible notes reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Financial instruments — continued
Financial liabilities and equity instruments — continued
Convertible notes payable — continued

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible notes payable is carried at amortised cost

using the effective interest method. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in convertible
notes reserve until the option is exercised in which case the
balance stated in convertible notes reserve will be transferred
to share premium. Where the option remains unexercised

at the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible notes
reserve will be released to the retained profits. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components

in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible notes payable using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other creditors,
amount(s) due to related companies/associates/a jointly
controlled entity/non-controlling interests, other payables and
bank and other borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments are classified as an equity
instrument.

The fair value of warrants on the date of issue is recognised
in equity (warrants reserve). The warrants reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share premium upon exercise
of the warrants. Where the warrants remain unexercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in warrants
reserve will be released to the retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Financial instruments - continued
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and

the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid or
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In the event that
lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases,
such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Leasing — continued
Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as

a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been
transferred to the Group. Specifically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests
in the land element and building element of the lease at the
inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted

for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position
and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis
except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model.

For those release of prepaid lease payments that relate to
leasehold interest in land and are directly attributable to the
construction of project under development and stock of
properties, the amounts released are capitalised as part of
the cost of those assets. Release of prepaid lease payments
that relate to sea use rights are capitalised as development
costs in project under development. Capitalisation of such
release of prepaid lease payments/sea use rights ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other release of prepaid lease payments are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised on the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to
the value of work certified during the year.

Revenue from distribution of LPG is recognised when goods
are delivered and title has passed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Revenue recognition — continued

Project management service income and facilities
management service income are recognised when services
are provided.

Revenue from sale of completed properties is recognised
upon the execution of binding sales agreements and delivery
of the properties. Deposits and instalments received from
purchasers prior to this stage are included in the current
liabilities.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

Income from port, port logistics and supporting services are
recognised when the respective services are rendered.

Service income from provision of consultancy services

which also involve usage by the customer of the Group’s
infrastructure and logistics facilities is recognised at the time
when the services are rendered. When the service contract
involves a long period to deliver the services, the revenue is
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the
contract service, as measured by the proportion that the
value of the service rendered to the customer up to date bear
to the estimated total value of the service under the contract
with the customer.

The income from contract involving only the use by customer
of the Group’s infrastructure facilities is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the usage granted to the
customer.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when

it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.
Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying asset, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on

a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss
over the useful lives of the related assets. Government grants
that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
including Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged

as an expense or capitalised in contracts in progress, where

appropriate, when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated income statement because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised

for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised

to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Taxation — continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner

in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated

in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at

the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit

or loss for the period except for exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which cases, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Foreign currencies — continued

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (the
translation reserve).

From 1 April 2009 onwards, on the disposal of a foreign
operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity
that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving

loss of significant influence over an associate that includes

a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit

or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed arising on an acquisition of
a foreign operation on or after 1 April 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31BLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees after 7 November 2002
and vested before 1 April 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded
in the consolidated financial statements until such time as the
options are exercised, and no charge is recognised in profit
or loss in respect of the value of options granted. Upon the
exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded as additional share capital at the nominal value of
the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded as share
premium. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their
exercise date are deleted from the register of outstanding
options.

Share options granted to employees after 7 November 2002
and vested on or after 1 April 2005

For share options granted to directors and employees of the
Group after 1 April 2005, the fair value of services received
determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period/recognised as an expense in
full at the grant date when the share options granted vest
immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-
based payment reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based
payment reserve. At the time when the share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognised in share-
based payment reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after vesting date

or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31BLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Share-based payment transactions — continued
Share options granted to suppliers/consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at the fair values of the goods or services received,
unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which
case the goods or services received are measured by
reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The
fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-
based payment reserve), when the Group obtains the goods
or when the counterparties render services, unless the goods
or services qualify for recognition as assets.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in
respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated

in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. In addition, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is
an indication that they may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(@) Construction contracts

The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of a
construction contract according to the management’s
estimation of the total outcome of the project as well
as the percentage of completion of construction works.
Notwithstanding that the management reviews and
revises the estimates of both contract revenue and
costs for the construction contract as the contract
progresses, the actual outcome of the contract in terms
of its total revenue and costs may be higher or lower
than the estimates and this will affect the revenue and
profit recognised.

(b) Deferred tax asset

At 31 March 2011, no deferred tax asset in relation

to unused tax losses of HK$835 million (2010:

HK$911 million) has been recognised in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position due

to unpredictability of future profit streams of those
subsidiaries. In cases where the actual future profits
generated by those subsidiaries are more than
expected, a material deferred tax credit would be
recognised in the consolidated income statement in the
period in which the tax losses are utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
— continued

(c)

Deferred tax liability recognised in respect of
fair value adjustments on investment properties,
project under development and stock of
properties

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities shall reflect
the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover the carrying amount of its
assets.

As at 31 March 2011, the deferred tax liability in
respect of the fair value adjustment on project

under development and stock of properties

amounted to approximately HK$195,906,000

(2010: HK$838,030,000), of which an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$143,509,000 (2010:
HK$608,079,000) was in relation to the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) Land Appreciation Tax
(“LAT”). For those classified as liabilities associated

with assets classified as held for sale, as at 31 March
2011, the deferred tax liability in respect of the fair value
adjustment on project under development and stock of
properties amounted to approximately HK$648,027,000
(2010: Nil), of which an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$470,212,000 (2010: Nil) was in
relation to the PRC LAT. In making the estimation, the
directors have considered that the land and sea use
rights development may be recovered through future
sale in the long term. Upon the completion of the
development and, depending on the market condition
by that time, the directors will re-assess the use of
property interests and make appropriate adjustments to
reflect the tax consequences of the related assets.

As described in note 19, the directors of the Company
have made a best estimate on deferred tax liability in
considering the manner in which the Group expects

to recover the carrying amount of the investment
properties. In making the estimation, the directors made
reference to the use of the property interests nearby
and assumptions are made based on the likely usage
of the properties in that location. The directors had
made a best estimate that half of the property interests
may be realised through sale in the long term. The
relevant amount of potential LAT had been recognised
as a deferred tax liability based on the above estimate.
The amount of such related deferred tax liability as at
31 March 2011 is approximately HK$127,570,000
(2010: HK$605,597,000) (excluding deferred tax
liability reclassified as held for sale of approximately
HK$582,837,000 (2010: Nil)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
— continued

(d) Other debtors

As disclosed in note 32, there are advances and
accrued interest of aggregate sums of approximately
HK$253,211,000 and HK$16,394,000 (2010:
HK$242,579,000 and HK$16,394,000) due from

an independent third party and its related company,
respectively as at 31 March 2011. A subsidiary of

the Company has taken legal action in Hong Kong to
recover the amount of approximately HK$16,394,000.
However, under same legal proceedings, a third party
claim for damages in a total sum of Renminbi (“RMB”)
402 million for breach of an alleged oral master
agreement has been lodged against the Group. Taken
into consideration of a legal opinion, the Company is
of the view that the third party claim is groundless and
that it would not lead to any material adverse impact on
the financial position of the Group.

Management has assessed the uncertainties
surrounding the above dispute together with the value
of the underlying collaterals obtained for the above
balances and is of the view that the amounts can be
recovered in full (see note 32).

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the borrowings disclosed in note 40, convertible
notes payable disclosed in note 41 and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and their associated risks thereto. The Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new
debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

6. TURNOVER 6. EXH
Turnover is analysed as follows: EEB OO
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Revenue from construction contracts BESHBA 4,345,426 3,600,900
Sale of properties HEWE 368,884 107,618
Sale of LPG product HE R A M RE M 329,079 282,925
Income from port related services 7 O 4E B R 7% A 209,212 87,638
Income from usage and FAREREERBRA
management of infrastructure
facilities 65,223 131,270
Revenue from project and facilities 5B Rk FiEEERBERA
management services 20,164 12,767
Property rental and related income mER S RABBKRA 10,351 6,643
Interest income from loans receivable JEW & K2 F B A 8,861 30,660
5,357,200 4,260,421
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. oHEHR
The operating segments of the Group, based on information REEBZKEDE - DARAEEFELERESE

reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker

(the Managing Director of the Company) for the purposes

of resources allocation and performance assessment.

The information focuses more specifically on the strategic
operation and development of each business units and its
performance is evaluated through organising similar business
units into an operating segment. The Group’s reportable

segment are as follows:

Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited and its subsidiaries
(“Paul Y. Engineering Group”) — The Group’s subsidiary listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and principally engaged
in building construction, civil engineering, development
management, project management, facilities and asset

management

Ports development

Development of ports facilities

and ports related properties

Ports and logistics

Property -

Operation of ports, LPG and
logistics businesses

Development, sale and leasing

of real estate properties and

formed land

Treasury -

Provision of credit services and
securities trading

(RRRIHEE) ERNBRETERDELKRBRFAH
ZERNREE ENEARBETREEREM IR
REENER MERADBBSRABRBEMAE
REEDE 2 T AR - AEBZREDRMT ¢

REZEEFERADEMBAR(REZEE
B - AEEEEBBIMA LT ZHBAR T2

MERBFEE TAIR BREE BHEERE.

REREEER

BABRE - BORMEREDEEYE
2B

BO kYR - BOEE BRIEABE K
e

ES - BHWEMERD FELTH
ZER HERHEE

[ % - REEERBLEESFEE
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 7. DEWER-E
The Managing Director of the Company assesses the AR E EEHERE R R B RBR AT A R
performance of the operating segments based on a measure (TEBITH 2 A 2 ELE D H 2 KRR -

of earnings before interest expense and tax (“‘EBIT”).

DEEHEE DR AN (WL EA2E 2 HmE)
Inter-segment revenue is charged at market price or, where RE T RAS Y S o
no market price is available, at terms determined and agreed
by both parties. PR EREE
Segment revenues and results M B IRIEE 5 35 RARE 2 AR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating segment:
For the year ended 31 March 2011 B Z201153A31ALEE
Paul Y. Ports
Engineering Ports and Segment
Group development logistics Property Treasury total  Eliminations Consolidated
REEREE EO%E  RORYUR H Ef At 2 &a

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER - TR TR TR Thxn TR TER

TURNOVER i
External revenue Wik 4,365,590 65,0 538,291 379,235 8861 5,357,200 - 5,357,200
Inter-segment revenue AHERR (31,799) - - 287 - (31,562) 31,562 -
Total % 4,333,791 65,223 538,294 379,472 8861  5:325,638 3,562 5,357,200
EBITDA" EBITDA* 68,064 357,502 212,682 86,003 5,76 731,127 (9,846) 721,281
Depreciation and nEREE™

amortisation*™* (16,330) (28,131) (57,728) (502) B)  (102,694) - (102,694)
Segment result - EBIT A H£&- EBIT 51,734 329,371 154,954 86,401 5,073 628,433 (9,346) 618,587
Corporate and NEREMAET

other expenses™ (66,265)
Finance costs BEKK (86,282)
Profit before taxation BRaEMN 466,040
Taxation it} (166,852)

Profit for the year EREH 209,188
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 7. oBER-E
Segment revenues and results — continued THBBEREE &
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B ZE20103A31ALLFE
Paul Y. Ports
Engineering Ports and Segment
Group  development logistics Property Treasury total  Eliminations  Consolidated
RERZEE BORE  RORWE x B Bl b3 8

HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEL Tk T TER TER TERL TEL

TURNOVER EXE
External revenue Hihka 3613667 181270 370,563 114,261 30660 4260421 - 460421
Inter-segment revenue AEERR 31,206 - = 232 - 31,438 (31,438) =
Total ek 3,644,873 131,270 370,563 114,493 30,660 4,291,859 (31,438) 4,260,421
EBITDA* EBITDA* 72,126 459,677 106,457 34,085 | 672,386 (14,143) 658,243
Depreciation and nEREH™
amortisation™* (10,754) (54,805) (39,794) (633) ) (105,889) - (105,889)
Segment result - EBIT PHEE- EBIT 61,372 404,872 66,063 33,562 38 566,497 (14,143) 552,354
Corporate and NAREMET
other expenses* (83,599
Finance costs BERA (66,271)
Profit before taxation BB A& F 402,484
Taxation A (165,764)
Profit for the year ERET 236,720
* “EBITDA” is defined as earnings before interest * [EBITDAlEZE AARFFERE BB &
expense, tax, depreciation and amortisation. MR AT -
**Including acquisition — related costs of approximately = m S EE SR Y A AN 414,172,000 7T
HK$14,172,000 (2010: HK$22,499,000). (2010 : 22,499,000 7T) o
Including olleprematlon of properFy, plant and equipment e @AWY EHENESFERSMENA
and amortisation of other intangible assets. A
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 7. SHER-&
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and NTRERENHINTAEBEZEERBE
liabilities by operating segment:
At 31 March 2011 R201153A31H
Paul Y.
Engineering Ports Ports and Segment
Group  development logistics Property Treasury total  Eliminations  Consolidated
REEXER BORRE  BORME LS E# A &

HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’00:(IJ
Tin T TR TiERn Tin Tin Tin Tirn

ASSETS -
Segment assets AHEE 2,771,648 276,131 3,002,888 2,617,633 164,352 8,832,652 (148,764) 8,683,888
Assets classified as held ARBRRELEEE
for sale (note 17) (Ht17) - 4,950,579 - 1,005,630 - 6,046,209 - 6,046,209
Unallocated assets AOREE 164,858
Consolidated total assets ~ FFAMEE 14,804,955
LIABILITIES 8f
Segment liabilities PHaE 2,167,321 146,320 1,332,870 1,179,544 84,003 4,910,064 (111,184) 4,798,880
Liabilties associated BNEBRENEZBE
with assets classified BEzaEWHZ17)
as held for sale
(note 17) - 3,093,302 - 208,161 - 3,301,463 - 3,301,463
Unallocated liabilties AARAE 469,052
Consolidated total FREARE
liabilities 8,569,395
At 31 March 2010 R20105%3A31H
Paul Y.
Engineering Ports Ports and Segment
Group  development logistics Property Treasury fotal Eliminations  Consolidated
RERZSH AOER  EORME kS Ef pixicH H3 &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn T T THL THL THRL TEn TEn
ASSETS BE
Segment assets PHEE 2,548,890 5,528,722 2,861,514 2,664,263 242,367 13,845,746 (153,811) 13,691,935
Unallocated assets APHEBE 349,085
Consolidated total assets ~ HAMEE 14,041,000
LIABILITIES g
Segment liabilities HHaRE 1,959,477 3,878,215 1,382,613 1,137,848 129,175 8,487,388 (128,762) 8,368,626
Unallocated liabilities AARAE 24,884
Consolidated total GaBak
liabilities 8,383,510
Segment assets and liabilities comprise assets and liabilities DHEEREBBERRENETRAER Z2EEWE R
of the operating subsidiaries that are engaged in different RAIZEEREBE -Hit DBEETEEEZARR
businesses. Accordingly, segment assets exclude corporate THESEREe REMERERZ AREE - M5 a0
assets which are mainly bank balances and cash and BENITEBEFIEREMENERZARIAEE -

other receivables, and segment liabilities exclude corporate
liabilities which are mainly other payables.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

Other information

The following is an analysis of the Group’s other information

by operating segment:

DEER &
H &R
TER/AFBEREMEMZEB D BE D 20

For the year ended 31 March 2011 B ZE2011F3A31BLEFE
Paul Y. Ports
Engineering Ports and
Group ~ development logistics Property Treasury  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
REBERE BOBE  AORMR nE ER B &a
HKSO0D  HKS000  HKSO0D  HKSO0D  HKSOOD  HKS000  HKSO00
Thx T#ER TER TR Thn T T
Amounts included inthe measure S AR EA BEEA HEE
of segment results or segment LER:
assets:
Additions tonon-current assets  EEFRHEE (BRIERES
other than financial instruments RE/HR SR EERR D)
and interests in associates/
jointly controlled entities 99,158 301,410 103,168 32,009 - - 535,745
Release of prepaid lease payments A& BN EE 575 - 3,549 - - - 4,124
Share-based payment expense  MRAZ [ - 162 - - 1 - 163
Unallocated amount ﬂ%’ﬁ@ﬁmlﬂ 98
261
Impairment loss recovered on ERFERZAEND
receivables - - 1,871 512 - - 2,443
Loss (gain) on disposal of property,  HEWE - BREHEZEE
plant and equipment (z) 1 267 (146) 10 - - 192
Unallocated amount AR IHE 65
251
Interest income HEHA 12,889 1,185 2,976 1,826 - (10,075) 8,801
Unallocated amount AEARIFE 196
8,997
Finance costs BERA 10,076 41,582 31,015 3,547 4,545 (4,483) 86,282
Taxation it 7,895 128,821 5819 24,998 (681) - 166,852
Interests in associates A UNGE ) 24,976 - 1,107,051 - - - 1,132,027
Interests in jointly controlled entiies R 5l EER 4,065 - - - - - 4,065
Share of results of associates BEBENAEE (5,253) - 142,067 - - - 136,814
Share of resuts of jointly FELRARNEERE
controlled entities 2,802 - - - - - 2,892
Impairment loss recognised in FEERALAEEE
respect of goodwil 74 - - - - - 74
Change in fair valug of investments ~ #FEERE 2 ATEEE
held for trading - - - - (2,581) - (2,581)
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued
Other information — continued

HtpER — &

For the year ended 31 March 2010 B Z2010F3HA31HLEE
PaulY. Ports
Engineering Ports and
Group  development logistics Property Treasury  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
RERELE BORE  BORMR VI B b e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn T Thn T T Thr Thr
Amounts included in the measure A EA BEEASHEE
of segment results or segment bk k
assets:
Addifions tonon-current assets ~ EEFRFEE (SBIAR
other than financial ingtruments ~~ Bi& 8] / ARIRGIEEER
and interests in associates/ Bah)
jointly controlled entities 38,503 1,130,489 308,000 2,555 = = 1,479,547
Unallocated addtions AR KEE 6
1,479,653
Release of prepaid lease payments & ERAEE 575 - 2,385 - - - 2,960
Share-Dased payment expense  MEHERFE - 1332 9 - 0 - 1,371
Unallocated amount AEAR T (34)
1,337
Impairment loss recognised EUFERZAEER (K@)
(recovered) on receivables M - - 11,376 (400) - 11,687
Loss (gain) on disposal of property,  E#% - R R EEE
plant and equipment (z) 37 7 1,133 82 - - 1,09
Unallocated amount AEARIHE (18)
1,077
Interest income HEHA 13,312 2,204 951 622 = (12,853 4236
Unallocated amount AEAR T %3
4329
Finance costs RENA 13,561 8,146 36,997 5,331 7,352 (5,116) 66,271
Taxation HE 1,240 179,077 27 26,072 (57) - 205,359
Unallocated amount AEAR TR 39,59)
166,764

142 WIC) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31BLFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 7. SHER-&
Other information - continued HthEH &
For the year ended 31 March 2010 - continued B ZE2010F3A31ALFE-&
PaulY. Ports
Engineering Ports and
Group  development logistics Property Treasury  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
REREEE  AOEE  BORMR S Ef Hi e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEx THR AR TER TE Thn Thn
Interests in associates BendER 30,164 - 866,611 - - - 896,775
Share of results of associates BEBENAEE (1,140) - 59,215 - - - 58,075
Share of resuts of jointly BELRAANRERE
controlled entities (b,241) - - - - - (b,241)
Gain on disposal of asubsiclary ~ HE-RHBAF 2 H& 185 - - - - - 185
Impairment loss recognised in REERAZAERE
respect of goodwil 2,092 - - - - = 2,69
Loss on deregistration of HENBEATRR BR
a subsidiary 5 - - - - - 5
Impairment loss on an avallable-for- A HERE 2 HESE
sdle investment - - - - 37,190 - 37,190
Change in fair value of investments ~ #FEERE 2 ATEEEE)
held for trading - - - - 14123 - 14,123
Gain on bargain purchase of NG DE e
sUbsidiaries - - 13,466 - - - 13,466
Geographical information #h & & B
The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong, AEBZEBIZMRAES BFARTE  BREE
Macau and the PRC other than Hong Kong and Macau. KORPT e
The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover by TEZWETEIS REPHFMENE  THy
geographical market based on location of customers, B PRAE B ) $2 AN S [ A% 5B Y DA
irrespective of the origin of the goods/services:
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
Hong Kong B 4,094,304 3,342,236
The PRC other than Hong Kong and Macau R - BREERIEP 1,149,299 805,828
Macau and others SERPT R 113,597 112,357
5,357,200 4,260,421
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 7.

Geographical information — continued

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-
current assets excluding financial instruments and interests
in associates/jointly controlled entities, analysed by the
geographical location of assets:

PBER &

WwEEN &
NTNARREEZMEBES D  WIRDEE (T
BEeHMIARBERRHEAZEHKEEZ) R
EEZDH

Non-current assets excluding
financial instruments
and interests in associates/
jointly controlled entities

FRBEE(FTEESMIAR
BEATHEEASEER)
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHAT
Hong Kong 5 238,610 157,331
The PRC other than Hong Kong and Macau B (B RORPIBRIN) 2,894,554 6,959,593
Macau and others SRPT K2 E 353 70
3,133,517 7,116,994

Information about major customers FTEEFZER

Included in revenue arising from Paul Y. Engineering Group
segment is revenue of approximately HK$1,140 million and
HK$691 million (2010: HK$1,105 million), respectively, which
arose from revenue from the Group’s two (2010: one) largest
customers, which individually contributed more than 10% of
total turnover of the Group.

REZEEESBAEEZ2HMEF  HEHHH
1,140,000,000/% 7T % 691,000,000/ 7t (2010 :
1,105,000,0007% 7T) Y R B A KB M % (2010 © —
B)BRABPz N mE  BMEAEE B E ¥EEiE
B10% ©

8. OTHER INCOME 8. Hfttlg A
Other income includes: HAb A BIE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Rental income from short leasing of RHEEMEFE2HSRA

stock of properties 30,417 14,881
Interest income MEHA 7,762 4,278
Imputed interest income on receivables JRE W R IR 2 e E A B 1,235 51
Write-back of aged payables 1 [0 380 HA jE < k18 7,804 -

Recovery of withholding tax paid in Wl BRI E R Ml B TR
connection with a former investment - 15,243
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10.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

9. HtthmEREE

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Change in fair value of investments held BIEEBEREZAFEEED
for trading (2,581) 14,123
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary b E—FRB ARz s - 185
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary BB AR Mz ER - (5)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  WRERERBEZER
plant and equipment (257) (1,077)
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments HEEMNEEREREE
and related other intangible assets H At & & < W 4,104 -
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERAHEHERE 2 s
investments 47 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of HMEERER 2 RERE
goodwil (74) (2,692)
Impairment loss on an available-for-sale —IHAHEERE ZREERE
investment - (87,190)
Impairment loss recovered (recognised) on FEUM AR R 2 R B B E R B (R
receivables 2,443 (11,687)
3,682 (38,343)
OTHER EXPENSES 10. Hh&EMA
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Acquisition-related costs ERUTHE B B 2 AR 14,172 22,499
Expenses for recovery of withholding tax in BBl AR E A B 2 TAE AR
connection with a former investment pd 53 - 3,850
Others HAt - 3,186
14,172 29,535
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11. FINANCE COSTS 11. MERK
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$’000
THERT TET
Borrowing costs on: B BB
Bank borrowings wholly repayable within ARAEFRNE2HER ZRITER
five years 132,280 158,865
Bank borrowings not wholly repayable within -~ H#ZAR L6 A 2 BifE & Z IRITE K
five years 16,513 5,958
Amounts due to non-controlling interests RN EF AR BUER 2 S IEER
wholly repayable within five years % 2 FRIE 571 2,707
Amounts due to non-controlling interests not ~ BAR T F AR EIEE 2 B IEE
wholly repayable within five years % #E 3 2 FRIH 224 74
Imputed interest expense on other payables HitENEBRR 2 EER SR 2,678 -
Effective interest on convertible notes wholly ~ AR AF A2 BER 2 THRAKRTE
repayable within five years Z BB E 549 9,121
Other borrowings wholly repayable within ARAFAZEER 2 EMER
five years 15,106 15,093
167,921 191,818
Less: Amount capitalised in respect of B BIEERENIRER 285
contracts in progress (207) (848)
Amount capitalised in respect of BEERDERERNZHHE
project under development (38,221) (88,130)
Amount capitalised in respect of BIERERME B KLZE
ports under construction (included in RNZEREANER 2 H5E
property, plant and equipment) (21,286) (9,760)
Amount capitalised in respect of BIEMEFEERZ 8
stock of properties (21,925) (26,809)
86,282 66,271
The capitalised borrowing costs represent the borrowing BRRAAAZEBERTEEBREERABZES
costs incurred by the entities on borrowings whose funds KA MENEBESRRTEREARER Y %

were specifically invested in the project and properties during

the year.
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEMS
EMOLUMENTS (a) EEM<
(a) Directors’ emoluments B AE (2010 +5) EEEA 2B
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight ) UM

(2010: seven) directors are as follows:
FABEEEZRETMMNE (2010 &) -
None of the directors has waived any emoluments

during the year (2010: Nil).

Salaries Retirement
and benefit Share-
other  Discretionary scheme based
Fees benefits bonus  contributions payment Total
FMR BIEA N R
e Rt KA AR XfHHE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
Name of directors B4R THT THR TR TR THT THRT
(note)
(Hit)
2011
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom AmR 360 4,300 15,282 319 - 20,261
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles RE% 208 - - - - 208
Chan Yiu Lun, Alan R

(as alternate to Chan (BRE%

Kwok Keung, Charles) LEEES) 112 - - - - 112
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph [EEAE 760 - - - - 760
Kwok Shiu Keung, Emest D% 380 - - - - 380
Chan Shu Kin RS 420 - - - - 420
Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph B 340 - - - - 340
Li Chang An Z2ER 300 - - - - 300

2,880 4,300 15,282 319 - 22,781
2010
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom HER 360 4,300 - 319 657 5,636
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles RE® 320 - - - - 320
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph [EERE 760 - - - - 760
Kwok Shiu Keung, Emest D% 380 - - - - 380
Chan Shu Kin BEE 420 - - - - 420
Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph &% 340 - - - - 340
Li Chang An 3ER 300 - - - - 300

2,880 4,300 - 319 0657 8,156
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 12. EER{EEME &

— continued (b) EEBE
(b) Employees’ emoluments AEBRAFEANESHFABBERAD
The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the Rl—REZ(2010: —HEZF)  EH&HE
year included one director (2010: one director) of the oA £ XM FE12(a) BT EL
Company, details of whose emoluments are set out in
note 12(a) above. HHpBASEES 2% (2010 WR) &E
ZABzBHMeLT

The aggregate emoluments of the remaining four (2010:
four) highest paid individuals, who are employees of the
Group, are as follows:

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Salaries and other benefits e kHMER 7,943 7,263
Discretionary bonus (note) BB TEAL (H752) 12,092 6,383
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & /K& I &t & 5% 156 148
Share-based payment expense IAR&1D X N FRIEZ B A 252 2,051
20,443 15,845

Their emoluments were within the following bands: REMEHBNT

Number of employees

EBEA™
2011 2010
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T - 2,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7t - 3,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,0017% 7T - 3,500,000 7T 1 _
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7T — 4,500,000/ 7T 1 _
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7T - 5,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 7T - 6,500,000/ 7T - q
HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000 10,500,00178 7T — 11,000,0007% 7T 1 —
4 4
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the FR AEBVERNAUGSFABRES
Group to the five highest paid individuals and directors XM IAERMAREBR SN MAREE
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or Fro 2E) - SERBERMEE -

as compensation for loss of office.
Wit - BB TEAL B E2011 3 A31H LM A F
Note: The discretionary bonus are performance related incentive B A SR o
payment for the two years ended 31 March 2011.
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13. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

13. BR%AT SR

2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Profit before taxation has been arrived B 5% A s A 2 F0 Bk
at after charging:
Amortisation of intangible assets B R EH
(included in distribution and selling (BERDHR
expenses and administrative HEBARITHER)
expenses) 12,787 2,302
Auditor’s remuneration % B A B & 7,554 7,202
Cost of inventories recognised as Rz FEKAR
an expense 565,480 339,318
Cost of construction works recognised AR/ L ZBEIRKRA
as an expense 4,173,286 3,420,857
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  BHRREBEZITE
equipment (note (a) below) (FxXHita) 89,907 103,587
Operating lease rentals in respect of: KERNHES
Premises BF 22,662 24,206
Plant and machinery A 2 % 18 8,834 22,713
Release of prepaid lease payments ABENEERE 4,124 2,960
Staff costs (note (b) below) BIXW (XM D) 241,486 179,333
and after crediting: WEFTA :
Dividend income from investments held HIEEERE ZBREWA
for trading 245 178
Rental income under operating leases in RERHZER WA
respect of:
Investment properties, net of wEMFE BNk H
outgoings of HK$3,326,000 3,326,000/ T
(2010: HK$1,600,000) (2010 : 1,600,0007% 7T ) 7,025 5,043
Total interest income (included in A S WA
turnover and other income) (FIAEHEEREMIA) 17,858 34,989
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13. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION - continued

13. BRBLAIER -4

Notes: Mt
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
(@)  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment: ME EREREBEZITE
Amount provided for the year FERERR 94,804 108,625
Less: Amount capitalised in respect of contracts B B{EERAHNIREER
in progress pa ¢ (1,414) (1,658)
Amount capitalised in respect of project BIEREAIERIEARY
under development Eag-] (449) (973)
Amount capitalised in respect of BIEEBR SR - B
ports under construction (included RERAZERED
in property, plant and equipment) B B (509) 86)
Amount capitalised in respect of BIEMERTEEARZ
stock of properties L) (2,525) (2,321)
89,907 103,587
(o)  Staff costs: BT
Directors’ emoluments (note 12(a)) BEEME (Wit12(a) 22,781 8,156
Other staff costs: HtE T
Salaries and other benefits o & H A 18 F) 486,789 415,772
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, RIRFEF T B
net of forfeited contributions of LB 8 Uk 3%16,000
AIEIE000 (20708 HLGTE LY % 7(2010 : 79,0003 7T) 15,056 14,000
Share-based payment expense R REBEZER 261 680
525,787 438,707
Less: Amount capitalised in respect of contracts W BIEERANIRER
in progress Z8E (270,227) (247,376)
Amount capitalised in respect of project BiEREAIERENRN
under development 285 (2,125) (1,302)
Amount capitalised in respect of BIEBSHRIE - W
ports under construction (included in SERNZERED
property, plant and equipment) BA T B (6,387) (4,255)
Amount capitalised in respect of stock BEVMEGFEELRZ
of properties 258 (5,562) (6,441)
241,486 179,333
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RE R RMTE
For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE
14. TAXATION 14. Bi1E
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
The charge comprises: I HBIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax: BEBNE
Underprovision in prior years BEFEEEBDRE 2 -
Taxation arising in jurisdictions outside BRNINEERBES ZHIA
Hong Kong:
Current year REE 44,341 21,499
Under(over)provision in prior years BEFEREGBRD (B%) 6,313 (39,457)
50,654 (17,958)
Deferred taxation (note 42) EIERIR (M iE42)
LAT T E R 55,793 112,711
Others Hth 60,403 71,011
116,196 188,722
Taxation attributable to the Company RNAT REME R R EIEFIE
and its subsidiaries 166,852 165,764

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the

estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate is 25% for the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC from 1
January 2008 onwards. Pursuant to the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC, a PRC subsidiary of the Group was
exempted from PRC income tax for two years starting from

R16.5%:T & °

FE R ES0%E I °

its first profit making year, followed by a 50% reduction for

the next three years.

BAENERIREMFE R 2 (45T B RBE AR

BEPEAREMBECERST E(EMEH
FDRGCEMEHELERAN  AEEPEMNBR
A2 ZER R HR2008F 1 A1 B #E A25% ° IRIEHE
HEDAEES  AEE—HTEMBARAE A
ESFEFEEMERERRPRMEH  MBE =
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

14. TAXATION - continued 14.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the above PRC
subsidiary obtained confirmation from the PRC tax authority
in respect of the change of tax exemption period. The two
years tax exemption period started from 1 January 2006
instead of 1 January 2008, and the 50% reduction period
was changed from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2010
instead of from 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012.

An underprovision in income tax has been charged to the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March
2011.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT (2 A R HAME i3I8 [EFRE 1T

16:471) effective from 1 January 1994, and the Detailed
Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations of the
PRC on LAT (2 A R A E + 338 ER E 1740 B e
81)) effective from 1 January 1994 as well, all income from
the sale or transfer of land use rights, buildings and their
attached facilities in the PRC is subject to LAT at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation value as
calculated according to the Provisional Regulations of the
PRC on LAT and its Detailed Implementation Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the overprovision in
respect of prior years represented the balance of overseas
income tax withheld in relation to disposal of a former
investment which was charged to profit or loss in prior years.
Clearance of tax liabilities arising from the disposal had been
received and the balance had been recovered in April 2010.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE
14. TAXATION - continued 14, BE &
The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the REE 2 B X H B GE W e &SI % BATE 7
profit before taxation per the consolidated income statement ZHEEWT
as follows:
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Profit before taxation B 5 A1 A 466,040 402,484
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% BREBNEH R E16.5%TE
Z FiIE 76,898 66,410
Tax effect of share of results of BB EAR HREGIEEEE
associates/jointly controlled entities 2B E (23,051) (8,718
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for EHRBFEATNRASZZ
tax purpose MG EE 13,838 32,490
Tax effect of income not taxable for ERBTEBAERTRAZ
tax purpose MR e (6,888) (9,733)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REERBRBER 2 NBTE 14,447 11,475
Tax effect of other deductible temporary RAEBERATMBAEREZEZ
difference not recognised B2 158 170
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously B LRI RER 2 RBERZ
not recognised MR & (10,210) (10,950)
Tax effect of utilisation of other deductible AN ABRZANRERERE
temporary difference previously not 2B E
recognised (13) (202)
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 4‘& AERREEEE 2B
operating in other jurisdictions RAIZ PR E 2RI E 53,553 42,397
Effect of recognising LAT in respect of the fair ~ Bt E ¥ E R F(EEZ ZLHER
value changes in investment properties T IR ER 2 2 55,793 112,711
Effect of tax holiday granted to BTHBENBARNBEEZXE
a PRC subsidiary (40) (2,651)
Tax effect of LAT THIEER BB E (13,948) (28,178)
Under(over)provision in prior years BAFERBIR (A%) 6,315 (39,457)
Taxation charge for the year RNEEHERT 166,852 165,764

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 42.

EERIR 2 FF 15 R K42 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

15.

16.

DISTRIBUTION

The final dividend of HK1 cent per share (2010: Nil) proposed
by the board of directors in respect of the year ended 31
March 2011 amounting to approximately HK$45,291,000
(2010: Nil), which will be in form of cash with a scrip option,
has been calculated by reference to the 4,529,125,134
issued shares as at the date of this report.

On 24 June 2011, the board of directors resolved to
recommend the payment of a special cash dividend of HK2
cents (2010: Nil) per share. The amount of the special cash
dividend of approximately HK$90,582,000 (2010: Nil) so
proposed was calculated by reference to 4,529,125,134
issued shares as at the date of this report.

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

15.

16.

7k

E=ZRMKBEMBE 2201143A31H I REK &
TR (2010 « ) 2 B EE X 545,291,000/ 7T
(2010 : &) » EBUR S (TERUABRRE) X
f TE2ERAREEZ AMAEZ4,529,125,134
BREBITRGAE -

MR2011F6A24H EEZRAZERRERAE S
B B &Rl (2010 - £8) - KRB AR SR B 2
© %8 49 490,582,000 7t (2010 : &) * h 2 E RN
NEE 24,529,125, 134 2 BT IRDETE -

BEREXREBERR
ARG A 0 A RS BRI TS AR B L
TR E

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FAT
Profit for the year attributable to owners of STESRERREERN 2 AR A
the Company for the purposes of basic and HA ANEIEEE &
diluted earnings per share 200,104 149,298
2011 2010
Number Number
of shares of shares
ROHE fi& 5 2k B

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purposes of basic and diluted
earnings per share

AEEBREAREERN 2 EBK
AN 15 88

4,529,125,134 4,258,329,067

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company’s options because the
exercise price of those options was higher than the average
market price for Company’s shares for both years.

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not
assume the conversion of the Company’s outstanding
convertible loan notes since their exercise would result in an
increase in profit per share for both years.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the
year ended 31 March 2010 has been adjusted for the bonus
elements of the rights issue of the Company completed in
July 2009.

154 WIC) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report

REZMEFE &t 5 SREE R EERTE
ARAZBEHRE ARZERREZTEESNA
RAERAD 2 FHHIE

RzMBEFE  FESREERNE YL BRRITE
ARBZHRTEABREREE  ARETEREE
BEBEM L -

ATEEHE2010F3AIB L FESREAREER
Flz EBIMEFHE B ER2009F7A TR 2
AR B HEPRAT FIR D T F A FHEE o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE R RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2011

HZ=E2011F3A31BLFE

17. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 17. 7 EABELHEZEE
On 31 January 2011, a subsidiary of the Company R2011F1A31H AR E —HHEEI&HFOER
which holds 60% equity interest in Jiangsu YangKou Port ERBEBRAG(FRBAF]  HEHEFAOR
Development and Investment Co., Ltd. (“Yangkou Port Co”), MR R ETE) 60%MRIE 2 M B A R HEF OB QA
which is engaged in the business of development in port and —RFERRRT L —BE R HE  ROARE
related infrastructures, entered into a conditional agreement 15.0718 7L (BERLA7IERT)EBEHEFOE
with a non-controlling shareholder of Yangkou Port Co N A Z50.1%M 4 o & FIHE R20114F5A26H
to dispose of 50.1% of its equity interest in Yangkou Port TR FABRARTBRARAIZHMBERAR - HiH
Co for a consideration of approximately RMB1,507 million NAEfERE  FOBRIRAREMTERF 2
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,790 million). The disposal EHREERBENT

was completed on 26 May 2011 and Yangkou Port Co
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company. The major classes
of assets and liabilities of Yangkou Port Co after elimination
of inter-company balances at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

HK$’'000
FHT
Property, plant and equipment M - R RE 1,076,274
Investment properties KEME 2,393,872
Project under development Z#RPIER 1,131,691
Stock of properties MEFE 1,095,629
Trade and other debtors, deposits and prepayments  Z 5 K H M EUIRFR - 5T & R FEM R 220,402
Bank balances and cash RITEFERE® 128,341
Assets classified as held for sale PEERELEZEE 6,046,209
Trade and other creditors and accrued expenses B 5 R EAMER RN R R 291,610
Amount due to an associate JES — B & A B 5K I8 34,074
Amount due to a related company B — I REE R A KB 7,380
Taxation payable e RIIE 74,107
Bank and other borrowings RIT R E AL B 1,282,660
Deferred tax liabilities RIERTEHE & 1,611,632
Liabilities associated with assets classified as HAOBARKELECEERB AR
held for sale 3,301,463
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RE KB RMETE
For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31HILFE
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ - BWMEZE
Port LPG Furniture,
infrastructure  logistics and Motor fixtures and Ports
Plant and Port  andrelated distribution vehicles computer under
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment faciities facilies  andvessels  equipment  construction Total
Ay
AOERR MRR Y
BT MHRRE  RORR  EBRE  O¥RE  AERME  REERE  AEED ait
HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HKS000
Thn Tén T Tén T Thn Tén T ThL
COST HA
At1 Apr 2009 H2009F4A1A 106,117 80,753 - 157,161 468,370 66,026 94,914 - 973,341
Exchange realignment Eigs 466 pA 4 2444 1,645 21 1 729 563
Transfer fiom project EREESEL T
Under development 2367 - - 945,484 - - - 54,350 1022201
Addftions AE 469 34,228 616 16 20,55 12489 4299 211,545 288,441
Transfers 8 66 - - 241 - 4,623 - (7,166) -
Acquiston of subsiciaries ~ WENE A i - 34,88 47987 - 3,166 2362 7917 240,095
Disposal ik (659) (1,499) 326) (99,228) @ 2251 (1243 - (108,201)
Disposal of asubsidlary ~ [EMBAR - - - - - - @ - B
At 31 March 2010 H01053A31R 17483 113504 B 105634 490567 116,200 100,390 B3 2424509
Exchange realignment EiHR 6,995 349 1,661 16,149 21,598 4,463 %I 19,426 101,672
Adcftions AE 25 89,571 3061 3 1742 17,642 11,759 207,4% 31,529
Transfers & - - 1843 5160 - 1984 1113 (10,100 -
Rechssfiedasheldfor  EXAEAR(E
sae ot 17) b (16319 - - (1040 - 6,081) 5331) BXY (112453
Disposd e 1691 905 9 (1650 it} 5.999) 15,105) - 9370
At 31 March 2011 H0NEIR3IA 105,02 202519 41,663 56,73 518,804 129284 103,757 550,798 1703702
DEPRECIATION il
At Apr 2009 H2009E4A1A 13470 48,823 - 56,544 62,114 26,664 78793 - 281,408
Exchange realignment EiAE 62 4 3 8 m 57 pli - 503
Provided for the year KERIE 121 7,588 1315 49458 25,888 9,563 7.5% - 108,62
Eiminated on disposal HERHE - (1491 - (98.401) Q) (1,508) (837) - (102,239
Biminatecon disposalof ~ HERBAREHH
asubsidiary - - - - - - ) - 1)
At 31 March 2010 010834318 20,749 54,924 1318 7,683 88,211 34776 80,075 - 288,2%
Exchange realignment EifE 1,105 106 125 874 459 1007 408 - 817
Proviced for the year KRR 8259 12,789 2811 23,608 27,508 11,993 7843 - 94,804
Reclassifed as held for BNARREE
sal (note 17) e hi7) (1203 - - 29774 - (3.151) (3266) - (8.264)
Eiminated on disposal HERHE - (687) - - 0 (3823 [3677) - (8,39)
At 31 March 2011 H0NEIR3IA 18,040 66,02 4254 238 120300 40822 81,883 - 34617
CARRYING VALUES BAE
At 31 March 2011 A ERTRIE 87,012 135,587 37,409 54,349 303,504 86,462 2874 550,798 1,369,085
At 31 March 2010 H2010%3R31H 154,087 58,580 B/B 1048658 402,09 81,504 19,815 X135 21213
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31HILFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18.

— continued
The above items of property, plant and equipment are

ME - BBRRE A
LlmE  EREREAESEATE  FEQOT

depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per BF MR ER AR
annum: s H+ 4
(ARG & R %)
Buildings Over the remaining period of the WA 2 B 1 10%
relevant leases or fifty years, 520 3 6%
whichever is shorter EOHZEREESE 29 — 20%
Plant and machinery 10% WAL AR 5% — 10%
Port equipment 6% B8R
Port infrastructure and 2% - 20% S EE % A 4.5% — 20%
related facilities FARES 8% — 20%
LPG logistics and 5% -10% TS 20% — 33'/5%
distribution facilities
Motor vehicles and vessels 4.5% - 20%
Furniture and fixtures 8% —20%
Computer equipment 20% - 33'/3%
The carrying amounts of buildings are analysed as follows: EFEEEI>THOT
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
Buildings erected on long-term leasehold land  F Bl K Hi7H & + st pr s iE =
in the PRC 1,423 1,415
Buildings erected on medium-term leasehold Bl BiFH & + ith P 218
land in the PRC 85,589 152,672
87,012 154,087

D reemeran 0118 157
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31HILFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REWE
HK$’000
FHT
FAIR VALUE ALEE
At 1 April 2009 M2009F4 518 2,049,887
Exchange realignment I 7 & 7,923
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1 INEPNG] 17,675
Transferred from project under development (note a) BRBZEREHIAR (M ita) 105,086
Increase in fair value recognised in the consolidated ~ R#&R& Wz R N HER 2 X FEEHE

income statement 397,309
At 31 March 2010 M20103H31H 2,577,880
Exchange realignment M 5, 38 2 123,923
Transferred from project under development BRAERPIER (MiFakb)

(notes a and b) 111,691
Additions NE 38,356
Disposal & (30,279)
Transferred to stock of properties EHREMERE (16,102)
Reclassified as held for sale (note 17) ENOERISELE (WHE17) (2,393,872)
Increase in fair value recognised in the consolidated ~ M#R A Wan R ARER 2 A F E BN

income statement 316,214
At 31 March 2011 M2011%E3H31H 727,811

2011 2010

HK$°000 HK$'000

THERT FHTT

Investment properties, completed (note a) BERIIREME (Hita) 2,768,951 2,577,880
Land under development (note b) BP0 (M i) 352,732 -
3,121,683 2,577,880

Less: classified as held for sale (hote 17) W D BEARELE (W17) (2,393,872) -
727,811 2,577,880

b
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31HILFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued

Notes:

a. Investment properties, completed, include formed land
held for future use as investment property amounting to
HK$2,509,215,000 (2010: HK$2,387,941,000). As at 31 March
2011, the Group completed the reclamation of certain sea area
and obtained the certificate of completion of land reclamation
(the “Certificate”) issued by qualified project engineering and
construction manager in respect of certain land area (the
“Formed Land”) in Jiangsu Province, the PRC. Upon obtaining
the Certificate, such Formed Land has been recognised as land
held under operating lease and classified and accounted for as
investment properties as the Formed Land is held for capital
appreciation purpose. The relevant costs, which include the cost
of sea use rights, development expenditure, borrowing costs
capitalised and other directly attributable expenses, amounting
to approximately HK$16,732,000 (2010: HK$105,086,000), have
been transferred from project under development to investment
properties.

b. As at 31 March 2011, in connection with the reclamation of
certain sea area in Jiangsu Province, the PRC, the Group
commenced, but not yet completed, the land leveling process
(mainly representing the sand filling work to achieve leveling of
the area) (the “Land Being Formed”). Upon the commencement
of land leveling process, such Land Being Formed has been
recognised as land being developed for future use as investment
property and classified and accounted for as investment
properties. The relevant costs, which include the cost of sea use
rights, development expenditure, borrowing costs capitalised and
other directly attributable expenses, amounting to approximately
HK$94,959,000 (2010: Nil), have been transferred from project
under development to investment properties.

19. BE
st

W&

ERIREME (PEREBRAREMERR
ZBFEL ) A$2,509,215,000% 5T (2010 :
2,387,941,000% 7T) ° M2011F3A31H + A& E
TRAREIHEE T B 2ESIRE YA T
EEMERAEKRERIRREERERL YT
MBS ([EFEL]) 2FE ([ZEE]D -
ZEFBRLIHWADNGEZEERERRACEHER
BrikSE UEBIEEREEMARAREY
- HBERA (BESEFERERES BEIZH -
BREXBENAREMEEEGER) 2B AN
16,732,000 7T (2010 : 105,086,000/ 7t) * & &
BRTEEHERAEREDME -

M201143A318 R PBI&HEE T8 2E
BIRMmMS  AEECEMALIHTEIR(ZEHE
BABPLTEEERS) ([FEA L)) - B
KR  REB T TFERFE  ZFEPIHE
WHERBERAREREMEZEEP T - XD
BMREABRAKRENE - HERARESHERRE -
ERIM  BAREANBERAREMEEEERS
$ #8 A #794,959,000/% 7T (2010 : &) ' EH B E
FIEEBAKREME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - continued
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
March 2011 and 31 March 2010 has been arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out as at that date by Asset
Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group. In determining the
fair value for completed investment properties including
Formed Land held for future use as investment property, the
comparison method is adopted under which comparison
based on information of recent transacted prices of
comparable property is made. Comparable property of similar
size, character and location are analysed in order to arrive at
a fair comparison of capital values. The valuation also takes
into account the further increment arising from the approval
obtained from the respective government authority during the
year ended 31 March 2010 for certain portion of the Formed
Land to be used for specified purposes. In determining the
fair value of land under development, the same comparison
method is adopted and valuation has been allowed for
further costs to be expended for the development of the
Land Being Formed into Formed Land. The total gain on fair
value changes of Formed Land where land leveling process
was completed as at 31 March 2011 and Land Being
Formed amounting to approximately HK$45,611,000 (2010:
HK$382,099,000) and approximately HK$241,396,000
(2010: Nil) respectively, has been recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the current year.

Deferred tax consequences in respect of the revalued
investment properties are assessed on the basis that reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects to recover the carrying amounts

of the property at the end of the reporting period. For
Formed Land and Land Being Formed located in the PRC,
management of the Company, for the purpose of deferred tax
calculation, has made a best estimate that half of the Formed
Land and Land Being Formed will be realised through sale

in the long term. The temporary difference of the relevant
portion between the tax base of the revalued investment
properties and their carrying amounts therefore would be
subject to PRC LAT in addition to enterprise income tax.

As at 31 March 2011, the balance of investment properties
included Formed Land of approximately HK$2,509,215,000
(2010: HK$2,387,941,000). The Group has to obtain certain
appropriate certificates for the disposal of the Formed Land.
Based on past experience, the directors of the Company
consider that there is no material impediment to obtain these
certificates for the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE KB RMET
For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE
20. PROJECT UNDER DEVELOPMENT 20. #EFIEHR
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Sea use rights and development costs V15 55 P R B R KR 1,621,812 1,861,739
Less: classified as held for sale (hote 17) B DBAFIERE (KiE17) (1,131,691) =
490,121 1,861,739
The amount mainly relates to a development project located eI ERAFEIHE CEREEAMH - K
in Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Group is undergoing the SEEKETEEETEERERARBRBREA o
reclamation of certain area of the sea and the construction RIEEHFEAESR BER2EHEARZAERAA
of public facilities and ports. According to the sea area use 20045 £ HA9F BEE50F 15 -
certificates, the sea use rights are granted for terms ranging
from 49 to 50 years commencing 2004.
21. STOCK OF PROPERTIES 21. MERE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FAT
Properties under development for sale BREPEEME 946,951 758,776
Properties held for sale BEHEME 1,247,478 1,095,036
2,194,429 1,858,812
Less: classified as held for sale (note 17) B DERFERS (Wit17) (1,095,629) -
1,098,800 1,858,812
Land Being Formed which are developed for future sale are ERAEKREEZFRR T R TERF
recognised as properties under development for sale in stock FIEREEREEENETNERTFHFENE - R
of properties upon the commencement of the land leveling HE20MMF3A3IALFE A5EE BHEBAKK
process. The Group has transferred the relevant costs, which (REEBEHFEAENAN FRIH BREAEE
included the cost of sea use rights, development expenditure, B I L B JE AL AR R ) & %R R £9357,469,0007%
borrowing costs capitalised and other directly attributable 7L (2010 : 879,987,000 70) H#EHR BB E S
costs, amounting to approximately HK$357,469,000 (2010: MEFE -

HK$879,987,000) from project under development to stock
of properties during the year ended 31 March 2011.
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HZE2011F3A31BILFE

21. STOCK OF PROPERTIES - continued 21.

At 31 March 2011, the balance of properties held for sale
included Formed Land of approximately HK$1,079,158,000
(2010: HK$1,018,052,000) and the balance of properties
under development for sale included Land Being Formed of
approximately HK$410,620,000 (2010: Nil). The Group has
to obtain certain appropriate certificates for the disposal of
the Formed Land. Based on past experience, the directors of
the Company consider that there is no material impediment
to obtain these certificates for the Group.

At 31 March 2011, stock of properties includes an amount of
approximately HK$189,328,000 (2010: HK$1,295,818,000)
which is expected to be realised after more than twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

22. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 22,

The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent land in the
PRC and Hong Kong held under medium-term and long
leases and are analysed for reporting purposes as follows:

R201143A31A HELEMEZEHBELD
1,079,158,0005% 7T (2010 : 1,018,052,0005 7T) 2
2 £ 4 [ 49410,620,000/8 7T (2010 © ) @1
FTRALTHZERPHFEDELS - AEEFR D
BRI RIMERFAEEE - REUNAELES
ARAEERBAEERNSZEEERTEEX
&5 o

MN2011F3A31H MEGFEREEHBERA
HEHTEEBRBET _@AARERZEEYD
189,328,000/ 7T (2010 : 1,295,818,000/% 1) °

ANHEERE
ARBEZENBERREEANTREAREERETH
EERHEERAZ L BOMIEREREDNT

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
Leasehold land in Hong Kong BEZHEE L
Medium-term lease FREEE 20,837 21,411
Leasehold land outside Hong Kong BB R 2 HE i
Long lease REHEE 23,720 12,058
Medium-term lease FREEE 272,536 271,285
317,093 304,754
Analysed for reporting purposes as: EAOMVERE A ¢
Current assets BN A E 4,229 4,075
Non-current assets EREEE 312,864 300,679
317,093 304,754
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HZE2011F3A31B LFE
23. GOODWILL 23. BHE
HK$’000
FHT
COST R
At 1 April 2009 M2009F4 H1H 64,343
Write-off upon deregistration of a subsidiary S — P B B 2 =) o 1 B i 5 ()
At 31 March 2010 7201063 H31H 64,338
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries U BE BT B N R R EE AR
(note 47(a)()) (Bt3£47(3)(0)) 4
At 31 March 2011 201143 H31H 64,412
IMPAIRMENT I
At 1 April 2009 200954 A1H -
Impairment loss recognised in the year RAFEEZREBE 2,692
At 31 March 2010 201043 A31H 2,692
Impairment loss recognised in the year RAFERRBEEBR 74
At 31 March 2011 R201143A31H 2,766
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2011 M201143A31H 61,646
At 31 March 2010 201053 A31H 61,646

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount of
goodwill has been allocated to the group of cash generating
units (“CGUS”) representing the Paul Y. Engineering Group.

During the year, the Group recognised an impairment loss of
approximately HK$74,000 (2010: HK$2,692,000) in relation
to goodwill arising on acquisition of certain subsidiaries in
view of the continuous operating losses incurred by those
subsidiaries engaged in property development management
of Paul Y. Engineering Group.

The recoverable amount of the above CGUs has been
determined based on value in use calculations. The Group
prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial budgets approved by management for the next two
years and extrapolates cash flows for the following five years
with a steady growth rate of 5% (2010: 5%). The rate used
to discount the forecast cash flows is 9% (2010: 9%). The
value in use calculations is calculated based on the budgeted
gross margin, which is determined using the unit’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

BREAATNE  BEZREEDRARKRRER
EEBZAREM([BREM]) BFAE -

FRN ERETHREVERREE REZESE
MEBARBESSLEBE AEEBERAREK
BZEWNBRAMELAZREBMZRERSIEAR
74,0007 7T (2010 : 2,692,000/ 7T) °

A FRPREN A BB YIRERERSE T A
MET AEBREETEEMIERKNE 2 &
MY BBERHEHRS RN WHEHAKRAEFZ
WL REBUIER K5% (2010 : 5%)BEIEE - 788
WERZITEEEBI% (2010 : 9%) - EABEAE
FEZKBERBEENE - HAZAIBEEMNBTER
BREBEHMBERIBEMET -
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HZE2011F3A31BILFE
24. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 24, HihB|EEE
Motor
vehicles Club  Premium on
registration  membership leasehold Rights of Customer Know- Rent-free
marks in Hong Kong land operation base how benefits Total
REBZ
REREEE gfie#% HELHIEE iR EFER RS SHRIE a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr Thr THxL T Thr Thr T Fihr
(Note a) (Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d) (Note ¢) (Note)
(Wita) (Wiita) (i) (i) (Hiitd) (iite) (W)
COST A
At 1 April 2009 R2009F4A18 1,383 7,062 10,599 41,340 2,339 2,420 - 65,143
Additions RE 10 - - - - - - 10
Acquistion of WEREAA
subsidiaries - - 100,404 - - - 18,820 119,224
Exchange redignment  E % % - - 150 141 8 8 43 350
At 31 March 2010 2010534318 1,398 7,062 111,183 41,481 2,347 2,428 18,863 184,727
Disposal HE = = (1,240) - - - - (1,240)
Exchange realignment B3R A% = = 4,855 1,823 103 107 829 7,717
At 31 March 2011 R2011%3A318 1,393 7,062 114,768 43304 2,450 2,535 19,692 191,204
AMORTISATION 1]
At 1 April 2009 200954418 - - 659 2,067 585 262 - 3,573
Provided for the year REFHE - - 997 828 234 243 - 2,302
Exchange realignment B A% = = 3 8 3 1 = 15
At 31 March 2010 201063431 - - 1,659 2,903 822 506 - 5,890
Provided forthe year ~ AEE3HE - - 2,032 846 239 248 9422 12,787
Eliminated on disposal &R 53 - - (25) - - - - (25)
Exchangerealignment  [E 3 A% - - 121 148 42 28 223 562
At 31 March 2011 201153318 = - 3,787 3,897 1,108 8 9,645 19214

CARRYINGVALUES ~ HaEfR
At 31 March 2011 12011434318 1,393 7,062 110981 39407 1,347 1,753 10,047 171,990

At 31 March 2010 R201063A31H 1,393 7,062 109,494 38,578 1,625 1922 18,863 178,837
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HZE2011F3A31BILFE

24. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS - continued

Notes:

(@)

The assets have indefinite useful lives. The directors are of the
opinion that the club membership and motor vehicles registration
marks are worth at least their carrying values.

The amount represents the premium on leasehold land in Wuhan
and Yichang, the PRC, upon acquisition by the Group through
the acquisition of the relevant business and the amount is to

be amortised on the same basis as the related prepaid lease
payments over 33 to 70 years. The fair value of the leasehold land
of Yichang on acquisition date is determined by the comparison
method which is based on prices information of recent transaction
price of comparable property of similar size, character and
location.

Rights of operation represent the fair value of rights to operate
LPG business in Wuhan, the PRC. The rights of operation are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the operation licence
period of 50 years.

Customer base represents the fair value of customers relationship
acquired for LPG business through acquisition of business. The
amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over 10 years.

Know-how represents fair value of technology know-how for
motor vehicles to use LPG as fuel. The amortisation is provided
on a straight-line basis over 10 years.

Rental-free benefits represent the fair value of the benefits in
relation to certain land and property, plant and equipment used
rent-free by Yichang Port Group Limited (“Yichang Port Group”).
The amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over the rent-
free period of three years. The rate of the remaining lease term of
17 years is subject to negotiation.

24, Hth B EE &

(@)

REBEEREERIERFH -EERREMEHE
FARBRSBEESZEMSREZLBRENARK
G

ZEBREARBCEUBAEBAEBTERURTE
RETREEMZHEEL 2 EE  DRELHE
NHEERABRZAERIBETOFAME - EEH
EXHRUBRBZATEEDALEEEE A
AR/ BIERMERE 2 REWME 2 TSR (E
ZEBREMBEE-

BRERARETRRNETELRCAAREL 2
M2z RFEE - EERTANESEELEH0F N

EFARKREBRERGHEBRCAARES
BEPBHRzLTER  DABESETI0FARE -

BMTARERRABCAHRAME 2 TERMRE
ZNFEE  DHABSEEI0F A -
RHAERAREEZTEEEBRSEFRAEERR ([H
ERBEEDREEA 2 b RWE  BIRERRE
BHzZNEZRAFEE  DUEREE=ZFRHEH
WEH - Hep7FEBAA 2B mFE -
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HZE2011F3A31BILFE

25.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

&
IS
S
al
W
B

2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FEIT

Cost of unlisted investments in associates, REIE EHE A Z AN
less impairment (note) M RE (H5t) 646,009 526,416

Share of post-acquisition profits and reserves, — #(5 U B8 1% % K R & -

net of dividends received bk B AR S 486,018 370,359
1,132,027 896,775

Note:

In July 2010, the Group injected approximately HK$154,704,000 in
Jiangyin Sunan International Container Terminal Co., Ltd. (“Jiangyin
Sunan”) to increase its equity interest in Jiangyin Sunan from 25% to
40%. A gain of approximately HK$89,560,000 is resulted from the
excess of the share of the net fair value of all identifiable assets and
liabilities attributable to the additional interest acquired over the cost

of the additional interest acquired and recognised in the consolidated
income statement as share of results of associates. Jiangyin Sunan is a
sino-foreign joint venture enterprise registered in the PRC and operates
the container terminal in Jiangyin Port, Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

Apart from the investment in Jiangyin Sunan, as at 31 March 2011, the
unlisted investments mainly represent the Group’s 45% equity interest
in Nantong Port Group Limited (“Nantong Port Group”), which is a sino-
foreign joint venture enterprise registered in the PRC. Nantong Port
Group is principally engaged in providing cargo loading and off loading,
storage, shipping agent, cargo agent, ship anchoring, ship repairing,
port machinery, shipping logistics and ship piloting services in Nantong
Port, Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

The financial year end date of Nantong Port Group and Jiangyin Sunan
is 31 December and their latest financial information that is available to
the Group is in respect of their financial year ended 31 December 2010.
Accordingly, the Group’s share of results and interests in these principal
associates at 31 March 2011 and 2010 are determined based on the
net assets of the associates for the year ended and as at 31 December
2010 and 2009 respectively. No significant transaction or event is noted
between the year end dates of the associates and of the Group.
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R2010F7 R + AEBEEE #9154,704,000/8 TR LR 4%
B EERTEERAA (VIREGR]) BEEMBRAE
R H25% EFE40% AEEEM O EZBE AR 2
BATFHANEERABZZIRATEE HaREERY
B AN BT EE A4 2 WR 55 #989,560,000/8 7T @ B R 4R & IRE R
ZHEEBMENTEEFER TR HE AR P EEMAAK L
ZHHNEEBLE EPRIHEIRBCEERBIER-

BRRTE#HE ZIEEN  R2011E3A31A FFLHERE
FTEAASERERENEEERAR (AMABOEE])
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ME - B RRIEE - MMEERE SIMSES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE KB RMETE
For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE2011F3AALFE
25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES - continued 25 BENTERS B
Summarised financial information in respect of those principal EEZETEHRLE AR ZBMBMBEERDT ¢
associates is set out below:
Year ended Year ended
31.12.2010 31.12.2009
HZ2010% B Z=20094F
12A31H 12H31H
IEFE WFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH T
Financial position: BISAR R
Total assets HWEE 4,277,342 3,589,654
Total liabilities BaE (1,765,096) (1,608,429)
Non-controlling interests JE 1 RS 2 (46,533) (438)
2,465,713 1,980,787
Group’s share of net assets of associates ANEBB ML AR EEFE 1,078,467 865,982
Post-acquisition results: iR ¥R -
Turnover =% 946,401 838,465
Profit for the year F N A 121,831 136,155
Other comprehensive income H b 2w 95,175 5,695
Group’s share of profit of associates REBBEEBERRZFET RN
for the year 143,008 59,270
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HE2011FIABLFE
25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES - continued 25 BEQNTER B
The combined summarised financial information in respect of BRAEBHMBE AR 2 AN BERTT :

the Group’s other associates is set out below:

2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FAT
Financial position: Mg
Total assets BEE 440,849 131,278
Total liabilities BwEE (388,662) (119,498)
52,187 11,780
Group’s share of net assets of associates REE#EHE AR CEEFE 53,560 30,793
Post-acquisition results: g 4R -
Turnover -] 296,812 889
Loss for the year FREIE (17,957) (5,577)
Other comprehensive income H 2w e 166 28
Group’s share of post-acquisition losses of AREBHGHEARWER
associates for the year FE i (6,194) (1,195)
The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses REBEBRIEREGO —KBE AR ZEE - 252
of one of the associates. The accumulated recognised share BRBOEBEEMFAASEREBESE(WAX
of losses and the amount of loss for the year attributable to KEZERERBE)WOT :
the Group (based on unaudited management accounts) are
as follows:
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET FHET
Unrecognised share of losses of the associate Kt 2 #EHE N A2
for the year FEEEE (1,287) (1,178)
Accumulated unrecognised share of losses of KRB E N F 2
the associate R:HEE (54,770) (63,483)
Particulars of the Group’s principal associates at 31 March RNEEE £ ZEHE R ER20114 k201063 A31H
2011 and 2010 are set out in note 57(b). ZEBEEIIRAMFEST(D)
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HZE2011F3A31BILFE

26.

INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

26. LEEHHBES

ENTITIES
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT TR
Cost of unlisted investments in jointly R EE BB IE LR E KA
controlled entities 4,600 =
Share of post-acquisition losses and other BOkEE s EBEREMEEMAS -
comprehensive expenses, net of dividends kB ¥R S
received (535) =
Share of additional losses of a jointly B D — R ERIE S 2 5N
controlled entity (Note) 18 (f1 ) - (3,427)
4,065 (3,427)
Analysed for reporting purpose as: RBEMS AWM AE -
Non-current assets EMEBEE 4,065 -
Current liabilities (included in trade and other  FEEE (FIAZ 5 R EHA
creditors and accrued expenses) ERERRESHS) - (3,427)
4,065 (3,427)
Note: An additional share of losses was provided for and a liability was Mt ARAKEARREEERE & HE TR 422 ) 1

recognised because the Group had to share the losses incurred

by that jointly controlled entity pursuant to the joint venture

agreement.

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities which are

accounted for using the equity method is set out below:

B2BEE

BABNBEBRYEREE -

A 8 R 28 5T 2 34 25 2 B 7
ERBERBIIMT

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Group’s share of current assets and liabilities 78 = & # 15 4+ 3 42 51 # 58
of jointly controlled entitles nPEEKREE
Current assets mEEE 87,546 2,925
Current liabilities B A E (83,481) (6,352)
Net assets (iabilities) BE(BE)F8 4,065 (3,427)
Group’s share of turnover of jointly controlled AN & E# (5 X FEEHI KB AFE
entities for the year HER 108,783 =
Group’s share of profit (loss) of jointly REB (LRI SIMEREE
controlled entities for the year A (E54E) 2,892 (5,241)

Particulars of the Group’s principal jointly controlled entities at
31 March 2011 and 2010 are set out in note 57(c).
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HZE2011F3A31BILFE

27. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 27. IHHERE

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FHIT
Listed equity securities FHRAE S
in Hong Kong BE - 437
in overseas AIN 91 84
91 521
Unlisted equity securities FEEMRAFS
in Hong Kong B 341 541
in overseas N 929 284
1,270 825
1,361 1,346
Represented by: (A
Non-current FERED 1,270 1,262
Current RE 91 84
1,361 1,346
Market value of listed securities LEh@EEFEmE 91 521

The investments in overseas unlisted equity securities as

at 31 March 2010 and 2011 were measured at cost less
impairment at the end of the reporting period because the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that their fair
values cannot be measured reliably. The investments in Hong
Kong unlisted equity securities as at 31 March 2010 and
2011 were measured at fair value.

The Group considered the suspension of business plan of an
overseas unlisted investee during the year ended 31 March
2010 as an indication of impairment for that investment. As
such, an impairment loss of approximately HK$37,190,000
was recognised in the consolidated income statement to
write off the cost fully in last year.
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

28. LOANS RECEIVABLE

28. BWER

2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FETT
The amounts, net of allowance, bear interest BEEZIE (NBEE) Ak
at the following rates: PRYIESIIE
2% over Hong Kong Best Lending Rate BITREREEREN2E
(“HKBLR") (note a) (Htita) 68,468 68,468
2% per annum (note b) FHFR2E (H7tb) 36,531 35,003
10% per annum (note c) FFRI10E (#fitc) 8,148 15,000
10.32% per annum (note c) FEFR10.32F (H17tc) - 86,159
10% per annum FFIEA0E - 32,500
HKBLR BrEBREERX - 30,000
Total amount RIAKEE 113,147 267,130
Less: Amount due within one year shown S R—EREES AR E
under current assets AEE A (113,147) (232,127)
Amount due after one year — 143 H > g - 35,003
Analysed as: ey i
Unsecured 4 3 113,147 267,130

Included in the carrying amount of loans receivable as

at 31 March 2011 was accumulated impairment loss of
HK$19,886,000 (2010: HK$19,886,000) in respect of the
balance, which was past due at the end of the reporting
period and the relevant debtors were in financial difficulties.
Other than the above, no significant loans receivable balance
has been past due at the end of the reporting period for
which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. No
provision for impairment loss for the balance not yet past due
at the end of the reporting period was considered necessary,
since there has been no past default history in respect of
those receivables.

R2011F3AIBEZEWEREABECF AR
MR RENTESBEESR 22 RERB
19,886,0005% 7T (2010 : 19,886,000/ 7T) * 1M 4H &
B A B B E - Br ESCATatoh - RIREHIR
ERTVECBHMAEET R ELRESBREEZ
BEARKER B RZEEKFELET R
BWRRERTERABH AR ESHELREESE
B -
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HZE2011F3ASIHILLFE

28. LOANS RECEIVABLE - continued

Notes:

(@)

172 P

As at 31 March 2010, the amount was regarded as amount due
from a related company, as the borrower was then an associate of
ITC Corporation Limited (“ITC”). The substantial shareholder of the
Company is ITC. In addition, Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles (“Dr
Chan”) is the substantial shareholder and director of both ITC and
the Company. He had significant influence over this related party
as at 31 March 2010. This Company is not considered as related
company of the Group as at 31 March 2011 as the borrower was
no longer an associate of [TC.

The amount of unsecured loan receivable of HK$68,468,000
(2010: HK$68,468,000) bears variable interest rate at 2% over
HKBLR (i.e. 7%) (2010: 7%).

During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group subscribed for
convertible bond with an aggregate face value of HK$36,858,000
issued by a then related company, Hanny Holdings Limited, in
which the substantial shareholder of the Company had significant
influence. The coupon interest of the convertible bond is 2% per
annum with maturity in June 2011. The amount recognised in
loans receivable represents the debt element of the convertible
bond and is determined using an effective interest rate of 6.47%
per annum at initial recognition. The embedded conversion option
of the convertible bond is separately accounted for as derivative
financial instrument and stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value. The fair value of the embedded
conversion option as at 31 March 2011 is insignificant.

The amount was regarded as amount due from a related
company, as the borrower was an associate of ITC. The
substantial shareholder of the Company is ITC. In addition, Dr
Chan is the substantial shareholder and director of both ITC and
the Company. He had significant influence over this related party.
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(@)
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X

201053 A31H » ZHIEI REN —EBEERFK
B ABRTERAEECESEFRAR ([EF
EDZBERR c ARARZFEREAEHFLE -
fREEE T (RG] REFCEZFERFTHRAE
NAEZEE - R2010F3A318 - ERZEF@ER A
BARFESN - M2011F3A31H  ARERATEA
BHECEZBEDNR  ZARTHEARNEEZBE
NG

% % %8 568,468,000/ 7T (2010 : 68,468,000 T )
ZEEHEREFAETREEBEEF X M2E (B17
E)it B (2010: 7E) -

REE200743A31H ILEE - AEERBEHRALDT
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E B BR AR ATE T+ 48 5R T (536,858,000 7T 2 A]
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RE KB RMET
For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE
29. AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES 29, FEUWEEE N RIRIE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FETT
Unsecured other receivables, interest-free H b K R - B 42,929 26,133
The balance is repayable on demand except an amount of REBREARERRER HEATBEZHEEAYD
approximately HK$40,485,000 (2010: HK$25,550,000) has 40,485,0007% 7t (2010 : 25,550,000/8 71) 2 15 B
credit period of 90 days and is trade in nature. The aged ABI0H - MARBEHTERFUBEERRLFEERR
analysis presented based on the invoice date at the end of DT
the reporting period is as follows:
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET FET
Within 90 days 90H K 12,620 =
More than 90 days and within 180 days HABIOH WM 180H A 42 -
More than 180 days HBiE180H 27,823 25,550
Total et 40,485 25,550
The above balance aged over 90 days is past due but not IRECHBIOA z L& AR BRBAERRBE - ARQ
impaired. The directors of the Company consider that there TEERE ZWMERTIZEESEEEE AL
has not been a significant change in credit quality of the BYET R MR AZRKERE] T URE -

associate and there is no recent history of default. Therefore
the amount is considered recoverable.

30. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINTLY CONTROLLED 30. Bt EEHIME JIERERE

ENTITIES/NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST S JE Uk (R 42 1 Mk S 420 G AR 26 2K T 3 4m 4K 4 -

The amounts due from jointly controlled entities/non- BB RENRBEREERN I —%422,952,000/% 7T
controlling interest are unsecured, interest-free and repayable (2010 &) v EW — M KR H #EREAEFOH
on demand, except for the amount due from a jointly EEH BESUHE mABRSTHZER  HERER
controlled entity of approximately HK$22,952,000 (2010: Nil) AEZEAMEEOAR -

has a credit period of 90 days, is trade in nature, and it is
aged within 90 days based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period.
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31. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) CUSTOMERS FOR

3. B (BN BEFAENIRAE

CONTRACT WORKS
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Contracts in progress at the end of the e R R = e e
reporting period: AHTRE -
Contract costs incurred to date BREZHZANIREER 40,409,785 41,791,969
Recognised profits less recognised losses EHER R A RS R E A 1,099,951 1,320,649
41,509,736 43,112,618
Less: Progress billings o EE R (42,199,324)  (43,871,637)
(689,588) (759,019)
Represented by: ®E :
Amounts due from customers for contract EREFAHTIERE
works 258,350 203,794
Amounts due to customers for contract EREFEHITIENIE
works (947,938) (962,813)
(689,588) (759,019)
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32. TRADE AND OTHER DEBTORS, DEPOSITS 2. EZRHEMEVER -FTERENSRE
AND PREPAYMENTS
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TR
Trade debtors (note a) JE W BR 3R (M 7ta) 610,367 809,748
Retentions held by customers for contract ERNIREFPERZRES (Hitb)
works (note b) 503,687 430,673
Interest-bearing advance (note c) SHREBR (M ite) 253,211 242,579
Other receivable (note d) H fth FE W SR IE (A7 ita) - 136,519
Consideration receivable in connection with BRI E A EBRE
a former investment - 11,437
Amounts due from related companies (note e) & Uz B3 :E X 71508 (i ite) 667 10,115
Deferred consideration receivables (note f) JE W3R FE (R AB (A7 221) 7,000 7,000
Others HA 472,453 891,029
Total amount FRIBHEER 1,847,385 2,539,100
Less: Amount due within one year shown B R —FE AR B AR ED
under current assets BEZNE (1,651,066) (2,409,614)
Amount due after one year —F &R 2 FIE 196,319 129,486
The balance of trade and other debtors, deposits and B NEMEBEWERZ  sT& RBEMNIELS NG
prepayments is net of allowance for doubtful debts and the RIEBE mMEHOT :
movements of allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Balance at beginning of the year F R 47,016 35,645
Amounts written off as uncollectible N BE Yk (B T s 2 FROB (11,376) (718)
Amounts recovered during the year FERYE A (572) -
Provided for during the year FAEE 2 KE - 12,087
Exchange realignment b 5 R & 3 2
Balance at end of the year FRER 35,071 47,016
Included in the carrying amount of above receivable as M201146F3HA31H » Lt BWRIEREE R AR
at 31 March 2011 was accumulated impairment loss of WE B TARSA 2 251 EE51835,071,0007% 7T
HK$35,071,000 (2010: HK$47,016,000) in respect of the (2010 : 47,016,000/ 7T) + M #8 B8 & 75 A H B B B

balance, which was past due at the end of the reporting R & -
period and the relevant debtors were in financial difficulties.

Y regmeran 01158 175



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31BLFE

32. TRADE AND OTHER DEBTORS, DEPOSITS

2. BEEREMEWER FTeRANRE-&

AND PREPAYMENTS - continued X
Notes: N S
@ FAEBEZREREXEEHIBZEERNETFER
(@  The Group’s credit terms for the Paul Y. Engineering Group FRABMEIY - BARENLZEEHNRAETFLIR
segment are negotiated at terms determined and agreed with Heslessr S HEAEER TR S TBREE
its customers. Credit terms for ports development segment are BEORMEDDLIE Y (=B H— B HE30%2908 «
negotiated at specific terms with customers or in connection with wun oMW A BRSBTS MAE
the completion of underlylng <.:onstruct|on work. Credit terms for Bt E A FE R SIS I Y (B R — AR 3090 R E o
customers of ports and logistics segment normally range from 30
days to 90 days. Rental income for property business is receivable ZBEREMENRESZ T4 RENZXEDS AL
according to the agreements and the credit terms granted by the 672.365.000% 7& (2010 : 809,748,000 5T) >
Group to other debtors normally range from 30 days to 90 days. = %FE L{ﬁz BE 2 (ML 51 B 4 ﬁ . Z 7 U BE 2% 4
= & R 1 = f& R A
Included in trade and other debtors, deposits and prepayments 61,998,000/ 7L (2010 « #&)) ° A5 B Mot % 5 45
are trade debtors of approximately HK$672,365,000 (2010: HBREBEEMEBERD UBZAHAEE NRRE
HK$809,748,000) (including trade debtors classified as held for BEE HBEINABELE ZHIE) RREHT
sale of approximately HK$61,998,000 (2010: Nil). The Group ERZERRATHOT
does not hold any collateral over these balances. Their aged
analysis, including those reclassified as held for sale, net of
allowance for doubtful debts presented based on the invoice date
at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Within 90 days 90H A 519,179 584,261
More than 90 days and within 180 days HBEI0H WHMN180A A 27,587 68,901
More than 180 days #HBiAB180H 125,599 166,586
672,365 809,748

Balance of HK$53,710,000 (2010: HK$45,029,000) included in
the trade debtor balance represented amounts due from related
companies. The amounts were regarded as amounts due from
related companies, as the borrowers were then associates of ITC.
The substantial shareholder of the Company is ITC. In addition,
Dr Chan is the substantial shareholder and director of both ITC
and the Company. He had significant influence over these related
parties.

As at 31 March 2011, included in the Group’s trade debtor
balances (including those classified as held for sale) are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$165,353,000 (2010:
HK$106,694,000) which were past due at the end of the reporting
period for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.
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32. TRADE AND OTHER DEBTORS, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS - continued

Notes: — continued
(@) — continued

Ageing of trade debtors which are past due but not

2. BEEREMEWER FTeRANRE-&

Wiz —&

(@)

—#&

SEMERTRHEZE S EYRKRR

impaired
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Within 90 days 90H A 69,620 23,687
More than 90 days and within 180 days HBEI0H WHMN180A A 26,012 42,741
More than 180 days #HBiAB180H 69,721 40,266
165,353 106,694

The directors of the Company consider that there has not been
a significant change in credit quality of the trade debtors and
there is no recent history of default, therefore the amounts are
considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

(b) At 31 March 2011, an amount of approximately HK$220,954,000
(2010: HK$191,459,000) is expected to be recovered or settled in
more than twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

(c) Included in trade and other debtors, deposits and prepayments
is an amount of approximately HK$253,211,000 (2010:
HK$242,579,000) which mainly represents advances (together
with interest thereon) in the PRC made to an independent third
party in previous years for financing a property development
project in Beijing, the PRC. The amount has no fixed repayment
terms and the principal amount of approximately HK$177,932,000
(2010: HK$170,442,000) carries floating-rate interest at the
benchmark lending interest rate as announced by the People’s
Bank of China (“PBC”) plus 8% per annum and is secured by
certain underlying properties of the above project.

Included in trade and other debtors, deposits and prepayments
is also an amount of approximately HK$16,394,000 (2010:
HK$16,394,000) which represents an advance (together with
interest thereon) made to a related company of the above
independent third party in Hong Kong in previous years. The
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 (2010: HK$10,000,000)
carries interest at the best lending rate plus 8% per annum and
was due on 25 February 2006. A subsidiary of the Company
has taken legal action in Hong Kong to recover the amount of
HK$16,394,000. However, under same legal proceedings, a
third party claim for damages in a total sum of RMB402 million
for breach of an alleged oral master agreement has been lodged
against the Group. Taken into consideration of a legal opinion, the
Company is of the view that the third party claim is groundless
and that it would not lead to any adverse material impact on the
financial position of the Group.

ARBEERAR ZEEIHIRURFZEEERY
BEEAE{ BYBEBTIRLE  QEZFNAEA TR
B - REEWERZSHERTEERNERR

M2011F3A31H » 4220,954,000/% 7T (2010 :
191,459,000/ 7t) BAAIM R R EHTHERE T =@ A
BEBBENRED -

ES5REMBERER FTehkBENRBABE—
% /5 #49258,211,0007% 7T (2010 : 242,579,000/
T)RE FERRCFEFRER —HBALRF L
EMeWERRBEEEEMA—BIE-FEHZ
B (ERE) ZABIEETERY A2EH
177,932,0005 7T (2010 : 170,442,000 7T) LASE B
MR EAREIT(TATT]) R 2 EEBRF E M
BB ZEFERFE WA LMBE NS THBYWEE
A -

EHREMBRER FTekEMNRERATRE—
% /5 #14)16,394,000/% 7T (2010 : 16,394,000/% 7tT)
FE O RREFEEEBAULBIE=ZF2BER
BIEH 2 # 5% GEFB) ° A4 % 4910,000,000/%8 7T
(2010 : 10,000,000 7T) A B = E & F K NgE ~
EF R E - WHR20065F2 4258 B H - AR A 2 M
BRARIERBEBRIERTE BIZESEAH
16,394,000/ 7T - AT » R —RERITE T - A%
ENRERMEB OBEABEMRELALAR
#402,000,000t 2 E=HIEERR -FBHEEER
B ARARBRE-TRRYERE S TEYH
REBZHBERREETAERTFTZE -
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32. TRADE AND OTHER DEBTORS, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS - continued

Notes: — continued
(c) — continued

The Group is in the course of negotiation with an asset
management company in the PRC, which has certain

interests in the above property project, for the purpose of
realising the collaterals held for full recovery of the amounts of
HK$253,211,000 and HK$16,394,000 outstanding as at 31
March 2011. On the basis that the fair value of the collaterals
held is approximately RMB653,000,000 (according to a valuation
report issued by an independent property valuer) which is higher
than the advances and accrued interest, the directors are of the
view that the amounts will be recovered in full and as such no
impairment loss on these has been recognised. The estimated
portion of such amounts which is expected to be recovered after
twelve months from the end of the reporting period, amounting
to approximately HK$153,211,000 (2010: HK$129,486,000), has
been classified as a non-current asset.

(dl) At 31 March 2010, the balance represented receivable from a
third party, which was also the convertible notes holder of the
Company. The amount was non-interest bearing. In the prior year,
the convertible notes holder had engaged the Company as an
agent to look for any potential buyer to purchase the convertible
notes of the Company from the convertible notes holder at a price
not lower than RMB120,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$136,519,000). The receivable was secured by the convertible
notes of the Company. During the year, the convertible notes were
redeemed and offset against this receivable.

(e) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

f Included in trade and other debtors, deposits and prepayments
is another amount of approximately HK$7,000,000 (2010:
HK$7,000,000) which represents a deferred consideration
receivable from a third party in relation to disposal of two
subsidiaries, namely Unicon Concrete Products (HK) Limited
and Hamker Concrete Products Limited, during the year
ended 31 March 2006. The consideration for the disposal
was HK$19,000,000 which would be settled in cash by the
purchaser on or before October 2009, of which HK$15,000,000,
representing a deferred consideration, was to be settled in cash
by the purchaser under four annual installments commencing from
30 October 2006. The fair value of the deferred consideration at
date of initial recognition was determined based on the estimated
future cash flows discounted at 3% per annum. The amount is
unsecured and interest-free.

The amount of deferred consideration receivable is past due but
not impaired as at 31 March 2011. The directors of the Company
consider the amounts will be recoverable because the purchaser
is of good financial position.
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—#&

AEBEER LA MEBREYEEETHEZ Y
—HFTBREEEERRAEBEITEN  WEMFEEZ
ZERBERERNKER2011F3ASIEH R Z
253,211,000/ 7T 516,394,000/ Jt 2 X8 ° & AT
BraSERRzATFEEL ARKEE53,000,000
TE-—GCHBUMEHEMBL 2EHEERS) -
ERBRBEREFHE - BEERAXAREAITE2H
Uem - Mt ESR N ERBEEE BHRBERARS
HE#Er T —BABRKE 2MEFTHZSELNR
153,211,000/ 7t (2010 : 129,486,000/& 7T) * B 7|
RIBFRRBEE -

R2010F3A318 " W& B —EKRE = 2HIA -
ZEZFANABRRAAIBRBEEZHEBA - FEL
THE - REEFE ZURRZEEFEAES

REIAREAN ARZAERREEFEADCEME
EEH - AR AR ®120,000,0007T (FHE R4
136,519,000/ 7T) 2 B BEAR B 2 J AR E
B ZBWHEBNRARZAIRKRER BEIF - F
A AR ERE TEE S EGRIE K o

o

ZHREER  RERBRERER -

ZESREMERER FTeRENFEAXBE—
% /5 847,000,000/ 7t (2010 : 7,000,0007% 7T) 5K
B RN E2006FE3A31B ILFREHERKIE
RA(PREBBNERLRHRA(BE)BRARKIE
MERTHRERAR) ERA—F=F RN ZELTR
B HEEE2REA19,000,0008 T #HE AR
2009F10A 5 Z B AR € &8 + E 15,000,000/
T (RKELAE) EH2006410A308 £ 5 WE (F
F—H)REBEAURSEDS - ETRER VX ERE
ZATFEEDNUGEGRKBRES R IREEIRITREE
E o RBNERIFREE

2011463 A31H 2 EYCEER B E @ #18 & K&
B-AREFVBRRARG  MARAEERAEX
SETIYE o
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33. INVESTMENTS HELD FOR TRADING 33. FEEERE
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FETT
Listed equity securities, at quoted bid price ~ FHRAZ S - RE ARE
in Hong Kong BB 40,815 35,510
in overseas ST 6,127 8,541
46,942 44,051
34. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, SHORT TERM 3. CEARTER - EHBRTERRBIERE
BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES AND BEES
CASH EERBTERERAERBETAEMY —RET
Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to EEMEEFRTZES - B 583,532,000 7T
banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the (2010 : 33,582,000 0) > 2B FIEIF - fEBA
Group. Deposits amounting to HK$83,532,000 (2010: REpEHT i —EREE Y —BIRTEEZEME
HK$33,582,000) have been pledged to secure general MBI AR EE ©
banking facilities with maturity within one year from the end
of the reporting period and are therefore classified as current EERFRTERRINBAIR=EA ZEREBRTF
assets. FIHESF0.01EE2.8F (2010 : 0.01/EFE1.98/F)
. . ZEEME - BITEFRFM SR AEGFETE1.39
The pledged bank deposits and short term bank deposits (2010 : BZ1.35[) o

with maturity date of less than three months carry fixed
interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 2.8% (2010: 0.01%
to 1.98%) per annum. The bank balances carry prevailing
market interest rates ranging from nil to 1.39% (2010: nil to
1.35%) per annum.
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35. TRADE AND OTHER CREDITORS AND 35.

ACCRUED EXPENSES

The following is an analysis of trade and other creditors and

BEERHEMEMNRAREFTRX

EHREMENERARETHAIRRENTERKZ

accrued expenses at the end of the reporting period:

DT

2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$’000
THERT TET
Trade creditors aged: B SRR R
Within 90 days 90H A 396,464 350,107
More than 90 days and within 180 days HBEI0HEMN180H A 11,566 7,384
More than 180 days HiR180H 60,502 32,682
468,532 390,173
Retentions held by the Group for contract REBBRANIRZIEZRES
works (note a) (Hiita) 364,200 312,500
Construction payables TR ERMFRIE 66,767 347,277
Advance receipt from customers UGB B 43R 4,099 432,697
Other payables for staff retirement and other & O R# 8 TR K K& E 118 F
benefits of port business (note b) 2 E A0 FER ROB (B iED) 65,748 63,546
Other accruals H fih FE 5T X 49,073 72,433
Other payables  fth B 300R 386,088 384,199
Total amount IR 1,404,507 2,002,825
Less: Amount due within one year shown e N B | D D N= K =
under current liabilities 2 &E (1,230,931) (1,904,888)
Amount due after one year —FR BB FE 173,576 97,937

Notes:

Wit

(@) At 31 March 2011, an aggregate amount of approximately (@)
HK$90,302,000 (2010: HK$66,559,000) is expected to be paid
or settled after more than twelve months from the end of the

reporting period.

(b) At 31 March 2011, based on agreed payment terms, an
aggregate amount of approximately HK$52,062,000 (2010:
HK$48,168,000) is expected to be paid after more than twelve

months from the end of the reporting period.
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M20114F3H31H + 490,302,000/ jt (2010 :
66,559,000/ 7T) TEEI I N & BT AR BB+ =
ER%BEBREE -

R2011F3A31H » A E 2 M HIRF > &
52,062,000 7T (2010 : 48,168,000 7T) 2 K E A
MRS aRBat —EARIN -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

36. AMOUNTS DUE TO ASSOCIATES 36.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable

on demand, except for an amount due to an associate of
approximately HK$56,550,000 (2010:Nil) which represents
retentions held by the Group for contract works and is
expected to be paid or settled after more than twelve months
from the end of the reporting period.

ESBE AR RE

ZEFBELEKF RERARERKEN  #HE—
%5 #956,550,000/8 7T (2010 : ) Z FEART B E A A
BEALSERGNIRMBEZRES  BHRR
SHRAERER T AR BTN -

37. AMOUNT DUE TO A JOINTLY CONTROLLED 37. BN —EHREHEERE
ENTITY ZEFELREER 2R RNEREEN -
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.
38. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 38. B FERESZRE
INTERESTS
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Floating-rate interest at PBC (i.e. 5.31%) per AT A0 2 %8 & | (A15.31/2)
annum - 28,469
Fixed-rate interest at 1% per annum FEMEFIE 2 EE M= 21,378 22,753
Interest-free N 21,900 20,858
Total amount RIB4AFE 43,278 72,080
Less: Amount due within one year shown B —FARE B IERE B EZKIEA
under current liabilities (24,276) (561,602)
Amount due after one year MN—EER 2 RE 19,002 20,478

As at 31 March 2011, the amounts are unsecured and
repayable on demand except for an amount of HK$21,378,000
(2010: HK$22,753,000), in which HK$2,376,000 (2010:
HK$2,275,000) is due within one year and HK$19,002,000
(2010: HK$20,478,000) is due after one year.

P20 F3A31H  ZRBHEEE  WANEX
B {8 521,378,000/ 7T (2010 : 22,753,000
B 7T) BR AN+ E 2,376,000/ 7T (2010 : 2,275,000
BIT) R —FREIE - $19,002,0005 T (2010 :
20,478,000 7T) N —F & EIHF o
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39. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES 39. ERBEARNE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Unsecured loans payable: JE - EE I IR 3R
Subsidiary of ITC bears interest at 2% EECEIHMBAR BB
over HKBLR per annum REBEBEEFMEMES - 18,000
Associate of ITC bears interest at 2% EEAEZBERR  BEE
over HKBLR per annum REFEEFMEMES S - 50,000
Associate of ITC bears interest at 2.1% BTEACEZBERR KB
over HKBLR per annum EBEEFANEN2AETE - 4,000
- 72,000
Interest-free other payables: % B H fib JE A FRIE ¢
Associates of ITC EECE B E QT 233 17,150
Subsidiary of ITC EECEZHBAR - 338
233 89,488
As at 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010, the amounts are 201143 A31H %2010F3A318 - B EAE
unsecured and repayable on demand. The range of effective B ERERFEE - 8 2201083A31H I F
interest rates of the loans payable during the year ended 31 B ENEZENRNEIERTARE -

March 2010 was 7% to 7.1% per annum.

182 WIC) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

40. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

40. RITR HAE K

2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FEIT
Bank and other borrowings comprise: RITREMERBTE
Bank loans RITEK 1,939,889 2,485,992
Other loans (Note) H B (H5E) 54,000 301,830
1,993,889 2,787,822
Analysed as: Y-
Secured BHEMA 1,043,860 1,949,227
Unsecured 475 45K 4 950,029 838,595
1,993,889 2,787,822
The bank and other borrowings RITREMEREERAT :
are repayable as follows:
Within one year or on demand —F AR IR B A 1,255,304 1,322,464
More than one year, but not exceeding BR—F BT EME
two years 225,323 475,215
More than two years, but not exceeding BBME - BENR=5F
three years 178,105 382,622
More than three years, but not exceeding HBE=F  BETARMSF
four years 53,684 353,469
More than four years, but not exceeding HBOE - BENARF
five years 79,573 117,634
More than five years HBBRAF 201,900 136,518
1,993,889 2,787,822
Less: Amount due within one year or on S — F R B B e iR R A M A 1
demand shown under current liabilities mEAaEZRIE (1,255,304) (1,322,464)
Amount due after one year —E1% 5| Y 5B 738,585 1,465,358

'
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40. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS - continued

The above bank borrowings include fixed-rate borrowings

of approximately HK$150,584,000 (2010: HK$71,701,000)
repayable within one year carrying interest ranging from 2.9%
to 7.14% (2010: ranging from 6.48% to 7%) per annum and
last year balance included HK$24,880,000 repayable more
than one year but not exceeding two years carrying interest
ranging from 6.48% to 7% per annum.

The remaining bank borrowings carry floating-rate interest
ranging from 1.14% to 8.5% (2010: 1.07% to 7.56%) per
annum.

The above other loans at 31 March 2010 included fixed-rate
borrowings of approximately HK$148,394,000 repayable
within one year carrying interest ranging from 4% to 12% per
annum and HK$21,047,000 repayable more than one year
but not exceeding two years carrying interest at 9.138% per
annum.

The remaining other loans carrying floating-rate interest
ranging from 7% to 7.1% (2010: 5.4% to 6%) per annum.

Note: The other loans balance at 31 March 2010 included an
unsecured loan from an associate of a subsidiary’s shareholder
of HK$102,389,000, which bore floating-rate interest at PBC
(ie. 5.4%) per annum and repayable more than one year but not
exceeding two years from the end of the reporting period.
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40. RITREMER &

ot 5B 17 18 F B & #9150,584,00058 7T (2010 :
71,701,000 L) 2 E BfEH  BR—FNEE
W N F2.9B E7.14/E (2010 : 6.48BE7E) 2 F
FEFE - 5 EFE 24 & 1524,880,00078 LA
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41.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Company
issued zero coupon convertible notes with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$121,521,000 for settlement of

the consideration for the LPG assets acquired during the
year ended 31 March 2007. The convertible notes are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The notes entitled

the holders to convert them into ordinary shares of the
Company at any time between 15th day after the date of
issue of the notes and 15 days prior to their respective
maturity dates on 18 April 2010 and 31 May 2010 at a
conversion price of HK$4.25 (adjusted to HK$4.135 on 19
September 2008 and HK$2.139 on 3 July 2009 regarding
the rights issue in July 2009) per share subject to anti-
dilutive adjustments in accordance with the agreement.

If the notes are not converted, they will be redeemed on
maturity date at 114.167% of the principal amount of the
notes outstanding. The Company may at any time and from
time to time purchase the convertible notes at any price
as agreed between the Company and the noteholder. The
respective liabilities and equity portions of the convertible
notes as at date of initial recognition is HK$113,039,000
and HK$8,482,000. The effective interest rates of the liability
component of notes issued on 19 April 2007 and 1 June
2007 are 7.02% and 7.58%, respectively.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
notes for the year is set out below:

4. ENTRBRERE

HE2008F3A3IAILEFEN  ARAEFTREAS
B A121,521,0008 T2 T EATRRER  UEE
HE2007F3A3IHLEFERBRBRIEABARE
EZRE -TTRREBRUBTLHE -ZHEETEE
BEAEF TRZERTBEHEETHAEZES
B2EH B (201048188 F201045A318) Al
+ 1 B B A BE R IR & I4.257% 7T (FR2008F9 A 19
H#AZ 241355 7t © & H2009%7 A3H 5t 72009
FrTAZEBAZEZ2139% ) (A REHZETUR
e AR T RBRESERERARQAZE
WA - WMBEMALR  BREBARKRTERE
RNE T 2114.167%ME B o AN 2 &) A 7 I {7 B 7 %
THARRARREEFAARBEZEMEREEZ
RBEE ROSHERER  ATRREREZEE
Ko B 7 &8 5 > Bl 5113,039,00058 7T }.8,482,00058
JL ° 2007F4 A19H M2007F6 A1H BT 2 ER ~
BEHD 2BERFED R AT.02/2 %7.58F °

FAABREREREZARHI 22T

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT

Carrying amount at the beginning FHREME
of the year 138,189 129,068
Effective interest charge BHF B W 549 9,121
Redeemed during the year RERER (138,738) -
Carrying amount at the end of the year FREEE - 138,189

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Company
redeemed all convertible notes and offset against other
receivables upon maturity as set out in note 32(d).

HE2011F3ASIALFE AR AR E HFFE
RGESH2 MR EE - W H U IBE M (10
M sE32(d)FTEL) -
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42. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and

42, EERE

NTRAFERAGFECHERAZIZREERES
B(EE)  AREEHER

prior years:
Fair value
adjustment on Fair value
Fairvalue  projectunder  adjustments
Accelerated adjustmenton  development on other
tax Tax investment  and stock of assets and
depreciation losses properties properties liabilities Total
BRTEER
REMR NEFE HtEEREE
MERERE REFE LATEERE ATEERE ATEERE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TARn ThR TAR TET TR
At 1 April 2009 R2009F4A1H 2,864 (2,864) 812,596 835,180 22,386 1,670,162
Exchange realignment Eaz - - 3,197 2,850 113 6,160
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERB AT - - 757 - 33,182 33,939
Charge (credit) to consolidated 478 Wik 2 75 (B A)
income statement 2,570 (2,570) 184,814 - (1,092) 183,722
At 31 March 2010 #201063A31A 5,434 (5,434) 1,001,364 838,030 54,589 1,893,983
Exchange realignment g = = 47,447 36,107 2,276 86,830
Charge (credit) to consolidated  &7& Wiz 2 1A (B A)
income statement 8,034 (8,034) 114,739 - 1,457 116,196
Reclassified as held for sale  EF A BARIELE (Hi£17)
(note 17) - - (963,605) (648,027) - (1,611,632)
Transfer g% = = 30,204 (30,204) = =
At 31 March 2011 R201153A31A 13,468 (13,468) 230,149 195,906 58,322 484,377

At 31 March 2011, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$917,000,000 (2010: HK$944,000,000)
available to offset against future taxable profits. A deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of approximately
HK$82,000,000 (2010: HK$33,000,000) of such losses.

No deferred tax asset in respect of the remaining tax losses
of HK$835,000,000 (2010: HK$911,000,000) has been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams
on those subsidiaries. The unused tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.
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42.

43.

DEFERRED TAXATION - continued

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised was approximately HK$106,401,000 (2010:
HK$109,373,000). No liability has been recognised in respect
of these differences because the Group is in a position to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

DEFERRED INCOME

The amounts represented the government grants related to
certain ports construction projects and will be recognised in
profit or loss over the useful lives of the related depreciable

assets.

42,

43.

EER IR &

BEHTHEE MBEARERYKENERM
HABRELHBABZHGREZRLEOR
106,401,000/ 7t (2010 : 109,373,000/ 7T ) © R
AEETEHEOZEREZE  ERSHEEE
BAREAERBRATHEE AMLERZEER
ERETEHAEEE -

i FE W A
ZETHERRABETHAOZELEB ZBFMHE
YHREBATHEEEZAERFHAREBSES
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44, SHARE CAPITAL 44, BRAR
Number
of shares Value
B EE ]
HK$’000
FHT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each: FREEAOE T Z B@A
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2009 72009F4 A1H 3,000,000,000 300,000
Additions (note a) 40 (B ita) 7,000,000,000 700,000
At 31 March 2010 and M2010E3H31H
31 March 2011 %2011F3A31H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIT R
At 1 April 2009 M20094F4 A1 H 1,508,393,517 150,839
Issue of shares on subscription of £ A% 3288 =18 M 21T D
rights issue (note b) (Ht7Eb) 3,019,350,218 301,936
Issue of shares on exercise of 17 R B BT D
warrants (note c) (K1ite) 1,381,399 138
At 31 March 2010 and 7201043 A31H
31 March 2011 201143 831H 4,529,125,134 452,913

Notes:

(@) On 9 June 2009, an ordinary resolution was passed to
increase the authorised share capital of the Company from
HK$300,000,000 to HK$1,000,000,000 by the creation of
7,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each.

(b)  On 8 July 2009, the Company completed a rights issue by issuing
and allotting 3,019,350,218 rights shares at a subscription price
of HK$0.12 each on the basis of two rights shares for every
share of the Company held on 9 June 2009. The net proceeds of
approximately HK$350 million were intended to be used on the
Group's investment in port and port-related projects and general

working capital of the Group.

(c) The warrants issued by the Company on 26 September 2008
at an initial exercise price of HK$1.00 per share (subsequently
adjusted to HK$0.51 per share as a result of the rights issue
in July 2009) expired on 25 September 2009. During the last
year, warrants of HK$1,332,494 were exercised to subscribe for

1,381,399 new shares of the Company.

188 WIC) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report

M2009F6A0H  —HEBAZRCE RSB - g
#%7,000,000,000% & 0.108 T 2 LB 5
5 AN R A) 20k B A 300,000,000 JT 3 i1 &=
1,000,000,0005% 7T °

R2009F7A8H  ARREAER - H X AILARE
B § iR0.12/8 J 17 & B %3,019,350,218% 4 A% A%
7 EEAR2009F6 AR BHE —BRA QA KRHD
TR B AR A AR B 1 o P 1S 3R TE ¥ B8 £9350,000,0005%8
TRAEAREERBORBOEEBE ZRERE
EEy—REEES -

AN B 200899 A 26 H 17 ¥ & 17 (£ {8 & #1.007
JL (E H % R2009F 78 2 IR AR A HR0.51E
TT) BT 2 R AEE N 2009F9 8250 B H o R 1A
FEAN - H1,8332,404B 0 2 RRIEFETEIARE
1,381,399 A R A #T A o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

45. WARRANTS 45,

In respect of the final dividend for the year ended 31 March
2008 distributed in the form of warrants, the Company
issued warrants of HK$251,398,919 on 26 September 2008
to shareholders of the Company conferring the rights to the
holders thereof to subscribe in cash for 251,398,919 new
shares of the Company at an initial exercise price of HK$1.00
per share (subsequently adjusted to HK$0.51 per share as a
result of the rights issue in July 2009) at any time during the
period from 26 September 2008 to 25 September 2009.

The subscription rights attaching to the warrants are
measured at fair value of approximately HK$12,833,000 on
initial recognition and are recognised in equity in the warrants
reserve.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, warrants of

HK$1,332,494 were exercised and all remaining warrants 46.

lapsed at the expiry date.

46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

On 27 August 2002, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentive or reward to any employees, executives
or officers, directors of the Group or any invested entity and
any celebrity, consultant, adviser or agent of any member of
the Group or any invested entity, who have contributed or
will contribute to the growth and development of the Group
or any invested entity (“Eligible Person”). The Share Option
Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years from
that date.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the
Company may at their discretion grant options to any Eligible
Person to subscribe for shares in the Company without
consideration. The directors may at their discretion determine
the specific exercise period which should expire in any event
no later than ten years from date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined by the
directors of the Company and will be at least the higher of:

(i) the subscription price as is permissible under the Listing
Rules from time to time; and (i) the nominal value of the
Company's shares.

AR

FE Z2008F3ASTE IEFEURBKREZET A DK
ZARHBBEBEME - AR R B R2008F9AH26H M AR
A A J% B B 17251,398,9198 ;T 2 R HE 75 - B 8
RREEE T EREA#T - 7] H20085F9H26H
£20099F9A258 [F#BE A (E ] B [ - A & A%1.00
BILZHTEE (AR2009F7A 2 ERALAS
f%0.5178 7T) LA IR € R B8251,398,919R% 7N X &) 1 A

,T/\ °

REEEMNZ REER VT ERABRAFEED
12,833,000 Lt & Wz T 2 R E K E
R e

REZ2010F3A31H IEFE - 1,332,494 B L 2R
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46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
— continued

The maximum number of shares which may initially be issued
upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company
as at its adoption date, i.e. 103,674,492 shares. Subject

to the approval of the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting, the limit may be refreshed to 10% of the
total number of shares in issue as at the date of approval

by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total
number of shares in issue from time to time. Pursuant to an
ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meetings

of the Company in 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008
and 2009, the 10% scheme limit was refreshed to 10% of
the total number of issued shares of the Company as at the
respective dates of such meetings. Pursuant to an ordinary
resolution passed at the Company’s annual general meeting
held on 10 September 2010, the 10% scheme limit was
further refreshed to 452,912,513 representing 10% of the
total number of issued shares of the Company as at the date
of such meeting.

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect
of which options may be granted to each Eligible Person
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company (including those exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue
from time to time unless such grant has been duly approved
by shareholders of the Company at general meeting at which
the Eligible Person and his associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) abstained from voting. Options granted to a
substantial shareholder and/or an independent non-executive
director or any of their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) in any 12-month period in excess of 0.10%
of total number of shares in issue and have an aggregate
value exceeding HK$5,000,000 must be approved by the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting in advance.
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46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
— continued

(@)

Details of the share options granted on 28 December
2004 to certain directors and advisors of the Company
under the Share Option Scheme and movements in
such holdings during the year are as follows:

46. URHBXNREZRS &

(a) ANRQAP2004F12 F28H 1R 15 85 A% 4 51 &l (@)
REBZETFEERARNARE ZBREZF
BERFRZESHIOT

Number of shares of the Company
to be issued upon exercise of the share options

TRBRERR TR ALARGYE

Exercise  Outstanding  Adjustments  Outstanding Lapsed  Outstanding
price asat  made during asat during asat
Date of grant Exercise period per share 1.4.2009 the year 31.3.2010 the year 31.3.2011
SRTEE
HKS
RitiAH e BT #.42000 FRELEE  #81.3.2010 1431.3.2011
(Note #32) WARTE  (Note /) HATR  RERXN WK
28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 043762 9,100,000 13,000,000 22,100,000 = 22,100,000
28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 0.52940 13,510,000 19,300,000 32,810,000 = 32,810,000
22,610,000 32,300,000 54,910,000 = 54,910,000
Exercisable at the end of the year REERA T17E 54,910,000 54,910,000
Note: HaF -

In accordance with the Share Option Scheme, the exercise
prices of the share options were adjusted from HK$1.0628 and
HK$1.2857 per share to HK$0.43762 and HK$0.52940 per
share respectively and the number of the then outstanding share
options under the Share Option Scheme was also adjusted
correspondingly on 3 July 2009, as a result of the rights issue of
the Company on the basis of two rights shares for every share
held.

REERESE BREZTEEREAERRKRM
1.0628% L £1.2857 8 T A B = F AR 7H0.43762/%
TLE0.529408 7T - M BRI T B0 M R1TER
B fE 2 88 MK2009F7 ASH AR R AR ZFA —
% A& 17 7T 3R B8 M AR A AR AR 10 2 B 1T AR M 1E 4R
JEFE -
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46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 46. DI EXNREZRE &
— continued (b) FRRMAFE  ADAIREERE SR
(o)  Details of the share options granted to certain directors, FEERKERBLETES  EE REH
employees and advisors of the Group and invested ABRBZzEREFBREZSH0OT :

entities under the Share Option Scheme during the
current and prior years and movements in such
holdings are as follows:

Number of shares of the Company to be issued upon exercise of the share options

RREERAFROZALIRMEE

Adjustments Lapsed Lapsed

made during during during
Exercise  Outstanding the year theyear  Outstanding theyear  Outstanding
Date of Vesting price at ended ended at ended at
Type grant date** Exercise period per share* 142009  31.3.2010% 31.3.2010 31.3.2010 31.3.2011 31.3.2011

BE31.3.2010

42009 LEEfH HZ3.3.2010 13132010 HZE31.3.2011  H31.3.2011
Eh REAE GRAM R SROEE AR AE LEEXR WATE LEEXN AT
() 622006  6.2.2009 6.2.2009 t0 5.2.2010 1.23529 7,408,333 9,750,000 (17,158,333 - = -
i) 2432006  6.2.2009 6.2.2009 t0 5.2.2010 1,23629 3,062,500 4,375,000 (7,437,500) - - -
i) 892006  89.2008 8.9.2008to 7.9.2009 087528 5,366,667 7,666,667 (13,033,334) - - -
(V 892006  89.2006 8.9.2006 to 26.8.2012 0.85762 1516,667 2,166,667 - 3,683,334 = 3,683,334
() 892006  89.2008 8.9.2008 to 7.9.2009 1.23529 933,333 1,333,332 (2,266,665) - - -
() 622007  6.2.2007 6.2.2007 to 26.8.2012 1.05881 1,516,667 2,166,667 - 3,683,334 = 3,683,334
(i) 622007  6.2.2009 6.2.2009 t0 5.2.2010 1,23629 1,306,667 1,866,667 (3,173,334) - - -
(vil) 1552007 1552007 15.5.2007 to 14.5.2009 3.00 7,000,000 - (7,000,000 - - -
(x 182007 182008 1.8.2008 10 31.7.2009 14173 525,000 750,000 (1,275,000} - - -
( 182007 182009 1.8.20091031.7.2010 1.58821 525,000 750,000 - 1275000 (1,275,000 -
() 1892007 1892008  18.9.2008t0 17.9.2009 1.25151 4,550,000 6,500,000 (11,050,000 - - -
(i) 1892007  18.9.2009  18.9.2009t0 17.9.2010 1.25151 4,550,000 6,500,000 - 11,050,000 (11,050,000 -
(i) 11102007 11102008  11.10.2008 to 10.10.2009 1.23529 175,000 250,000 (425,000) - - -
() 11102007 11102009  11.10.2009 t0 10.10.2010 14173 233,333 333,332 566,665 (566,665 -
(v 362008  1.102008  1.10.2008t0 26.2011 070584 12333338 17619047  (12,142857) 17,809,523 - 17,809,523
(v) 362008 1102009  1.10.2009to 26.2011 070084 12333338 17619047  (12,142857) 17,809,623 - 17,809,523
(i) 362008  1.4.2010 14.2010t02.6.2011 0.70584 6,166,667 8,809,524 (6,071,428 8,904,763 = 8,904,763
(i) 362008 1102010  1.10.2010t0 26.2011 0.70584 6,166,667 8,809,524 (6,071,428 8,904,763 = 8,904,763
(x) 362008  3.6.2008 36,2008 to 2.6.2009 17142 23503,667 - (28,503,667) - - -
(k) 362008  3.6.2008 36.2008t0 2.6.2010 088232  16961,000 22563334 (1,166,666) 38,357,668  (38,357,668) -
() 362008 3.6.2009 36.2009 to 2.6.2010 0.88232 3,150,000 4,499,999 - 7,649,999 (7,649,999) -
(o) 3.6.2008  3.6.2009 36.2009 to 2.6.2011 0.88232 2,333,333 3,333,333 - 5,666,066 = 5,666,666
(xeii) 3.6.2008  3.6.2010 36.2010t0 2.6.2011 1,05881 3,091,666 4,416,665 - 7,508,331 (4250000 7,083,331

124708833 132078805  (123918,089) 132869,069 (69,324,332 73,545,237

Exercisable at the end of the year

REEBT T 107,651,712 73,545,231
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46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

— continued
(b) - continued
* In accordance with the Share Option Scheme, the range

of the exercise prices of the share options was adjusted
from HK$1.7142 to HK$3.8571 per share to HK$0.70584
to HK$1.58821 per share and the number of the then
outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme
was also adjusted correspondingly on 3 July 2009, as a
results of the rights issue of the Company on the basis of
two rights shares for every share held.

> All the above outstanding share options of the Company
were vested in the relevant grantees upon the first date of
their respective exercise periods.

(c) During both years, no share options were granted
to directors and employees under the share option
scheme.

The amount of cost of share options charged to the
consolidated income statement during the year was
HK$261,000 (2010: HK$1,337,000).

Share option scheme of Paul Y. Engineering Group
Limited (“PYE”)

On 7 September 2005, PYE adopted a share option scheme
(the “PYE Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentive

or reward to any employees, executives or officers, directors
of PYE and its subsidiaries or any invested entity and any
consultant, adviser or agent of any member of PYE and its
subsidiaries or any invested entity, who have contributed or
will contribute to the growth and development of PYE and

its subsidiaries or any invested entity (“PYE Eligible Person”).
The PYE Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
from that date.

Under the PYE Scheme, the directors of PYE may at their
discretion grant options to any PYE Eligible Person to
subscribe for shares in PYE. Consideration to be paid on
each grant of option is HK$1.00. The directors of PYE may
at their discretion determine the specific exercise period
which should expire in any event no later than ten years from
date of adoption of the PYE Scheme. The exercise price is
determined by the directors of PYE and will be at least the
higher of: (i) the subscription price as is permissible under the
Listing Rules from time to time; and (i) the nominal value of
the shares of PYE.
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46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
— continued
Share option scheme of Paul Y. Engineering Group
Limited (“PYE”) — continued
The maximum number of shares that may initially be issued
upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the PYE
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) adopted
by PYE must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of issued shares of PYE as at its adoption date,
i.e. 57,669,939 shares of PYE. Subject to the approval of
the shareholders of PYE in general meeting, the limit may
be refreshed to 10% of the total number of shares of PYE
in issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of
PYE in general meeting. Notwithstanding the forgoing, the
maximum number of shares of PYE which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the PYE Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of PYE must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the total number of shares of PYE in issue from time to
time. Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at PYE’s
annual general meeting held on 3 September 2010, the 10%
scheme limit was refreshed to 60,599,979, representing 10%
of the total number of issued shares of PYE as at the date of
such meeting.

The maximum number of shares of PYE in respect of which
options may be granted to each PYE Eligible Person under
the PYE Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
PYE (including those exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares of PYE in issue from time to time
unless such grant has been duly approved by shareholders of
PYE in general meeting at which the PYE Eligible Person and
his associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) abstained from
voting. Options granted to a substantial shareholder and/or
an independent non-executive director of PYE or any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) in any
12-month period in excess of 0.10% of the total number

of PYE in issue and have an aggregate value exceeding
HK$5,000,000 must be approved by the shareholders of
PYE in general meeting in advance.
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46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 46. DI EXNREZRE &
— continued ReEpxsmERAT (RERE) 2BRE
Share option scheme of Paul Y. Engineering Group sTE-4&
Limited (“PYE”) — continued FERNRLAFE REREZLEREATBLY
Details of movements in share options of PYE granted under BREZS  FRHWOT
the PYE Scheme during the current and prior years are as
follows:
Number of shares of PYE to
be issued upon exercise of the share options
BRETEREFRIZRERERGHE
Outstanding
Lapsed at
Exercise Outstanding during the 31.3.2010
Date of price at year ended and
Type grant Vesting date  Exercise period per share 1.4.2009 31.3.2010 31.3.2011
BRTHEE 1431.3.2010
HK$ #1.4.2009 #,%£31.3.2010 %31.3.2011
ER HLAH HBERH T BT e R AT LEFERN e R ATE
| 30.5.2007  1.7.2008 1.7.2008 - 30.6.2009 1.34 600,000 (600,000) -
I 8.6.2007 1.7.2007 1.7.2007 - 30.6.2009 1.36 2,000,000 (2,000,000) -
1 28.12.2007 1.6.2008 1.6.2008 - 31.5.2009 1.40 1,000,000 (1,000,000) -
3,600,000 (3,600,000) -
Exercisable at the end of the year
RERK T{76 >
No options were granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled 7\5’\:\@5201 1HF3A31 B L F R R R R
during the year ended 31 March 2011. 174 - R
For the year ended 31 March 2010, approximately HE2010F3ASIHIEFE  ZAIRREEEZN
HK$320,000 previously recognised in share-based payment [i% £ 3z - 3R I8 {7k 1 R B8 3R 2 #9320,000/% T 2 8 A
reserve of PYE was transferred to retained profits attributable IR EREEZRE G o

to non-controlling interests.
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47. ACQUISITION/DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

196 P1

Acquisition of subsidiaries

U

(i)

In March 2011, PYE increased its interest in three
associates from 50% to 100% at consideration
of HK$2. The net cash inflow arising on the
acquisition was approximately HK$234,000.
Goodwill of HK$74,000 resulted from such
acquisition has been impaired and recognised

in the consolidated income statement in view of
the continual operating losses incurred by these
subsidiaries.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group
acquired 51% equity interest and approximately
57% voting right in Yichang Port Group Limited
(*Yichang Port Group”) at a cash consideration

of approximately RMB114 million (approximately
HK$129 million). Consequently, Yichang Port
Group became a subsidiary of the Group as the
Group obtained control over the operating and
financing policies of Yichang Port Group. Yichang
Port Group is principally engaged in transport
logistics and properties investments, providing
transportation, cargo loading and discharging,
storage, shipping agent, cargo agent, port
logistics and port equipment rental services in
Yichang Port, the PRC. The acquisition reinforced
the Group’s target to build an efficient network of
ports and commitment to the rapidly developing
ports and infrastructure sector in the PRC. This
acquisition had been accounted for using the
purchase method.

C) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report
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47. ACQUISITION/DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN

47. W HEMBATERZ &
SUBSIDIARIES - continued (a) WBEHBAR &
(@) Acquisition of subsidiaries — continued iy —#&
(ii) — continued
HK$’000
FHIT
Fair value of net assets acquired: FTEEAEEFE A TEE
Property, plant and equipment I - B R 240,095
Investment properties "EME 17,675
Prepaid lease payments B+ FE & E 70,855
Interests in associates NG 683
Other intangible assets HipE R EE 119,224
Available-for-sale investments AEEERE 140
Trade and other debtors, deposits and BoREMERER FT& Kk
prepayments (note ) T84 28 (KT ati) 94,406
Amounts due from associates JRE Lz Bt & A R FRIE 636
Investments held for trading RIEEERE 8,758
Bank balances and cash RITEGERES 179,747
Trade and other creditors and accrued B REMEMERK
expenses Bt X (305,564)
Amounts due to associates JiE 1< B 4 A R FRIB (19)
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FE < JE 4% A% 25 TR B (26,155)
Taxation payable & B8 I8 (48)
Bank and other borrowings RAIT R E A fE R (45,455)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHBAME (33,939
Deferred income EE WA (16,992)
304,051
Cash consideration transferred eIl &R (B 129,250
Plus: Non-controlling interests (note i) N SEERRRE R (M) 161,335
Less: Fair value of net assets acquired B TR EEFEZATER (304,051)
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries M8 A E) 2 s B U B W s
(note i) (Bt aiii) (13,466)
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition of WENBARZE®
subsidiaries: MAFEE
Bank balances and cash acquired Ui sRITRAFE R A S 179,747
Cash consideration paid ENEERE (129,250)
50,497

'

PYIL® REKEERAT 2011568
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47. ACQUISITION/DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES - continued

(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries — continued
(ii) — continued

Notes:

(0} The receivables acquired with a fair value of
approximately HK$90,890,000 had gross contractual
amounts of approximately HK$115,433,000. The
best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual
cash flow not expected to be collected was
approximately HK$24,543,000.

(i) The non-controlling interests were initially measured
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the fair value of Yichang Port Group’s identifiable
net assets.

(i)~ The gain on bargain purchase was mainly attributable
to the difference between the fair value and the
carrying amount of land at the date of completion of
the acquisition.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to
approximately HK$13,678,000 had been
excluded from the consideration transferred and
had been recognised as an expense in the last
year.

Included in the profit for the year ended 31
March 2010 of the Group was approximately
HK$11,476,000 attributable to the additional
business generated by Yichang Port Group.
Turnover for the last year of the Group included
approximately HK$88,525,000 attributable

to the Yichang Port Group. Had the business
combination been effected at 1 April 2009,
the turnover of the Group would had been
approximately HK$4,337 million, and the profit
for the last year of the Group would had been
approximately HK$265 million.
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47. ACQUISITION/DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES - continued

(b)

(c)

Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries
During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group
acquired a further 7.11% equity interest in Feeder
Port Holdings Limited (“Feeder Port”), which engages
in logistic network solution, increasing its interest
from 87.5% to 94.61% by subscription of its new
capital. The difference of HK$555,000 between the
proportionate share of the carrying amount of its net
assets and the consideration paid for the additional
interest has been debited to retained profits.

Disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group
disposed of an aggregate of 15% equity interest in
Yangkou Port Co to two independent third parties

at an aggregate consideration of RMB300,000,000
(approximately HK$341 million), reducing its interest
from 75% to 60%. The net proceed on disposal of
approximately HK$316,433,000 was received in
cash and an amount of HK$355,257,000 (being the
proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net
assets and translation reserve of Yangkou Port Co)
had been transferred to non-controlling interests. The
difference of HK$3,858,000 between the proportionate
share of the carrying amount of the net assets of
Yangkou Port Co and the consideration received had
been debited to retained profits.

47. WB HEMBLATES &

(b)

(c)
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47. ACQUISITION/DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN

SuB
(d)

200 p1

SIDIARIES - continued

Disposal of a subsidiary

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group
disposed of its entire interest in & AR IEY) EEIE

47. WIE HEWBATERZ &

(d HE-—BKEAT
HE2010F3AGALFER AEELE
BERREZEZZ2ENBRABBRENE
EBAERAR((MBRE)) 22HERT—

BRG] (‘FBRIREE"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of B E = KRB AK567,0008 T -
PYE to an independent third party at consideration of

approximately HK$567,000. ARRENLEEACEEFENT :
The net assets of FBIRZE at the date of disposal were
as follows:
HK$’000
FAT
Net assets disposed of: T EEEFE
Property, plant and equipment ER S 2
Trade and other debtors, deposits and BoREMERER Te Kk
prepayments B 50R 173
Bank balances and cash RITEFERES 239
Trade and other creditors and accrued B 5 K Hth FE BRI
expenses FEET RIS (32)
382
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEHB AR 2 ks 185
Total consideration satisfied by: BREZFF
Cash Re 567
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEE RS R AEE
Cash received FTUER IR & 567
Bank balances and cash disposed of FrHERTEERES (239)
328

The subsidiary disposed of during the last year did

FAMLENBRARBASRERHEMBM %

not have any significant contribution to the results and BREEREWEEMERNETE -
cash flows of the Group during the period prior to the

disposal.

C) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. €@ T A
48a. Categories of financial instruments 48a. €RIT A 2R
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAET
Financial assets SHEE
FVTPL BRATEBEFABRE
— Investments held for trading —BIEEBEZIRE 46,942 44,051
Loans and receivables B 5 K B W ke
- Loans receivable —EIE K 113,147 267,130
- Trade and other debtors, — B REMEKERRR
and deposits Hika 1,682,700 2,019,004
— Amounts due from associates — JE Y B 2 R R FE 42,929 26,133
— Amounts due from jointly — JRE Uy £ [F] 4 %M%T%?XIE
controlled entities 22,956 =
— Amount due from a non-controlling — PR SE R IR 2 FRIE
interest 1,188 1,138
— Bank deposits —RITER 454,809 384,554
- Bank balances and cash —RITEERRSE 657,799 648,060
2,975,528 3,346,019
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESmEE
— Available-for-sale investments —AEHERE 1,361 1,346
Total aar 3,023,831 3,391,416
Financial liabilities at amortised REBHEREIEzSREE
costs
Trade and other creditors B 5 REAMERRK 1,351,335 1,497,695
Amounts due to associates FE {8 N B 5108 66,268 42,939
Amount due to a jointly controlled entity & /s — ] 2t [7] 122 il 4 % 2B 45,000 =
Amounts due to related companies FE g A 7] 2R 18 233 89,488
Amounts due to non-controlling JE 1 FE 128 AR 4 25 BUIR
interests 43,278 72,080
Bank and other borrowings #R1T R E A 5 5K 1,993,889 2,787,822
Convertible notes payable RE A R R E - 138,189
3,500,003 4,628,213
D gusmeram 011Fm 201
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
debtors and deposits, loans receivable, available-for-
sale investments, investments held for trading, trade
and other creditors, amounts due from (to) associates/
jointly controlled entities/non-controlling interests/
related companies, bank and other borrowings and
convertible notes payable. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

(@) Market risk
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk

is attributable to its financial instruments
that are subject to both variable rate and
fixed rate. Those financial instruments of
variable interest rates expose the Group

to cash flow interest rate risk. Details

of the Group’s interest bearing financial
instruments at variable rate have been
disclosed in notes 28, 32, 34, 38, 39 and
40. Financial instruments at fixed interest
rates expose the Group to fair value interest
risk. Details of the Group’s interest bearing
financial instruments at fixed rate have been
disclosed in notes 28, 34, 38, 40 and 41.

In order to mitigate the interest rate risk,

the Group adopts a policy of maintaining

an appropriate mix of fixed and floating

rate borrowings which is achieved primarily
through entering into different contractual
terms of borrowings. The position is regularly
monitored and evaluated by reference of
anticipated changes in market interest rate.
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
— continued

(@) Market risk - continued

(i)

Interest rate risk — continued

The Group’s exposures to interest rate risk
on financial liabilities are detailed in the
liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of the rates announced by the PBC arising
from the Group’s RMB borrowings and
advance at variable rates and Hong Kong
Inter-bank Offered Rate and HKBLR arising
from the Group’s HK Dollars loans receivable
and borrowings at variable rates.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to
interest rates for variable rate instruments
at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis point increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management
personnel.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the effect to the profit of the
Group is insignificant.

48. ¢RI A&
48b. ¢ RIEA KM EEEERKE &

(a) WHEKR-&

() FIEEE &
AEBREGREBETRERY 2 X
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kB AEESHIARNE
BFEENAAEEMRE - M
WHEZEEABERFERR
By IR A AN SOm 25085 F o

fisi ¥ & A /T k5088 F - PR

BEMEHEFEITE  AIHAR
EENzFERTRE -

Pld gesmaras 011Fw 203



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011

HZE2011F3ASIHILLFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
— continued

(@) Market risk - continued

(i)

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value
of a monetary item will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. Certain
receivables of the Group are denominated
in foreign currencies such as Macau Pataca
(“MOP”), RMB and United States Dollars
(“US Dollars”) and which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors
foreign currency exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Certain Hong Kong subsidiaries of the
Group also operate in the Mainland China
with certain transactions denominated in
either RMB or US Dollars. RMB is not freely
convertible into other foreign currencies and
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government. Certain subsidiaries of the
Group have foreign currency transactions,
including purchase of materials, expenses
and borrowings. The Group manages its
exposures to foreign currency transactions
by monitoring the level of foreign currency
receipts and payments. The Group ensures
that the net exposure to foreign exchange
risk is kept to an acceptable level from time
to time.
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48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
— continued

(@) Market risk - continued

(i)

Currency risk — continued

All of the Group’s borrowings are
denominated in HK Dollars and RMB. It is
the policy of the Group to draw borrowings
in the functional currencies of the entities as
management considers the repayments can
be sourced from income to be generated in
those currencies.

As HK Dollars is pegged to US Dollars,

the Group believes the exposure of
transactions denominated in US Dollars
which are entered by group companies with
a functional currency of HK Dollars to be
insignificant.

The exchange rates between HK Dollars and
MOP would not materially fluctuate, hence,
the Group’s currency risk in relation to MOP
is expected to be minimal.

The Group considers its foreign currency
exposure is mainly arising from the exposure
of RMB against HK Dollars. The Group
regularly reviews the balances of assets

and liabilities and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as to
minimise the Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk.

48. €WMIBE &

48b. ¢ RIEA KM EEEERKE &
IS E R - &

(a)

PYig® REKEERAT 201168

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE KB RMET

For the year ended 31 March 2011

HZE2011F3A31BILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 48. €WMIH &

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
— continued

(@) Market risk - continued

48b. ¢ RIEA KM EEEERKE &
(a) WEAKR-E

(i) EHEEGE—E
(i) Currency risk — continued 7K £2 @ LSS A B8 oy N T AN S
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign ERecEMEERERAE (B
currency denominated monetary assets BERRERNE) RREHTLE
and monetary liabilities, with exposure to FoEREEAT :
foreign currency risk which are considered
as significant by management, at the end of
the reporting periods are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
afE BE
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT FET FHIT
US Dollars ET - = 788 90,001
RMB AR 119,203 29,165 446,664 271,953
HK Dollars BT 24,677 21,007 26,220 8,980
MOP JB P 9,360 11,320 27,848 29,737
Sensitivity analysis BREE D

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease

in RMB against HK Dollars and HK Dollars
against RMB. 5% is the sensitivity rate

used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel.
The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the year end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in profit where RMB
strengthen 5% against HK Dollars. For a 5%
weakening of RMB against HK Dollars, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on
the profit for the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
— continued

(@) Market risk - continued
(i) Currency risk — continued
Sensitivity analysis — continued

Increase in profit for the year 4 1% 51/ 1& hn

48. ¢RI A&
48b. ¢ RIEA KM EEEERKE &

(a) WEAKR-E
(i) EHEEGE—E

HREDT—E

2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET THET
13,671 10,136

(i) Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities
price risk from its available-for-sale
investments and all of the held for trading
investments. Management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles. The
Group has monitored the other price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity
price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 5% higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the
effect to the profit and investment revaluation
reserve of the Group is insignificant.

(i) E A EE R
AEBERAEAHRHERERAA
FIFEBEREMABESESZE
wER - EEENERFEAR
FUESRZREAARERILE
R REBESEREMERR
B WEEATEEE B
[Eka P

EIESRT

INTBRERESMIDRERE B AE
82 B A B AR e i B

AMBATAME R TH
5%« AT E b BB TS
B 7 R L P 49 A
B PETEX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31BLFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
— continued

208 P

(b)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge obligations by the
counterparties is:

- the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position;
and

—  the amount of contingent liabilities as
disclosed in note 51.

In order to minimise the credit risk of the debtors,
management has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group will understand the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit
sales are made to customers with good credit
history. Credit limits attributed to customers and
credit term granted to customers on different
business units are reviewed regularly. In addition,
the Group reviews regularly the recoverable
amount of each individual customer to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
— continued

(b)

Credit risk — continued

The Group has concentration of credit risks as
follows:

For the Paul Y. Engineering Group segment,

due to the fact that there are only a few major
property developers in Hong Kong, the Group
has significant concentration of credit risk in a few
customers and significant concentration of credit
risk by geographic location in Hong Kong. In view
of their credit standings, good payment record

in the past and long term relationships with the
Group, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group’s credit risk is not material. At the end
of the reporting period, the outstanding balances
with the five largest customers amounted

to approximately HK$478,280,000 (2010:
HK$564,128,000) in aggregate, of which the
single largest customer represents approximately
44% (2010: 21%) of the total debtors at the end
of the reporting period.

The Group has advances together with interest
thereon to a non-trade debtor and a related
company of this debtor which are included

in trade and other debtors, deposits and
prepayments, amounting to approximately
HK$253,211,000 (2010: HK$242,579,000)

and HK$16,394,000 (2010: HK$16,394,000),
respectively, (see note 32(c) for details) which
expose the Group to the concentration of credit
risk on these counterparties. In view that the
balances are secured by property interests in the
PRC and that the market value is higher than the
carrying amount of the outstanding balances,
the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s exposure to credit risk on these balances
is reduced.

48, €WMI A&
48b. ¢ RIRKMEEEERKE &

(b)

FERR &
AEEEERRZETBERLAT

HREZESESHME ARBEER
BLEAMMERER SIBEAEKHE
EEAGEETFREAREERTFPLE
PREBZHEMNE - AR BEEEER
E BENREHRRORELAEES
EHBER MARREERALEE
ZEERBRTEEKN REHTLEN
REARBEFZABERZGBE RN
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21%) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
— continued

210 P

(b)

Credit risk — continued

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the
Group had advanced unsecured loans to related
companies, which are also companies listed

in Hong Kong. The outstanding amount was
approximately HK$169,627,000 (see notes
28(a), (c) for details), which expose the Group

to the concentration of credit risk on these
counterparties. In view of good payment record
and relationship with the Group, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is minimal.

With respect to concentration of credit risk arising
from amounts due from associates, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from default of the
counterparty is limited as the associates have
strong financial position and the Group does not
expect to incur a significant loss for uncollected
amounts due from these associates.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Other than the above, the Group has no other
significant concentration of credit risk, the
exposure of which spreads over a number of
counterparties.

C) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
— continued

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. As at 31 March
2011, the Group has available unutilised bank
loan facilities of approximately HK$651 million
(2010: HK$675 million). Details of the amounts
utilised at the end of the reporting period are set
out in note 40.

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. There are unutilised banking facilities
available to finance the Group’s working capital
requirements. The Group relies on borrowings
as a significant source of liquidity. Management
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants. The
Group will also consider the issue of equity
instruments so as to finance its investment
projects.

The following tables detail the Group’s contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities
based on the agreed repayment terms. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities and based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The tables include both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of
the reporting period.

48, €WMI A&
48b. ¢ RIEAKMEEEERKE &

(c)

RBESRAR
AREBKBRITEIAREARDE S
KR - R2011F3A31H A5 EA
AERMABBZRTERREY
651,000,000 7T (2010 : 675,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011

HZE2011F3ASIHILFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

— continued

(c) Liquidity risk — continued

212

Liquidity and interest risk tables

48. €eWMIBE—&

48b. ¢ RIEAKMEEEERKE &
(c) REBELEM &
MENE & LA ERARE

Weighted More than Total
average On demand 90 days and undiscounted
effective or within within More than cash Carrying
interest rate 90 days 365 days 365 days flows amount
BEI0R AHRRE
NEFHEH HEAD0AK  BH65AA ##365A id ¢4 R
flz HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% T i Tin Tir Tir
2011
Non-derivative financial iabilites ~~ F{f £ £ RE %
Trade and other creditors BARAMENER - 656,088 430,469 263,878 1,351,335 1,351,335
Amounts due to related companies/ RfBELT/BE
associaesfonty contoled entties 27/ AREHRE/
non-controllng interests FiEREATE
- nonnterest bearing ~THE - 68,140 8,711 56,550 133,401 133,401
- interest bearing —§t8 1 = 2,534 19,842 22,376 21,378
Bank and other borrowings RIRABER
- fixed rate -8 38 128,974 26,313 - 154,287 150,584
- Variable rate -%8 511 747,885 400,479 870930 2,019,294 1,843,305
Financial guarantee contracts HHEREY 102,118 - - 102,118 -
1,704,105 867,506 1,211,200 3,782,811 3,500,003
2010
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ #f7£ SHER
Trade and other creditors BAREBEMNER = 552,158 781,039 164,498 1,497,695 1,497,695
Amounts dus to related companies’  ERBEAE/BEDRA/
associates/non-controling interests  FEERIRERE
- non interest bearing -8 - 81,285 - - 81,285 81,285
- interest bearing —i 8 532 100,527 2,438 21,432 124,397 123,222
Bank and other borrowings RITRABER
- fixed rate -8 648 63,876 164,521 46,420 214817 266,022
- variable rate -%8 534 815,215 385,378 1,615,714 2,816,307 2,521,800
Convertile notes payable ERTHREE - 138,738 - - 138,738 138,189
Financial quarantee contracts BHEREN - 45,506 - - 45,506 -
1,797,305 1,333,376 1,848,064 4.978,745 4,628,213

FYI~) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
— continued

(c)

Liquidity risk — continued
Liquidity and interest risk tables — continued

The amounts included above for financial
guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts
the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counter party to
the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end
of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this
estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that
the financial receivables held by the counterparty
which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial
liabilities are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates
of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

48c. Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

the fair value of financial assets with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference to quoted
market bid prices and ask prices respectively; and

the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis using prices or rates from observable
current market transaction as input.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

48. ¢RI E &

48b.

48c.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

48. ¢RI E &

48c. Fair value - continued 48c. ATEE &
Fair value measurements recognised in the ERGEUMBRRRPIERZALEENE
consolidated statement of financial position ATHRIEM —BELRITE YD 28T
BUOE AR 2 A FEEE  EAKER
The following table provides an analysis of financial B i Z] - f ng ;5 IFL %f\ tg = /\ng B
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 2= RABRRAFRECEETR
e e e . mn-nTmeziEmERzaz
d SEERERD S RE CREHEE)
observable. N
EBE -
° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived N N L
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market c B . f{g (B ¥ B 1 “\ _ i B
for identical assets or liabilities. 2 B\ - 3K ﬁé Al ;é 2 B &%fr Z”H;
i A SR (A REE (BB s HE
e Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived [BNRE B ETE °
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or . R=PFBEZFERHEERDT B
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly BRI EETSEE 2 B AR GF
(i.e. derived from prices). AERBASE) cEENAEMERE -
° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).
31.3.2011
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B8R — BR= BX= &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TET FET FET
FINANCIAL ASSETS LHEE
Investments held for trading BIEEBERE 46,942 - - 46,942
Available-for-sale AHEERE
investments 91 - 341 432
TOTAL &&t 47,033 - 341 47,374
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR MEE
For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE
48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 48. ¢RI A&
48c. Fair value - continued 48c. ATEE &
Fair value measurements recognised in the ERGEMBRRRPERZATLEEFTE
consolidated statement of financial position — &
— continued
31.3.2010
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BR— Bx= Brk= & &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FHT FHT TAHT
FINANCIAL ASSETS SREE
Investments held for trading HIEBEBEIRE 44,051 = = 44,051
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE 521 - 541 1,062
TOTAL a5t 44,572 = 541 45,113
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 for both BRMEFEmMS  BXA—KEXRZZHHYE
years. EEREA
49. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 49, e NHIRESZEER
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash A RERMS  BeREDLEHEERR
flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and EFERETESURREETIETAEIZE 1
in banks and investments in money market instruments, net BAREERTAY -RAREHMETEE 54584
of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at GEEFESRDAREESSEIEE A HELE
the end of the reporting period as shown in the consolidated BRREXNABEEEYENT
statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related
items in the consolidated statement of financial position as
follows:
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FET
Short term bank deposits RAERITER 371,277 350,972
Bank balances and cash RITREFRES 657,799 648,060
1,029,076 999,032
Cash and bank balances classified as held DERFELHEZRER
for sale (note 17) RITHEET (MaE17) 128,341 -
1,157,417 999,032
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REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

50. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes for qualifying employees. The assets of the
schemes are separately held in funds under the control of
trustees.

The employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the PRC government. The subsidiaries in the
PRC are required to contribute a specified percentage of
their payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The cost charged to the consolidated income statement
represents contributions paid and payable to the funds by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes. Where
there are employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting
fully in the contributions, the contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

At the end of the reporting period, there were no material
forfeited contributions which arose upon employees
leaving the schemes prior to their interests in the Group’s
contributions becoming fully vested and which are available
to reduce the contributions payable by the Group in future
years.

With effective from 1 December 2000, the Group has joined
a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”). The
MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of an independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at the rates specified

in the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31BILFE

50. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES - continued 50.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from the

MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated income statement
represent contributions paid and payable to the funds by the
Group at the rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

During the year, the total retirement benefit scheme
contributions charged to consolidated income statement
amounted to approximately HK$16,275,000 (2010:

RIKBER G E &

A dmEh 2 RNEFFEHIESEA
W Rk - HERARBRABRATHZLLE
RMED DN REMNZHR -

FR - REERERAZHERKERGEHRE
RE#9/516,275,00078 7T (2010 : 14,418,000 1) °

HK$14,418,000).
51. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 51. HAREE
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FaT FAT
Guarantees given to banks in respect RETFTTIALTZRITEER
of banking facilities granted to: RATVEH Z 1R -
— an associate ——HBE QA 3,542 -
— jointly controlled entities — L[R2 I 33,255 -
— third parties —$=h 65,321 45,506
102,118 45,506

At the initial date of providing these guarantees, the directors
consider that the fair value of the financial guarantees is
insignificant.

REUZSERER  ESRAMBARZATHE
BYTEA -
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52. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

(a)

(b)

218 P

The Group as a lessee:

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of

52. REMEERE
(a) AEBMEREBAA

REBEMTER  AREETHE AR
T HEREER HAMERERE R#E

WAL BRI T 5B R RBARTE 2 RIBALE

leasehold interest in land, rented premises and plant I EAEZ AT
and machinery which fall due as follows:
2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHEIT
Within one year —FR" 26,428 24,034
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EZERF (BEME
BEER) 58,398 12,181
Over five years BRAF 25,317 22,244
110,143 58,459
Leases are negotiated, and monthly rentals are fixed, BAANTEGABESEE T EHRR—

for terms ranging from one to thirty years.

The Group as a lessor:

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants in respect of its investment

FES+ETE -

(b) FAEKEEERHAAKN:

RBEWTER  ARERERENEZHE

properties for future minimum lease payments which fall

due as follows:

FERARKEBRS AT - IHHMT

2011 2010

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET FET

Within one year —FR 10,928 7,315
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EERF (BEWE

BEEA) 23,450 14,070

Over five years BRAE 21,872 3,143

56,250 24,528

Operating lease arrangements represent rentals
receivable by the Group for certain of its premises.

REMEZHEAEEREMEEB 2HEE
BOZAERNTERBRBIFECFIF o

Leases are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 year to

6 years.
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HZE2011F3A31B LFE
53. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 53. EEHEH
At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were RGBT ER - TIEED BT TRIT R B#
pledged to banks and financial institutions to secure the B ERASERG-—REERE 2EM
general credit facilities granted to the Group:
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Investment properties BEYE 190,024 172,241
Property, plant and equipment I ER Y Y Y 733,508 628,170
Prepaid lease payments BAAERE 248,996 204,200
Bank deposits RITIE 83,532 33,582
Trade receivables B E 5 R 50,475 34,130
Other intangible assets HtmpEE 97,740 75,756
Project under development ZERPIEE 221,385 167,880
Stock of properties MEFE 449,986 663,803
Inventory FE 16,966 -
2,092,612 1,979,762
In addition, the Company’s investment in certain subsidiaries BH AR BRETHEBERAZEEY
of approximately HK$140,614,000 (2010: Nil) and the 140,614,000/ 7T (2010 : &) R AN E BN E TR
Group’s benefits under certain construction contracts were GRZN@EE TER (ERMERERE ZER -
pledged to secure the facilities granted.
54. COMMITMENTS 54. A&
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Expenditure contracted for but not provided MU LA TIER BRI AERR
in the consolidated financial statements REVBBREANBE IR
in respect of acquisition of:
— Property, plant and equipment —WE - W R AE 145,757 33,488
- Project under development —%EFIEE 44,565 63,304
190,322 96,792
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HZE2011F3A31B LFE

55. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

(@)

BALANCES (a) BEEVEHRERHE
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated NEE T H
financial statements, the Group also entered into the 2 -

following significant transactions with certain related

parties during the year:

Class of related party
BEALZE

Nature of transactions
REME

55. BMEATXRGRE

f
B

2011
HK$’000
TET

B MEESN  FA
AEANTAT U TEARR

2010
HK$'000
TET

Associates of the Group
AEE 2 HERT

Jointly controlled entities of the Group
AR B 2 H R I

Subsidiaries of [TC (note a)
EEAEZWB AR (Aita)

Associates of ITC (note b)
=S AN Fz30))

Project management fees charged to the Group
AEEXNEEERE

Project management fees charged by the Group
ARERBIEEERE

Construction works charged to the Group
AEEXNEETIRE

Interest charged to the Group

AEBEZAHE

Service fees charged by the Group
AEERMREE

Service fees charged by the Group
AEERM RS E

Construction works charged by the Group
AEERDRBEETRRE

Service fees charged to the Group
AEEXNRBEE

Interest charged to the Group
AEEZAHE
Rentals charged to the Group
AEEXHESE

Motor vehicles rental charged to the Group
AEELHNEM

Interest charged by the Group
A& BYEH B

Interest charged to the Group
AEEZAHE

Service fees charged by the Group
AEEREB RS E

Service fees charged to the Group
AEESNRBE

Carpark rental fee charged by the Group
AEERMEEZHES

Interest of bonds entitled by the Group
AEEZHEFRZTE

Construction works charged by the Group
AEERBRERIRE

Project and facilities management fees charged
by the Group
AEERBEE REBERE

11,739
123,986
2,627

242

15

76,420

221

360

5,549

54

536

452

58,451

414

6,854

15

38
1,763
360

111

20,421
3,576
229
2,011
60

737

31,402

4,068
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55. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 55. BEALTRZRERR—E
BALANCES - continued @ —#&
(@ - continued
Bt -
Notes:
(a) RBHECERAAAZEERRERUEALNAE
(@) ITC is the substantial shareholder of, and has significant EATE W HERELIAERESYE
influence over, the Company. In addition, Dr Chan Kwok BARARIZ T ERFEHESE o
Keung, Charles is the substantial shareholder and director
of both ITC and the Company. () MREREIUZEEECEZHEAARE
KRB -
(b) Dr Chan Kwok Keung, Charles has significant influence
over these associates of ITC. by EFkafEBREzZME BFNZE22
, , , ZREABE KRB RTSBEMET 18
(b)  The remuneration of directors and senior management, M :
which is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends, is as follows:
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Short-term benefits EEER 44,381 23,503
Post-employment benefits RIRTE R 476 475
Share-based payment expense IR HIEZER 252 (130)
45,109 23,848

pld resmamaa 01eE
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55. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES - continued

(b)

222 P

— continued

55. BEATXREREGH B

) —%&

FARTEERHATEEBARARD 2

Details of the share options for the Company’s shares BT EMT
granted to the directors or outstanding during the year
are set out below:
Exercise Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
price per asat during asat
Name of director ~ Date of grant Exercise period share 1.4.2010 the year 31.3.2011
BRITER
HK$ 11.4.2010 1431.3.2011
BESpE REAH L3 BT KT E FREH R AT
LauKoYuen, Tom  28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 0.43762 18,416,666 = 18,416,666
== 28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 0.52940 18,416,666 = 18,416,666
18.9.2007 18.9.2009 10 17.9.2010 125151 11,050,000 (11,050,000) -
Chan Shu Kin 28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 0.43762 1,841,666 = 1,841,666
R 28.12.2004 28.12.2004 t0 26.8.2012 0.52940 1,841,666 = 1,841,666
Leung Po Wing, 8.9.2006 8.9.2006 to 26.8.2012 0.85762 3,683,334 = 3,683,334
Bowen Joseph
Li Chang An 6.2.2007 6.2.2007 10 26.8.2012 1.05881 3,683,334 = 3,683,334
FEZ
Sub-total /\&t 58,933,332 (11,050,000) 47,883,332

Details of the balances with related companies,

associates and jointly controlled entities at the end of
the reporting period are set out in notes 28, 29, 30, 32,

36, 37, 38, 39 and 40.

C) PYI Corporation Limited 2011 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE2011FIABLFE

56. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY
Financial information of the Company at the end of the

reporting period includes:

56. ADRZMBER

RBEHZER  AREZMBERBRE

2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FAT
Assets BE 3,407,627 3,323,448
Liabilities a&E (1,434,987) (1,276,842)
1,972,640 2,046,606

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXLf#EE
Share capital & s 452,913 452,913
Reserves (Note) & 1& (Hat) 1,519,727 1,593,693
SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS BRES 1,972,640 2,046,606

'
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HZ=E2011F3A31BLFE

56. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 56. ADRZHBEN &

— continued B -
Note:
Share-
Convertible based
Share notes payment Warrants Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
TRk URHXA
kR iaE RERE RERE ARERRE RE R &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TAL T TET ThAL
At 1 April 2009 R2009F4 A 18 439,855 8,482 28,019 12,833 1,113,920 1,603,109
Share issue expenses BIRNHEBR (12,083) - - - - (12,083)
Recognition of equity-settied BAARG X A 50E
share-based payment expense ZER - - 1,337 - - 1,337
Issue of shares on exercise of warrants FEAREREETRG 1,262 - - (68) - 1,194
Issue of shares on subscription R ABE %R G
of rights issue 60,387 - - = = 60,387
Release upon lapse of vested options CEBERELNEER - - (15,240) - 15,240 -
Release upon lapse of warrants ARIEE KW E R - - - (12,765) 12,765 -
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (60,251) (60,251)
At 31 March 2010 R2010%E3A31H 489,421 8,482 14,116 = 1,081,674 1,693,693
Recognition of equity-settied AR X 58
share-based payment expense ZER - - 261 - - 261
Issue of shares on subscription AR A% TG
of rights issue
Release upon lapse of vested options CEBERELNHER - - (4,826) - 4,826 -
Release upon maturity of AR E 5 B 1 8 i
convertible notes - (8,482 - - 8,482 -
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (74,227) (74,227)
At 31 March 2011 ®201153431H 489,421 - 9,551 - 1,020,755 1,519,727
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HZE2011F3A31B LFE

57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES
(@) Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at

31 March 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

57. TEMBLA BMELTRABZFHE

KRR EZNE AR RKR20114 201053 A

STAZFFBHT :

Percentage of issued share capital/

registered capital
BRAREA/EMEAEA L
Place of .
incorporation/ Issued al:‘d fully pté:I‘; held by the
registration/ share capl subsidiaries/ ;
» o %ration registered capital Company* attributable . o
Name of subsidiary P EETR [£20) to the Group Principal activities
R/ &/ BRREx/ BAREAR/
WRARER EEHY aHER ARAEE AEBER TEEH
2010 2011 2010 2011
% % % %
China Earth Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 62.02 61.92 Investment holding
ERBRAT B BT ERRRH REER
Corless Limited British Virgin Islands US$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.02 61.92 Investment holding
EBENHE 2R ERBERG REER
Feeder Port Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$27,840 ordinary shares 94.61 94.61 94.61 94.61 Investment holding
EBRTHS 27,840% T E BRI REER
Glory Well Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary shares 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
EERRAA 0 10,000 7T & B AR £ RERR
Jiangsu Wanhua Real Estate PRC 1S$8,800,000 100 100 100 100 Development, investment
Development Co., Ltd. f registered capital and sale of properties
IHBERMEREERAA (note () below) NEER RERHE
8,800,000% T
A MER(FXHE)
Jiangsu YangKou Port PRC US$136,650,000 60 60 60 60 Port development
Development s registered capital BORE
and Investment Co., Ltd. (note (i) below)
THFOEREREARAA 136,650,0005 7t i i & &
(FXH)
Jiangsu Yangtong Investment PRC 1S$30,000,000 75 75 75 75 Development, investment
and Development Co., Ltd. m registered capital and sale of properties
IEFRREREBRAA (notes (i) and (vi) below) MERRE  LEREE
30,000,000% 7 = fit & A&
(FXH )R v)
Jiaxing Feeder Port Investment PRC HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 94.61 94.61 Ports operation and
Limited H 17 L B AR AR infrastructure investment
EENTEREBRAR BOEERERRE
Jiaxing International Container PRC RMB128,800,000 0 0 85.15 85.15 Port development
Feeder Port Limited s registered capital BO%ER
RENTHARS*EES (note (ii) below)
ARAR AR #128,800,0007
EMER(FXA )
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57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES - continued

57. X EMB LR BE
B —-E
(a)

N

— &

all

1|
2
#
3
i

&/\

(@) - continued
Percentage of issued share capital/
registered capital
BRAREK/EMEAEAL
Place of .
incorporation/ Issued al?d fully ?ta'l‘; held by the
registration/ SEIEEEIE subsidiaries/ ;
- 0 %ration registered capital Company* attributable . s
Name of subsidiary P BRIR pany to the Group Principal activities
HY/ &M/ &8 BRREx/ ARERR/
WRARER bk dmER ARAEE AEBER TEEH
2010 2011 2010 2011
% % % %
Nation Cheer Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1,200,000 100 100 100 100 Securities investment
FEREERAR Bk ordinary shares BHRE
1,200,000% 70 & B AX 17
Paul Y. Building Materials Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.02 61.92 Trading and installation
Company Limited &b 2B T EBRRN of bullding materials
REMHE S RER
Paul Y. Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 100 100 Ports operation and
RESEBRARA BE 2R T ERRAE N infrastructure
investment
BOEERERRE
Paul Y. - Concentric Joint Venture  Hong Kong - 51 51 31.63 31.58 Civil engineering
&5 (note (i) below) TAIR
(Fxhisip)
Paul Y. - CREC(HK) Joint Venture  Hong Kong - 60 60 37.21 37.15 Civil engineering
Eh (note (ii) below) TAIR
(Fxhisip)
Paul Y. (E & M) Contractors Limited Hong Kong HK$20,000,000  99.9998  99.9998 62.02 61.92 Provision of
REABTRERAT E5 ordinary shares electrical,
20,000,000% 75 mechanical and
EERR R building services
REERREERE
Paul Y. Builders Group Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.02 61.92 Investment holding
REREEEERAA B 2B T EBRR REER
HK$1,000,000 - - = -
non-voting
deferred shares
(note (iv) below)
1,000,000 T ER 212
BIERRG (Fxchizzy)
Paul Y. Builders Limited Hong Kong HK$102,000,000 100 100 62.02 61.92 Building construction
REZEERAR B ordinary shares BTER
102,000,000/ 7
LRERRS
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57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED

57. X EMBAT  -B&EAQ
B —-E

ol

1|
2
#
3
i

&/\

ENTITIES - continued @ —&
(@) - continued
Percentage of issued share capital/
registered capital
BRAREK/EMEAEAL
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid held by the
registration/ share capital/ subsidiaries/ attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital Company* to the Group Principal activities
BRTR
HY/#fM/ &8 BrkE/ AREAR,/
WEAREH e HRER ARAEE KEEEE TEEH
2010 2011 2010 2011
% % % %
Paul Y. Construction & Hong Kong HK$42,000,000 100 100 62.02 61.92 Building construction
Engineering Co. Limited EA ordinary shares and specialist works
RERFIRARARF 42,000,000/ 7¢ BTRERZATR
LEBRRS
Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited ~ Bermuda HK$303,477,161 62.02 61.92 62.02 61.92 Investment holding
REEXEEBRAA BRE ordinary shares RALR
308,477,161% T
LERR R
Paul Y. Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 62.02 61.92 Provision of finance
REFBERAA & BT ERRRH fetR g
Paul Y. General Contractors Hong Kong HK$200,000,000 100 100 62.02 61.92 Civil engineering and
Limited EA ordinary shares building construction
RERELERR AT 200,000,000/ 7T TAIRRETRE
ERRRD
Paul Y. Interior Contractors Limited  Hong Kong HK$?2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.02 61.92 Interior decoration works
REXHIRERRA & 2B T EBRR N ERREIR
Paul Y. Management Contracting  British Virgin Islands ~~ US$2,000 ordinary shares 100 100 62.02 61.92 Investment holding
Group Limited RERTHS 2,000 7T & B AX RAZR
RERRTIREEERAA
Paul Y. Plant Hire Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.02 61.92 Hire of motor
REEREEFRAR Bk BT EBRE N vehicles, plant
and machinery
RE - RERERES
Paul Y. Construction Company, Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.02 61.92 Civil engineering, building
Limited BB BT ERRR R construction and
REREFRAA investment holding
TATE  BFRER
REER
HK$50,000,000 - - - -
non-voting
preferred shares
(note (v) below)
50,000,000 7T & 1% R

BRBRB (FX M)
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57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES - continued

(@)

228 P

57. X EMBAT  -B&EAQ
B —-E
(a) —#&

ol

Il
[

&/\

L4
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— continued
Percentage of issued share capital/
registered capital
BRAREK/EMEAEAL
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid held by the
registration/ share capital/ subsidiaries/ attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital Company* to the Group Principal activities
BRTR
HY/#fM/ &8 BrREx/ AREAR,/
WEAREH e HRER ARAEE KEEER TEEH
2010 2011 2010 2011
% % % %
Paul'Y. Construction (Ching) Limited PRC RMB120,000,000 100 100 62.02 61.92 Civil engineering
RERZ (D) ERAR i registered capital and buiding
(note (i) below) construction
AR #120,000,0007C TAIRRETRE
TMER(FXH )
Paul Y. Facilities Management Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.02 61.92 Faciities management
Co., Limited B 2B EBRR D services
REZHERERAR R IEE R R
Paul Y. Foundation Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100 100 62.02 61.92 Investment holding
EBENHE 1ETERERR R RERR
PaulY. Foundation Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 62.02 61.92 Civil engineering and
REWEARATF b ordinary shares foundation works
10,000,000% 7T TARIRRBETR
LERRS
Paul Y. Foundation (Macau) Limited - Macau MOP25,000 100 100 62.02 61.92 Civil engineering and
REWE (AR ERAT % registered capita foundation works
25,000&F T M AR TARIRRMETRE
Paul Y. Management Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.02 61.92 Management and
REEBERAT E 2ETLTRREA secretarial services
ERRWERS
Paul Y. Project Management Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.02 61.92 Project management
International Limited & 2B T ERBRGD services and
REERIRERERAA investment holding
AEEERY
R EHER
PYlInfrastructure Group Limited ~ British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100* 100* 100 100 Investment holding
EERAEE 1ETLBREKR RERR
PY| Management Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 100 100 Management services
REEEERERAR B BT ERRRD ERR%
PYI Min Sheng Investment Limited  Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
REREREERRT B BT ERRRN RERR
'
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57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 57. FENEBAT HELATARAGBEFKE
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED BER-%&
ENTITIES - continued @ —&
(@) - continued
Percentage of issued share capital/
registered capital
BRAREK/EMEAEAL
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid held by the
registration/ share capital/ subsidiaries/ attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital Company* to the Group Principal activities
BRTR
HY/#fM/ &8 BrREx/ AKERR/
WEAREH 1 8 HRER ARAEE REBER TEEH
2010 2011 2010 2011
% % % %
PY! Properties (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
RERE (BR)BRAT i BT ERRRH REER
PYI Xingdong Properties PRC 1S$20,000,000 100 100 100 100 Development, investment
(Jiangsu) Limited # registered capital and sale of properties
RERREZ (TH) BRAR (note () below) NEERE REREE
20,000,000% T & A
(Fxhiz)
PY! Yichang Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 100 100 Ports operation and
REEERERRAR B BT ERRERH infrastructure
investment
BOEERERRE
Unistress Concrete Products (HK,) Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 62.02 61.92 Manufacturing and
Limited & 2B EBRR G trading of concrete
BHRRIEG(EE)BRAT products and property
investment
BRIERUERES
RO%ERE
HK$10,000 100 100 62.02 61.92
non-voting
deferred shares
(note (iv) below)
10,0008 TERZRET
W& (T xchizz)
Yangtze Feeder Port Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 94.61 94.61 Investment holding
REARAEERATF 0 BT ERRER R RERR
Yichang Port Group Limited PRC RMB162,890,000 51 51 51 51 Port operation
HEABEREEFREERH i registered capital OB
(note (i) below)
AR #162,890,0007T
EMER(FXH )
HERERERILRERAT PRC US$41,000,000 100 100 100 100 LPG distribution
EF registered capital and logistics
note () below) RACRRRESE R
41,000,000% T & A
(FXHE)
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57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES - continued

57. FENMBRLAR K2 AARAREHKE
(@) —#&

(@ - continued
Percentage of issued share capital/
registered capital
BRAREK/EMEAEAL
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid held by the
registration/ share capital/ subsidiaries/ attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital Company* to the Group Principal activities
BRTR
HY/#f/ &8 BrREx/ AKERR/
WEAREH 1 8 aHER ARAEE REBER TEEH
2010 2011 2010 2011
% % % %
B RERREERITER PRC US$4,300,000 100 100 100 100 LPG technical
BRAR i registered capital development
(note () below) RACE R R TR R
4,300,000 L # AR
(Fxhiz)
MIEBELERAR PRC RMB30,000,000 100 100 81.01 80.96 Investment holding
i registered capital RAZR
(note () below)
A& %30,000,0007
HMER
(FXHR)
MM EERBREER AR PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 8101 8096 Property holding
m registered capital EENE
(note () below)
A& %10,000,0007
FMER(FXH )

* The company is directly held by the Company.

All of the above subsidiaries are limited companies
except Paul Y. — Concentric Joint Venture and Paul .
— CREC(HK) Joint Venture which are unincorporated
bodies. Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited is listed in

Hong Kong.
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57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES - continued

(@) - continued
Notes:
(i) Being the wholly-foreign-owned-enterprises.
(ii) Being the sino-foreign equity joint ventures.

(i) There is no issued share capital/registered capital for the
joint ventures as they are unincorporated bodies.

(iv)  The holders of the non-voting deferred shares are not
entitled to vote, are not entitled to any dividends for any
financial year and are, on winding up or otherwise, only
entitled out of the surplus assets of the company to a return
of the capital after a total sum of HK$100,000,000,000,000
has been distributed to the holders of the ordinary shares
of the company.

(v The holders of the non-voting preferred shares are not
entitled to vote, are not entitled to any dividends unless the
net profits of the company available for dividend exceed
HK$100,000,000,000 in which case they should be entitled
to a fixed non-cumulative dividend at the rate of 5% per
annum for any financial year and are, on winding up, only
entitled out of the surplus assets of the company to a return
of the capital after a total sum of HK$10,000,000,000 has
been distributed to the holders of the ordinary shares of the
company.

(v Asat 31 March 2011, the registered capital of Jiangsu
Yangtong Investment and Development Co., Ltd., is paid
up to US$16,677,730. The registered capital of all other
principal subsidiaries registered in the PRC are fully paid up
as at 31 March 2011.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZE2011F3A31B LFE

57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 57 TEMBAR HEQXARAFEZEFHKIE

ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED BER-E
ENTITIES - continued b) ARAMEBEZEEHERAAR011FR
(o) Particulars of the Company’s principal associates 2010 3A31B ZFHBWT ¢

indirectly held by the Company at 31 March 2011 and
2010 are as follows:

Issued and Percentage of
fully paid issued share
Place of share capital/  capital/registered
incorporation/ registered  capital attributable
Name of associate registration capital to the Group Principal activities
ERTRARE AKEEGERTRE/
BEAR LR R/ B B R/ MER ZMEXE DL TEER
2010 2011
% %

CSCEC - Paul Y. Construction PRC US$10,000,000 19.4 19.4 Civil engineering
Company Limited H registered capital and building

FEGREREFREMTARRA (notes (a) and (b) construction

below) TAIBREFEE
10,000,000 7T
FEA
(FX K@) K b)

GTECH - Paul Y. Joint Venture Hong Kong - - 31 Provision of electrical

BB (note (c) below) and mechanical
(FXHtztc) services
RESHEE

Jiangyin Sunan International PRC RMB400,000,000 25 40 Port operation
Container Terminal Co., Ltd. H registered capital BB

IR HEBEREERBREERAA (note (a) below)

AR #400,000,0007C
&R
(FXHiit(a)
Nantong Port Group Limited PRC RMB966,004,400 45 45 Port operation
HEEOEEARAA H registered capital BOEE
(note (a) below)
AR #966,004,4007C
TEA
(FXHiit(a)

Zhong Yu - Paul Y. Project PRC US$500,000 24.8 24.8 Project management
Management Company H registered capital and consultancy
Limited (note (a) below) services

ITRPFRETIZEEER 500,000 7T BB BB RFEARS
BRRA FE A

(FXHiit(a)
All of the above associates are held by the Company LR BEHERARYBRARREERE -

indirectly.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31BLFE

57. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES - continued

(b)

— continued

Notes:

company.

The company is a sino-foreign equity joint venture

a 61.92% held subsidiary of the Group.

57. TEMBLA BMELTRABEFHE

b) —#&
Brat -

PYE indirectly held 31.33% interest of the company, PYE is
There is no issued share capital for the joint venture as it is
an unincorporated body.

Particulars of the Company’s principal jointly controlled
entities at 31 March 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

(@ BRARRTIEEALRA -

(b) RERXMEEIFEZAAF31.33%Enm
REZEAAEEHITEC1.02%EEZ
MEQA -

© HRELELEIIZEHEARRE RITED
BT -

(©) ARFEEHRFEGIEER20114 K20105F
BABIAZFHBMT
Percentage of
Issued and issued share
Place of fully paid capital attributable
Name of jointly controlled entity incorporation share capital to the Group Principal activities
EETR KEBMERL
HEEHEERE = 7 AR 3L ith 26 BERE CRTREAEIE FEXEK
2010 2011
% %
Laing O’Rourke-Hsin Chong — Hong Kong = = 13.9 Civil engineering
Paul Y. Joint Venture B (notes (a) and (b) TARITRE
below)
(FX Mt it (@) R b))
Paul Y. — Penta-Ocean Joint Hong Kong - 31 31 Civil engineering
Venture BB (notes (a) and (c) TARITHE

below)
(FxXHtiE@) k()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HZ=E2011F3A31BLFE

57.

58.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES - continued

(c) - continued

Notes:

(@) There is no issued share capital for the joint venture as it is
an unincorporated body.

(b) PYE indirectly held 22.5% interest of the company, PYE is a
61.92% held subsidiary of the Group.

(c) PYE indirectly held 50% interest of the company, PYE is a
61.92% held subsidiary of the Group.

The above tables list the subsidiaries, associates and jointly-
controlled entities of the Company which, in the opinion of
the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries, associates and jointly-
controlled entities would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 31 January 2011, the Group entered into a conditional
agreement to dispose of 50.1% of its equity interest in
Yangkou Port Co, a 60% owned subsidiary of the Company
engaged in the business of development in port and related
infrastructures, to a shareholder of Yangkou Port Co at a
consideration of approximately RMB1,507 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,790 million).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group
received net cash amount of approximately RMB647 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$768 million, being 50% of
the consideration of approximately RMB753.5 million after
deduction of PRC tax and levy in the sum of approximately
RMB106.5 million) and the disposal was completed on 26
May 2011. Consequently, Yangkou Port Co ceased to be

a subsidiary of the Company and its financial result will be
deconsolidated from the Group. The remaining balance of
the consideration will be received within three years from
the end of reporting period. Details of the transaction are
included in the circular of the Company dated 25 February
2011 and announcements of the Company dated 1 February
2011 and 1 June 2011.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MBHE

For the year ended 31 March

B Z3ASIALEE
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FTERT
RESULTS ES
Turnover g 4,643,712 5,502,543 4,835,905 4,260,421 5,357,200
Profit before taxation 3 A7 %5 ) 326,595 833,297 577,295 402,484 466,040
Taxation fRiE 50,552 (815,186) (327,784) (165,764) (166,852)
Profit for the year FER 377,147 518,111 249,511 236,720 299,188
Attributable to: FEAG
Owners of the Company RABHEE A 345,665 359,982 138,794 149,298 200,104
Non-controlling interests JEVERR RE S 31,482 158,129 110,717 87,422 99,084
377,147 518,111 249,511 236,720 299,188
At 31 March
MW3H31H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHT FHT FHT THET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAEE
Total assets BB E 7,621,447 10,361,473 12,315,942 14,041,000 14,894,955
Total liabilities waE (4,372,598) (6,252,163) (7,767,925) (8,383,510) (8,569,395)
3,248,849 4,109,310 4,548,017 5,657,490 6,325,560
EQUITY EE
Equity attributable to owners RRFHEB A
of the Company FE1E 2 2,771,862 3,377,085 3,646,596 4,129,679 4,500,613
Non-controlling interests Elaliier £ 476,997 732,225 901,421 1,527,811 1,824,947
3,248,849 4,109,310 4,548,017 5,657,490 6,325,560
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location
nNE

5.22 sg km formed land located at
the north of Changsha Town,
Rudong County, Nantong City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
REIEHERBT

MRS RDEL

522FFRE

BT

1.07 sq km land being formed
located at the north of Changsha
Town, Rudong Country,
Nantong City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC (Note)

HENIAERET

MR G R DAL

1.07F A RE

AR i (A1)

REME
Existing use Lease term Group interest
RERZ HHE AEBEREER

Undetermined use Leasehold with 60%
i AR TE R medium term
REFRERE

Undetermined use Leasehold with 60%
M AR E Aig medium term
RHEERE

Note: The development of the property is in progress and the anticipated WaF: ZWmEEERT BHTIABA201243A318 3%

completion date is on or before 31 March 2012.

ZH e
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES
E=E-37E =31

STOCK OF PROPERTIES

Location
NE

0.99 sq km formed land of the
Sun Island located at the north of
Changsha Town, Rudong County,
Nantong City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC

REI#EEET
MESHRDVEUILKEGSE

099 FH R E

[ - b

Nantong International Trade Center with
gross floor area of some 80,000 sg m
88 Chongchuan Road, Nantong City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
HEDTARERAT

)11 358855%

EEERE S0

#2252 T FE £980,000F 75 K

Existing use
RIEAR

Held for sale
BIERE

Held for sale
FERE

NEEFE

Lease term
bizR-

Leasehold with
medium term
FHHEERE

Leasehold with
medium term
FREERS

Group interest
AEBFRLER

60% to 75%
60%Z75%

100%
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNREH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ost, Jp

Deputy Chairman and Managing Director
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom

Non-Executive Directors

Chan Kwok Keung, Charles
Chan Yiu Lun, Alan (Alternate to Chan Kwok Keung, Charles)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Chan Shu Kin

Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph ass, Jp
Li Chang An

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Chan Shu Kin (Chairman)

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ogt, Jp
Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph aas, up

Remuneration Committee

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ost, up (Chairman)
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom

Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph eas, up

Nomination Committee

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ozt up (Chairman)

Lau Ko Yuen, Tom

Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Chan Kwok Keung, Charles (Alternate to Lau Ko Yuen, Tom)
Chan Shu Kin (Alternate to Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest)

Compliance Committee

Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ost, up (Chairman)
Kwok Shiu Keung, Ernest

Chan Shu Kin

Ko Hiu Fung

Share Repurchase Committee

Chan Shu Kin (Chairman)
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph ose, up (Alternate to Chan Shu Kin)
Lau Ko Yuen, Tom
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEHR

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ko Hiu Fung

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Lau Ko Yuen, Tom
Ko Hiu Fung
Wong Yiu Hung
(Alternate to Lau Ko Yuen, Tom and Ko Hiu Fung)

AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Bank of Jiangsu

BNP Paribas

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd.

CITIC Bank International Limited

DBS Bank Limited

Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Guangdong Development Bank Co., Ltd.

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Hankou Bank Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
The Bank of East Asia Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Wing Hang Bank, Limited

Wing Lung Bank Limited

LEGAL ADVISERS

Conyers Dill & Pearman (Bermuda)

DLA Piper Hong Kong (Hong Kong)

JC Master Law Offices (PRC)

Richards Butler (Hong Kong)

Vincent T.K. Cheung, Yap & Co. (Hong Kong)

FINANCIAL ADVISERS

Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance, Limited

KPMG Corporate Finance Limited
PricewaterhouseCoopers Consultants (Shenzhen) Limited
PricewaterhouseCoopers Corporate Finance Limited
Somerley Limited
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEHR

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES ADMINISTRATORS

BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited
(Share Award Scheme — Trustee)
BOCI Securities Limited
(Share Financing Plan — Custodian;
Share Option Scheme — Administrator)

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
33/F, Paul Y. Centre

51 Hung To Road

Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Tel:  +852 2831 8328

Fax: +852 2372 0641

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited

Rosebank Centre

11 Bermudiana Road

Pembroke HM 08

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited

26/F, Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

WWW.PYiCOorp.com

STOCK CODE

Hong Kong Stock Exchange
American Depository Receipt
Frankfurt Stock Exchange
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